
 

 
 

Jackie Yates 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
Civic Offices, Bridge Street, 
Reading RG1 2LU 
 0118 937 3787 
 

 

 
CIVIC OFFICES EMERGENCY EVACUATION: If an alarm sounds, leave by the nearest fire exit quickly and calmly 
and assemble on the corner of Bridge Street and Fobney Street.  You will be advised when it is safe to re-enter 
the building. 

www.reading.gov.uk | www.facebook.com/ReadingCouncil | www.twitter.com/ReadingCouncil 
   

To: Councillor Mpofu-Coles (Chair) 
Councillors Gavin, Ballsdon, Cresswell, 
Davies, C Dennis, Ennis, Hoskin, Keane, 
Khan, Kitchingham, McEwan, O'Connell, 
Robinson and Sultan 
 
 

 Our Ref:  
Your Ref:  
 
Direct:  0118 937 2332 
e-mail: 0118 9372432 
 
10 January 2023 

 
Your contact is: Jemma Durkan - Committee Services 
 
NOTICE OF MEETING - ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION 
COMMITTEE 18 JANUARY 2023 
 
A meeting of the Adult Social Care, Children's Services and Education Committee will be held 
on Wednesday, 18 January 2023 at 6.30 pm in the Council Chambers, Civic Offices, 
Reading. The Agenda for the meeting is set out below. 
 
 
AGENDA Page No 
  
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

 Councillors to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests they may 
have in relation to the items for consideration. 
 

 

 
2. MINUTES 
 

5 - 12 
 
3. MINUTES OF OTHER BODIES 
 

13 - 26 

 Health and Wellbeing Board – 7 October 2022 
 

 
 
4. PETITIONS 
 

 

 Petitions submitted pursuant to Standing Order 36 in relation to 
matters falling within the Committee’s Powers & Duties which have 
been received by Head of Legal & Democratic Services no later than 
four clear working days before the meeting. 
 

 

 
5. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND COUNCILLORS 
 

 



 Questions submitted pursuant to Standing Order 36 in relation to 
matters falling within the Committee’s Powers & Duties which have 
been submitted in writing and received by the Head of Legal & 
Democratic Services no later than four clear working days before the 
meeting. 
 

 

 
6. DECISION BOOK REFERENCES 
 

 

 To consider any requests received by the Monitoring Officer pursuant to 
Standing Order 42, for consideration of matters falling within the 
Committee’s Powers & Duties which have been the subject of Decision 
Book reports. 
 

 

 
7. NHS UPDATE - URGENT AND EMERGENCY CARE - BUCKINGHAMSHIRE, 

OXFORDSHIRE AND BERKSHIRE WEST INTEGRATED CARE BOARD (BOB) 
 

 

 The Committee will received an update on Urgent and Emergency Care 
from Sarah Webster, Executive Director for Berkshire West Place, ICB. 
 

 

 
8. SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY 
 

27 - 72 

 A report inviting the Committee to determine: 
  

         The admissions arrangements for Community Primary Schools in 
Reading for the school year 2024/25. 

         The coordinated scheme for primary and junior schools for the 
2024/25 school year. 

         The coordinated scheme for secondary schools for the 2024/25 
school year.  

         The Relevant Area 2024. 
          Maps of the Primary catchment areas. 

 

 

 
9. AUTISM STRATEGY AND ACTION PLAN 
 

73 - 126 

 A report informing the Committee of the outcome of the public 
consultation on Reading’s All Age Autism Strategy 2022 – 2026 and to 
implement the strategy and action plan across Reading. 
 

 

 
10. STRIVING FOR EXCELLENCE - PREPARATION FOR ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

ASSURANCE 
 

 

 The Committee will receive a presentation providing information on 
the preparation for the Adult Social Care Assurance inspection.   
 

 

 
11. BERKS WEST SAB (SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD) ANNUAL REPORT 

2021/22 
 

127 - 152 

 A report providing information on the Berkshire West Safeguarding 
Partnership Board Annual report.  
 

 

 



 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 
Please note that this meeting may be filmed for live and/or subsequent broadcast via the Council's 
website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
filmed. You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act. 
Data collected during a webcast will be retained in accordance with the Council’s published policy. 
 
Members of the public seated in the public gallery will not ordinarily be filmed by the automated 
camera system. However, please be aware that by moving forward of the pillar, or in the unlikely 
event of a technical malfunction or other unforeseen circumstances, your image may be captured.  
Therefore, by entering the meeting room, you are consenting to being filmed and to the 
possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. 
 
Members of the public who participate in the meeting will be able to speak at an on-camera or off-
camera microphone, according to their preference. 

Please speak to a member of staff if you have any queries or concerns. 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES – 19 OCTOBER 2022 

 

 
1 
 

Present: Councillors Mpofu-Coles (Chair), Ballsdon, Cresswell, Davies, C 
Dennis, Ennis, Gavin, Hoskin, Keane, Khan, Kitchingham, McEwan, 
O’Connell. 
 

Apologies: Councillor Robinson and Sultan. 

1. MINUTES 
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 13 July 2022 were confirmed as a correct record and 
signed by the Chair. 
 
2. MINUTES OF OTHER BODIES 
 
The minutes of the following meetings were submitted: 
 

• Health and Wellbeing Board – 18 March 2022 and 15 July 2022. 

3. QUESTIONS 
 
A question on the following matter was submitted by Councillor Cresswell. 
 
Question Subject Reply 

 
Councillor  
Cresswell 

Children’s Services Finances Councillor Hoskin 
 

Councillor 
Cresswell 

Ringfencing Apprenticeships for Care Leavers Councillor Hoskin 

 
The full text of the questions and replies were made available on the Reading Borough 
Council website. 

4. URGENT CARE CENTRE IN READING 
 
Sarah Webster, Executive Director for Berkshire West Place, ICB and Helen Clark, Associate 
Director of Primary Care, Berkshire West, ICB provided a presentation and update on the 
Urgent Care Centre in Reading pilot scheme.  The main points included: 
 

• There had been an increase and high demand for urgent care services including help 
for minor illnesses, 111 referrals and for out of hours GP.  This showed a demand for 
a service to meet the needs for urgent care activity. 

• Prior to the Covid-19 pandemic the Reading Walk-in Centre saw around 100 patients 
per day and the Centre was only able to access patients Summary Care Record; 
patients had to go back to their practice for ongoing care, onward referrals etc. 

• During the pandemic the Walk-In service had been suspended to accommodate the 
Covid-19 Respiratory Hub.  From April to July 2020 a registered list ran from Milman 
Road Surgery, after that period the two services operated alongside each other. 

• The Walk-In Centre was currently suspended with focus on encouraging patients to 
access care from their own GP practice.  During Winter 2021-22 there had been an 
additional number of appointments commissioned across Berkshire West practices 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES – 19 OCTOBER 2022 

 

 
2 
 

with two overflow hubs in Reading. There had been no national funding for 
additional capacity this Winter. 

• A pilot scheme for an Urgent Care Centre based in central Reading for minor illnesses 
would be commissioned from November 2022 to run for 18 months.  This would then 
be reviewed for consideration of a long-term model to be delivered locally. 

• The pilot scheme would have the capacity for 100 patients a day with 50 walk-ins 
and 50 referred from Emergency Departments. 

• The previous Walk-In Centre would remain suspended.  
• The registered list element would be re-procured over the next six months and would 

be dealt with separately. 
• Improvements to other areas included monitoring data, working with Healthwatch 

to gather information, working with PCNs, increasing referrals to the Community 
Pharmacy Consultation Service, completing a telephony roll-out, winter messaging, 
revised delivery service for Enhanced Access, registration campaign for young males, 
peer support to improve access and a digital literacy programme to support online 
access and the NHS App. 

 
In response to questions, points made included: 
 

• Work was being undertaken with the planning department to consider population 
growth and the needs for GP provision across Reading.  Updated data had been 
received and plans were being updated to consider future need.  

• Consideration would be given to working with social care and the needs of the 
service to support patients.   

• Partnership and joint working with Adult Social Care and Health was being 
undertaken. The scheme would provide learning and future ways of working 
together. It was agreed that an update be provided to the Committee once the 
Urgent Care Centre was up and running to provide information on the service and 
how it linked with partners and how social care was working.  

• The Service would make links and referrals for patients with mental health issues as 
appropriate.   

• Referrals from the NHS 111 service was not part of the pilot but would be considered 
in the future.  

• There was a commitment to ensure health and equalities to avoid digital exclusion.  
Literacy programmes and hubs to access support with computers to access services 
would be provided.  Anyone accessing the Urgent Care Service for on the day care 
would receive support.  Information would be provided to people about the service 
and support would be provided to register with a GP practice.  

 
The Chair thanked Sarah and Helen for the presentation. 

Resolved –  That a future update be provided to the Committee on the Urgent Care 
Service. 

5. READING COMMUNITY VACCINE CHAMPIONS PROGRAMME 2022/23 - UPDATE 

The Executive Director of Social Care and Health submitted a report on the Reading 
Community Vaccine Champions (CVC) Programme.   

Page 6



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES – 19 OCTOBER 2022 

 

 
3 
 

Reading Borough Council had received £485,000 from the Department of Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities (DLUHC) to run the CVC programme to improve the uptake of the 
COVID 19 and flu vaccination particularly focussing on myths and difficulties around the 
understanding of vaccinations.   

Phase 1 of the CVC programme had ended on 31 July 2022.  Key achievements had included: 

• Effective use of data analysis to support a structured approach in working with local 
partners and communities to deliver engagement and community vaccination 
activities.  

• Engagement with local key influencers to enable a targeted approach to engage with 
communities.  

• 32 vaccine champions had been recruited with 27 trained. 
• Successful award of local community grants to develop interventions to increase 

vaccine uptake. 
• Working with key partners to deliver programme outputs and outcomes. 
• Reducing health inequalities. 
• A marked increase in vaccination update within the targeted hard-to-reach 

community groups.  

Phase 2 of the CVC programme had focussed on improving the vaccine uptake.  Work 
undertaken to date had included: 

• Formal approval from the DLUHC to extend the programme end date. 
• Formal approval obtained from Reading Borough Council to extend the programme. 
• Proposed activities submitted by Voluntary, Community Services (VCS) organisations. 
• Delivery plan and costings produced with co-production of the VCS organisations and 

health partners. 
 
The Committee recognised the work that had taken place and thanked volunteers who had 
been involved.  It was noted that terminology in the report was used nationally however, 
this would be reconsidered to ensure equality. Wards targeted were dependent on data 
collected as this showed areas where people were hesitant in receiving vaccines, and work 
was being undertaken in relation to the data.  The 50 plus age group were mainly targeted 
and if children were eligible then parents would be targeted rather than children directly. 

Resolved –  

(1) That the good progress and outcomes achieved to date on the Community 
Vaccine Champions Programme be recognised and acknowledged; 
 

(2) That the Phase 2 delivery of the CVC programme be supported; 
 
(3) That the deployment of infrastructure, capacity and capabilities 

established to date for the planning and delivery of other public health 
and Vaccination programmes (e.g., Seasonal Influenza and Autumn COVID 
19 Booster Programmes), be endorsed. 

Page 7



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES – 19 OCTOBER 2022 

 

 
4 
 

6.  READING SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD (SAB) ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 

The Executive Director of Social Care and Health submitted a report which would form the 
Council’s submission to the Berkshire West Annual Report 2021/22. 

Jo Lappin, Assistant Director for Safeguarding, Quality, Performance and Practice 
explained that Reading Borough Council was the host and lead organisation for the strategic 
partnership arrangement between Reading, West Berkshire and Wokingham.  From July 
2022 the Contact Centre was the single point of contact for receiving safeguarding concerns 
from partner agencies which were then signposted to the most appropriate team.  

It was noted that there had been a significant increase in safeguarding concerns raised and 
work was continuing on prevention.  The Safeguarding Annual Report Delivery Plan was 
attached at Appendix 1 to provide information on the areas of focus. 

A summary of the Council’s Safeguarding Performance Data was set out in the report and 
included the following: 

• The number of safeguarding concerns had risen significantly from 1589 in 1920/21 
to 2989 in 2021/22; 
 

• Concerns which converted into a safeguarding enquiry had fallen to 13%, compared 
with 31% in the previous year.  It was noted the national average was 33.9% 
 

• A higher number of out-of-scope concerns had been received from the Police and 
South-Central Ambulance Service. 
 

• Neglect and Acts of Omission had risen by 2.9% (abuse type in 39.9% of cases). 
 

• There had been a slight increase in ‘Self Neglect’ cases (up 1.3%). 

The Committee discussed the report, and it was noted that there had been an increase in 
safeguarding concerns with older and more vulnerable people who were open to neglect, 
abuse and manipulation. The aim would be to create a culture of reporting so that every 
resident in Reading could feel confident to report safeguarding issues and get a positive 
outcome.  It was noted that the Contact Centre was now the single point of contact for 
receiving safeguarding concerns from partner agencies.  Feedback and support were 
provided to partners to help with decision making.   

There had been an increase in reporting with the majority from the ambulance service and 
police.  Work was being undertaken with these agencies on out-of-scope concerns and to 
support partners with referrals.  

Regarding the drop in the number of concerns converted into a safeguarding enquiry, it 
was noted that this could be due to several factors including the impact of Covid.  This 
percentage was expected to increase and would allow resources to be used more 
effectively.  

Page 8



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES – 19 OCTOBER 2022 

 

 
5 
 

It was reported that the hoarding and self-neglect project had been very successful. There 
had been good multiagency working and additional funding was currently being investigated 
to continue the prevention work.  

The Principal Social Worker was now in role and supporting the team with safeguarding 
practices, decision making and operating processes. 

To better understand inequalities work would be carried out to contact groups and partners 
in the black, Asian and minority ethnic communities to raise awareness. This would include 
continued work with the NHS and specifically GPs to help understanding and highlight how 
to prioritise issues.  

Resolved –  That the report be noted as the Council’s contribution to the Berkshire 
West Safeguarding Board Annual Report. 

7. ADULT SOCIAL CARE COMPLAINTS REPORT 

The Executive Director of Social Care and Health submitted a report providing an overview 
of complaints and compliments activity and performance for Adult Social Care for the 
period from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022.  A summary of Adult Social Care Complaints and 
Compliments 2021/22 was attached to the report at Appendix A. 

The report stated that over the period from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 the service had 
received 20 corporate complaints, which was a 17.6% increase compared to the 17 that had 
been received in 2020/21, and 93 statutory complaints, which was a 31% increase compared 
to the 71 that had been received in 2020/21.  Of the complaints 18 had progressed to 
formal investigated and 66.7% had been responded to within timescales.  

The main themes for the period 2021/22 for both corporate and statutory complaints were 
as follows: 

• Quality of Service Provided 
• Financial Issues 
• Staff Conduct 
• Communication 

Between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022, the Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman 
(LGSCO) had received sevne representations; which was two more than the previous year.  
Of the cases three had been investigated and upheld, two cases were referred back to the 
Council, and two had been assessed and not investigated. The LGSCO did not issue any 
findings of maladministration by the Council. 

Also 10 compliments had been received by the Adult Social Care Teams: 

Community Reablement Team – 1 
Hospital Discharge Team – 1 
Locality Team – 6 
Safeguarding – 1 
Short Term Team - 1 

Page 9



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES – 19 OCTOBER 2022 

 

 
6 
 

It was noted that the report was open, transparent, easy to access and interpret.  

Complaints were recorded as no outcome when there was no evidence to substantiate a 
complaint.  However, all complaints were reviewed by a director and learning would be 
actioned and improvements made, for all complaints including those recorded as no 
outcome, if necessary.  

All complaints were reviewed by officers through a quality assurance board.  It was noted 
that many complaints resulted from a lack of communication.  Improvement was then 
embedded into the service following learning from complaints.  Also, service users were 
randomly contacted to request feedback so that improvements could be made where 
necessary. Information on external providers was also collated and the commissioning team 
contacted to provide a quality assurance regime.  Compliments collation was also important 
so that learning from good areas of work could be understood and staff praised for their 
good work.  

It was noted that all managers spent time with the Customer Relations team, this was part 
of the staff induction process and staff were supported to understand processes.  

Resolved –    That the report be noted. 

8. CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE COMPLAINTS REPORT 
 
The Executive Director of Children’s Services – Education, Early Help and Social Care, 
Brighter Futures for Children, submitted a report providing an overview of complaints and 
compliments activity and performance for Children’s Social Care for the period from 1 April 
2021 to 31 March 2022.  A summary of Children’s Social Care Complaints and Compliments 
2020/21 was attached to the report at Appendix A. Nayana George, Customer Relations 
and Information Governance Officer, provided an overview to the Committee. 
 
The report stated that over the period from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 the service had 
received 65 statutory complaints, which was a 7.14% decrease compared to the 70 that had 
been received in 2020/21.  Of the 65 complaints received, 9 had been resolved through 
alternative dispute resolution (ADR) by the social care teams.  The remaining 56 had 
progressed to a formal investigation, although six of these had been subsequently 
withdrawn by the complainant once the investigation had commenced. The top complaint 
themes were quality of service, staff conduct and complaints around various procedures.  
The Customer Relations Team and BFfC’s Communications, Marking and HR teams 
continually work with Brighter Futures for Children staff to raise awareness of the 
complaints process with staff and the public.  
 
Between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022, the Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman 
(LGSCO) had received 16 representations; which was an increase of 11 from the previous 
year.  Of the cases four had been investigated and upheld, one case was not upheld and 
six cases were had been referred back to BFfC.  The remaining six cases were not within 
the LGSCOs jurisdiction to investigate or were closed after the initial assessment. 
 
The LGSCO did not issue any findings of maladministration by BFfC.  
 
During the same period a total of 64 compliments had also been received. 

Page 10



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES – 19 OCTOBER 2022 

 

 
7 
 

 
It was reported that some data around ethnicity was difficult to capture as not all service 
users wanted to disclose their ethnicity.  Options would be explored if this could be made 
mandatory on the web form.  Some complaints were submitted via email or letter and 
options would also be explored for these methods.   
 
The Executive Director for Children’s Services explained that he would be writing 
personally to families who have submitted a complaint to follow up and receive further 
feedback and learning. A proactive approach would be undertaken and reporting next year 
would include data on ethnicity and the culture of complaints. There would also be further 
engagement work with fathers to provide deeper learning of issues.  It was noted that there 
had been good support from the Customer Relations teams to help provide a better level 
of understanding of background issues and needs. 
 
Resolved –  That the contents of the report and intended actions to further improve 

the management of representations, particularly complaints, in children’s 
services in Reading be noted. 

9. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

Resolved - 

That pursuant to Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended), 
members of the press and public be excluded during consideration of item 20 
below as it was likely that there would be a disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 specified in Part 1 of Schedule 12A to that Act. 

10. ADULT SOCIAL CARE RESIDENTIAL DEMENTIA PROCUREMENT 

The Executive Director of Social Care and Health submitted a report that explored and 
made recommendations regarding a procurement process for a Residential Dementia Block 
Contract. 

Resolved -  

(1) That the recommendation to procure Residential Dementia block beds for 
the recommended period and predicted maximum annual costs to the 
Council as outlined in the report be accepted. 

(2) That the Executive Director for Adult Social Care and Health Services in 
consultation with the Lead Councillor for Adult Social Care be granted 
authority to: 

• Procure and enter into a contract with the successful tenderer(s) for 
the support/care services to be provided. 

• Negotiate with the successful tenderer(s) to mobilise the contract, vary 
the contract, extend the contract at the appropriate time and 
otherwise contract manage the contract throughout its lifecycle within 
the lifetime financial envelope as stated in the report. 

Page 11



ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES – 19 OCTOBER 2022 

 

 
8 
 

11. SUFFICENCY OF CHILDCARE PLACEMENTS 

The Executive Director of Children’s Services – Education, Early Help and Social Care, 
Brighter Futures for Children submitted a report on the sufficiency of placements for 
children and young people. 

Resolved – That the information in the report and the steps being taken by Brighter 
Futures for Children Ltd to improve the sufficiency of placements for 
children and young people be noted. 

 

(The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm and closed at 8.38pm). 

Page 12



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 7 OCTOBER 2022 

Present:  

Councillor Ruth McEwan 
(Chair) 

Lead Councillor for Education and Public Health, Reading 
Borough Council (RBC) 

Tehmeena Ajmal Chief Operating Officer, Berkshire Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust (BHFT) 

Councillor Jason Brock Leader of the Council, RBC 
Andy Ciecierski  
(Vice-Chair) 

Clinical Director for Caversham Primary Care Network 

Brian Grady Interim Executive Director of Children’s Services (& 
Director of Education), Brighter Futures for Children 
(BFfC) 

Councillor Graeme Hoskin Lead Councillor for Children, RBC 
Alice Kunjappy-Clifton Healthwatch Reading (Substituting for Sarah Deason) 
Rachel Spencer  Chief Executive, Reading Voluntary Action  
Belinda Seston  Interim Director of Place Partnerships, Buckinghamshire, 

Oxfordshire and Berkshire West Integrated Care Board 
(BOB ICB) 

Martin White Consultant in Public Health, RBC 
Melissa Wise Deputy Director for Commissioning & Transformation, 

RBC 
Also in attendance:  

Helen Clark Associate Director of Primary Care, BOB ICB 
Pauline Hamilton Reading Families Forum 
Jo Lappin Assistant Director for Safeguarding, Quality, Performance 

& Practice, RBC 
Catherine Mountford Director of Governance, BOB ICB 
Gail Muirhead Prevention Manager, Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue 

Service (RBFRS) 
Bev Nicholson Integration Programme Manager, RBC 
Jo Reeves  Newbury Locality Manager, BOB ICB 
Miranda Walcott Designated Clinical Officer for Special Educational 

Needs and Disabilities (0-25), BOB ICB 
  
Apologies:  

Tracy Daszkiewicz Director of Public Health for Berkshire West 
Sarah Deason Healthwatch Reading 
Cllr Collette Dennis RBC 
Seona Douglas Director of Adult Care & Health Services, RBC 
Cllr John Ennis  Lead Councillor for Adult Social Care, RBC 
Paul Illman  Royal Berkshire Fire & Rescue Service 
Caroline Lynch  Trust Secretary & Data Protection Officer, Royal 

Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust (RBFT) 
Eiliis McCarthy Reading Locality Manager, BOB ICB 
Amanda Nyeke Public Health and Wellbeing Manager, RBC 
Steve Raffield  LPA Commander for Reading, Thames Valley Police 
Eamonn Sullivan Chief Nurse, RBFT 
Sarah Webster Executive Director for Berkshire West ICB 
  

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 7 OCTOBER 2022 

18. MINUTES  

The Minutes of the meeting held on 15 July 2022 were confirmed as a correct record 
and signed by the Chair. 

19. COVID-19 AND INFLUENZA - UPDATES 

a) Covid-19 Data Update  

Martin White gave a presentation on the latest Covid-19 data. The presentation slides 
had been included in the agenda papers, but it was noted that the statistics had 
changed since collation and publication. The presentation provided statistics, including 
national, regional and sub-regional figures, for the number of infections, hospital 
admissions and Intensive Care Unit (ICU)/High Dependency Unit (HDU) admissions. It 
was noted that the number of Covid infections in Reading had increased to 1.4% of the 
population in the week ending 14 September 2022. The number of new admissions with 
Covid-19 at the Royal Berkshire Hospital had also increased in the week ending 14 
September 2022. These increases were in line with regional and national trends.  

The presentation also provided an update on the level of three dose vaccination 
coverage within Reading. It was noted that there was a high level of three dose uptake 
amongst older age groups with a lower level of uptake in younger age cohorts. The 
presentation also provided vaccination coverage data broken down by geographic area 
(Lower Level Super Output Area level) with areas in Kategrove, Church and Whitley 
wards highlighted as having lower levels of three dose vaccination coverage. The 
presentation concluded by giving uptake statistics for the Autumn booster vaccination 
programme which was being targeted at over 65s. It was noted that the Autumn Covid-
19 booster would be offered alongside the annual flu vaccine to older and vulnerable 
residents.  

b) Berkshire West Autumn Covid-19 Vaccination Plan Sept – Dec 2022 

Jo Reeves gave a summary presentation on the Berkshire West Autumn Covid-19 
Vaccination Plan for September to December 2022. Presentation slides containing 
further details of the plan had been included in the agenda papers. 

The Board heard that there were two strands to the programme. The first strand 
maintained an ‘evergreen’ offer of a primary vaccination course which continued to be 
available at the Broad St Mall Mass Vaccination Centre and at selected community 
venues. This linked in with the Reading Community Vaccine Champions Project and the 
Berkshire West Inequalities approach for Autumn 2022 with a particular focus on 
addressing inequalities and reducing variation in vaccination coverage. 

The second strand of the programme focused on offering an Autumn booster to the 
following JCVI-identified cohorts: 

 
• residents in, and staff working in, care homes for older adults; 
• frontline health and social care workers; 
• all adults aged 50 years and over; 
• persons aged 5 to 49 years in a clinical risk group, as set out in the Green Book; 
• persons aged 5 to 49 years who were household contacts of people with 

immunosuppression. 
• persons aged 16 to 49 years who were carers, as set out in the Green Book. 

Page 14



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 7 OCTOBER 2022 

The Autumn booster was available at the Broad St Mall Mass Vaccination Centre, 
community pharmacies and most Primary Care Networks (PCNs). The Autumn booster 
programme had commenced on 5 September 2022 starting with PCNs visiting care home 
and housebound residents. At the meeting it was confirmed that arrangements had 
been put in place to ensure care home and home visits in the Reading West PCN area. 
The deadline for completion was the end of October 2022 and the programme would 
run to the end of December 2022. 

The Board heard that PCNs and pharmacies would be contacting eligible patients 
inviting them to appointments to receive their Autumn booster. The National Booking 
System had opened to over 65s, carers, frontline health and social workers and pregnant 
women, with texts and letters being sent to eligible patients to encourage them to book 
their boosters. 

c) Seasonal Berkshire Influenza Vaccination Campaign – 2022/23 

Belinda Seston presented a report on the Berkshire Influenza Vaccination Campaign for 
2022/23. The report noted that, due to non-pharmaceutical measures put in place for 
Covid-19, flu levels had been low throughout 2020 and  2021 and remained low to date 
in 2022.  However, a late increase in activity could not be ruled out in the winter of 
2022/23 and, with levels of social contact returned to pre-pandemic norms, there was 
a strong likelihood that flu levels would increase to match or exceed pre-pandemic 
levels. It was noted that the potential co-circulation of multiple respiratory viruses (flu, 
Covid-19 and others) could add significantly to the pressures faced by the NHS in 2022 
and 2023. 

The report identified those groups eligible to receive the 2022/23 influenza vaccine, 
and detailed the types of vaccines that would be available to adults and children in 
different cohorts. The report outline the ambition of the 2022/23 flu vaccine 
programme to build on the successes of previous years’ programmes. It was hoped that 
the 2022/23 programme would match or ideally exceed the uptake levels of 2020/21 
and 2021/22 for each cohort. GPs and school providers were also required to 
demonstrate a ‘100% offer’ meaning that all eligible patients would need to be offered 
a vaccine with call and recall mechanisms being put in place to achieve this 
supplemented by ‘opportunistic offers’ where pragmatic. The report also identified the 
need to reach residents living in the most deprived areas, from ethnic minorities and 
in other underserved communities to ensure as high an uptake as possible within the 
population as a whole. 

The report explained that progress would be being tracked at BOB ICS level at 
fortnightly meetings. Berkshire West would also be holding monthly Vaccination Action 
Group meeting where uptake and demographic data would be presented and discussed 
both in relation to flu and Covid vaccinations.  

Pauline Hamilton reported at the meeting that she had personally been unable 
physically to submit written consent for her child’s vaccination but had also been 
unable to access an online permission facility and so her child had not received their 
vaccination; Belinda Seston said that she would take this access issue back to 
colleagues. 

Resolved – That the presentations and report be noted. 

Page 15



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 7 OCTOBER 2022 

20. READING COMMUNITY VACCINE CHAMPIONS PROGRAMME - UPDATE 

Martin White gave a presentation and answered questions on the Reading Community 
Vaccine Champions (CVC) Programme. A copy of the presentation slides had been 
included with the agenda papers. 

The presentation explained that Phase 2 extension of the CVC Programme had gone live 
on 1 August 2022. Contracts and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) had been agreed 
with partners for delivery and practicalities were being finalised with specific 
timelines. The RBC internal governance process had been approved and the Department 
for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities (DLUHC) had formally approved the extension 
and new reporting process. Project underspend from Phase 1 had been reallocated to 
cover costs for Phase 2. The RBC objective was to successfully close the programme at 
the end of October 2022 including all expenditure with only exceptional deliverables 
being carried over to the end of the fiscal year to 31 March 2022.  

The presentation detailed some of the key risks the programme faced, including that 
Oxford Health may not be available to support Phase 2 of the programme. It was noted 
that the programme would need to explore other options to support vaccination clinics. 
The presentation listed the programme’s KPIs noting that it had proved a challenge to 
meet the ‘10% increase in vaccination rates across Reading’ target but that good levels 
of project activity had been achieved, including that 32 Champions had been recruited, 
33 pop-up vaccination events had been delivered and 10 Community Grants awarded. 
 
The presentation set out updates in respect of the programme’s six main workstream 
areas;  
 

• Data analytics and surveillance;  
• Behavioural insights and communications;  
• The Community Champions Network;  
• Training;  
• The Community Grant Fund;  
• Outreach and pop-up sites/transport. 

 
The presentation also outlined the proposal to conduct a comprehensive evaluation of 
the Reading CVC Programme and the programme’s financial position. 
 
The meeting noted the successes of the programme, including the valuable insights 
learned that could be applied to other public health problems. The meeting also noted 
the importance of partnership working and it was suggested that local Housing 
Associations, such as Catalyst Housing, would be good partners to bring on board in the 
future. It was noted that a further update and a report would be taken to the Adult 
Social Care, Children's Services and Education Committee on 19 October 2022.  
 
Resolved -    That the presentation be noted. 

21. READING AREA SEND STRATEGY 2022-27 – UPDATE ON PROGRESS 

Brian Grady presented a report on the delivery of the Reading Area Special Educational 
Needs and/or Disabilities (SEND) Strategy 2022-27. A copy of the Strategy was attached 
to the report at Appendix 1.  

Page 16



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 7 OCTOBER 2022 

The report explained that the Strategy had last been presented to the Board in October 
2021 (Minute 23 refers) and had gone live in January 2022. The Strategy set out how 
the local area partnership (RBC, BFfC and the NHS) would deliver support and services 
in collaboration with children, young people, families and carers to meet local needs 
and national responsibilities. The Strategy had incorporated the positive outcomes and 
recommendations  made following the local area inspection carried out by the CQC and 
Ofsted in June 2021. The Strategy had been co-produced in partnership and with the 
help of local parents and children and had also been informed by key national 
documents including the SEND Code of Practice (2015), National Autism Strategy (2021), 
the National Disability Strategy (2021) and the NHS Long Term Plan. In March 2022, the 
Government had launched the national ‘SEND Review, right support, right place, right 
time’ (attached at Appendix 2) and a consultation on the Government’s proposals had 
concluded on 22 July 2022. The report noted that the content of Reading’s Strategy 
was in line with the Government’s proposals and that the Strategy would continue to 
be informed by any consultation results that were subsequently announced by 
Government. 

The report summarised the progress made on the 2022/23 action plan. The report noted 
that the over-riding key performance indicator was that any local area inspection in 
the future would rate Reading as one of the best local areas in the country for children 
and young people with SEND and their families. The report explained that to deliver 
the Strategy seven work strands had been identified. These were:   

• Strand 1: Improving communication; 
• Strand 2: Early Intervention through to specialist provision; 
• Strand 3: Consistent approaches to emotional wellbeing; 
• Strand 4: Preparing for adulthood; 
• Strand 5: Support for families/short breaks; 
• Strand 6: Capital and school places; 
• Strand 7: Revenue and funding. 

The report explained that activity within each work strand area had been reported on  
a monthly basis to the SEND Strategy Group. Examples of the type of work carried under 
each strand were set out in the report, as well as  the key priority areas for the next 
year. Priorities included: 

 
• Recruiting more specialist and trained staff; 
• Improving data sharing; 
• Reducing waiting times for ADHD and ASD diagnosis; 
• Reducing exclusions of children and young people with SEND; 
• Supporting young people presenting with Emotionally Based School Avoidance 

(EBSA); 
• Work to clarify pathways and streamline services across partnerships; 
• Improving CAMHS capacity and crisis response for children with learning 

disabilities and Autism; 
• Improving the Local Offer and signposting; 
• Improving Employment Education and Training for SEND young people. 

The Board noted the importance of partnership working and the fact that the Strategy 
had been co-produced and was being delivered with the help of parents and young 
people. Pauline Hamilton from Reading Families Forum attended the meeting and 

Page 17



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 7 OCTOBER 2022 

addressed the Board. She welcomed the opportunity to work with professionals but 
noted that there was still a considerable amount of work to do. She voiced concern at 
the number of families that still needed to go to Tribunal, noting that it would be better 
for families and the Local Authority if more could be done beforehand to prevent this. 
Pauline Hamilton also identified gaps in the provision of respite care for the families of 
children and young people with SEND, particularly those aged 18-25, and noted that 
more practical work was needed to prepare young people for adulthood and support 
their transition over to adult services.  

Resolved -     

(1)  That the report be noted and the priority actions for the coming year be 
endorsed; 

(2) That Brain Grady liaise with Reading Families Forum regarding the number 
of cases going to Tribunal;     

(3) That the Board’s thanks to Pauline Hamilton for her input and for sharing 
her personal experiences be recorded. 

22. FIRE SERVICE WINTER PLANNING FOR VULNERABLE RESIDENTS 
 
Gail Muirhead submitted a report detailing the Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service’s 
(RBFRS) plans to offer advice and support to low-income households and vulnerable 
residents throughout the winter. The report also looked at how the RBFRS could work 
with other partner organisations to plan to meet the needs of the community. 
 
The report identified several potential risks caused by increased levels of fuel poverty 
and noted that with gas, electricity and other prices rising, some vulnerable households 
might turn to use other, potentially less safe, methods to heat and light their homes to 
keep costs down over the winter. It noted that households and landlords would also 
have less money available to spend on routine maintenance and other safety measures. 
Some of the specific risks detailed in the report included:  
 

• Fires caused by the unsafe use of electric blankets;  
• Fires caused by the unsafe use of electric heaters; 
• Chimney fires; 
• Fires caused by candles; 
• Carbon Monoxide poisoning.  

 
The report sought the support of partner agencies to promote awareness of several 
important safety messages and asked that partner agencies add to their existing 
pathways and processes where possible. The report asked partner agencies to: 
 

• promote and share safety messages via social media. This could be done by 
following the RBFRS and sharing winter safety messages across social media 
platforms; 

• promote the RBFRS’s Safe and Well visits programme either by direct referral 
or by encouraging residents to self-refer; 

• work together to make every contact count. Partner agencies were encouraged 
to share respective winter plans so that the RBFRS could signpost residents to 
other agencies whilst conducting home visits. 

Page 18



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 7 OCTOBER 2022 

• attend the RBFRS’s Adults at Risk Training on fire safety in the home aimed at 
professionals working in the community. The training was designed to help 
professionals identify fire hazards in homes and take appropriate mitigations 
to keep people safe; 

• promote and make use of RBFRS Winter Safety leaflets available to partner 
agencies as printed copies or online.  
 

At the meeting it was suggested that it would be beneficial for the RBFRS to have 
further discussions with Primary Care Networks to coordinate support and share 
information to enable the effective targeting of vulnerable patient groups such as the 
frail, elderly and those living alone.   
 
Resolved -  
 

(1) That the report and presentation be noted; 
 
(2)  That partner agencies represented on the Board support the RBFRS to 

promote the activities set out in the report by adding to existing pathways 
and processes where possible; 

 
(3) That further discussions take place between the RBFRS and Primary Care 

Networks to coordinate arranging support for vulnerable patient groups.   

23. UPDATE ON ACCESS TO GP SERVICES IN READING 

Helen Clark submitted a report and gave a presentation on access to General Practice 
(GP) services in Reading and the work being undertaken to improve telephone access 
and build resilience over the winter period. The presentation set out the latest data on 
access to general practice (GP) services, provided an update on the progress made with 
the Improving Access Workplan that had been put in place with the Urgent and 
Emergency Care Programme Board and explained the intention to commission and open 
a pilot Urgent Care Centre in Reading over the next 18 months. A copy of the 
presentation slides had been included in the agenda papers. 

The presentation noted that the demand for primary care services had been high across 
the Berkshire West area with an average of 806,560 contacts per month over the last 
year compared to 771,582 in 20219. At the same time, Emergency Department (ED) 
attendances by patients with minor illnesses requiring minimal or no investigation or 
treatment had increased and Westcall had reported a 11-13% increase in activity 
compared to last year.  It was noted that 58% of GP appointments had been taking place 
in-person compared to 73% immediately prior to the pandemic; this level was similar 
to the national average and reflected a greater use of remote consultation methods. 
Results from the national GP Patient Survey had shown a decline in satisfaction levels 
in relation to telephone access and overall satisfaction levels with GP services had also 
declined. Both declines mirrored national trends. It was noted that, whilst GP numbers 
per head of population in the Berkshire West area compared favourably to other areas 
in the South East region, levels in Reading were less favourable. Schemes were in place 
to recruit and retain GPs and recruitment through the Additional Roles Reimbursement 
Scheme (ARRS) had helped to strengthen PCN workforces by recruiting specialist staff 
including clinical pharmacists, physician associates, social prescribers and paramedics. 

Page 19



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 7 OCTOBER 2022 

The presentation explained that, following changes to access arrangements during the 
Covid-19 pandemic and in response to the findings of a Healthwatch Reading report on 
telephone access, an access improvement plan had been put in place the previous year 
overseen by the Urgent and Emergency Care Programme Board. Actions from this plan 
had fed into the same day access workstream within the wider UEC strategy. Progress 
included: 

 
• Implementation of phone message recommendations and audit, including 

callback options; 
• Implementation of NHS 111 call handler booking; 
• Work done with practices to reinstate online appointment booking; 
• Piloting of predictive modelling - agreed to continue through Connected Care; 
• Implementation of the ‘Everyone Welcome’ campaign to increase GP 

registrations; 
• Work done with practices to build referrals to Community Pharmacy Consultation 

Service; 
• Practices supported to provide online consultation offer as an alternative to 

telephone access; 
• PCNs engaged in 2021/22 Winter Communications campaign; 
• Commencement of an advanced telephony project to improve call handling and 

reporting functionality;  
• Supporting practices to access national training programmes on managing 

demand/capacity and support/training offered to reception staff. 

Work had also been carried to increase capacity. Between November 2021 and June 
2022 between 135-250 additional appointments had been commissioned per day across 
Berkshire West practices of which 50% had been face-to-face. The 2021-22 Winter 
Access Fund for primary care had also been used to pilot two overflow hubs in Reading 
between September 2021 and June 2022 providing up to 29 appointments per day of 
which at least 16 were face-to-face. Consideration was being given to the additional 
capacity requirement for winter 2022/23. An indication that funding would be available 
had been received, but the level of funding was expected to be lower than in the 
previous year. 

The presentation provided an outline for the proposed opening of an Urgent Care Centre 
(UCC) for minor illness in Central Reading. Building on the existing pilot the ICB had 
commissioned the UCC to run for 18 months from October 2022. The centre, located in 
the town centre, would be open 7 days a week between 8am and 8pm. The centre 
would be GP-led but staffed by a multidisciplinary team and would have the capacity 
to see up to 100 patients per day, including 50 walk-ins and 50 referrals from EDs or 
primary care. Professionals at the centre would have full access to patient records to 
enable completion of episodes of care. The centre aimed to reduce the number of 
unnecessary ED attendances and would support the primary care network by providing 
overflow capacity. The previous walk-in service would remain suspended with future 
need to be assessed as part of the evaluation of the original pilot. 

The presentation concluded by listing the current areas of focus. These built on the 
previous actions carried out by the access improvement plan but also included some 
new areas of focus. Some of the areas of focus included: 

 
• Ongoing monitoring of all access indicators (including reinstated Friends and 

Family Test) - obtaining feedback and follow-up as appropriate. Working with 

Page 20



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 7 OCTOBER 2022 

Healthwatch Reading and others to consider how to support intelligence 
gathering; 

• Working with PCNs to use Connected Care data to understand demand and 
patient utilisation of other services to inform capacity planning. Exploring 
stratification of on-the-day demand; 

• Increasing referrals to Community Pharmacy Consultation Service; 
• Complete the advanced telephony roll-out with a further 12 Reading practices 

due to go-live by end of financial year; 
• Contribute to 2022/23 Winter Communications campaign; 
• Implement revised delivery arrangements for Enhanced Access with 

interoperable IT solutions also having potential to support wider PCN resilience; 
• Launching a new registration campaign focusing on young males; 
• Build peer support approaches to improving access alongside promotion of 

national training programmes; 
• Digital literacy programme to support use of online access methods. 

Resolved -    That the report be noted. 

24. ICB AND ICP UPDATE 

Belinda Seston and Catherine Mountford gave a presentation on the development of the 
Integrated Care Board (ICB) and the Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) in 
Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West (BOB). A copy of the presentation 
slides had been included in the agenda papers. 

The presentation updated on ICB and ICP governance arrangements and gave the 
following key definitions in relation to the constituent parts of the Integrated Care 
System (ICS) which had been established following assent of the Health and Care Act 
2022: 

 
• Integrated Care System (ICS) - a partnership of organisations that come together 

to plan and deliver joined up health and care services, and to improve the lives 
of people who live and work in their area. 

• Integrated Care Partnerships (ICP) - A statutory committee jointly formed 
between the NHS Integrated Care Board (ICB) and all upper-tier local authorities 
that fell within the ICS area. 

• Integrated Care Boards (ICB) - A statutory NHS organisation responsible for 
developing a plan for meeting the health needs of the population, managing the 
NHS budget and arranging for the provision of health services in the ICS area. 

The presentation noted that the ICP founder members had agreed the ICP Committee 
membership and that the first meeting of the ICP was planned to take place on 28 
October 2022. The ICP had commenced strategy development and formation of the 
ICP’s secretariat was under way.    

The presentation explained that the ICB’s establishment meeting had taken place on 1 
July 2022. At the meeting the ICB Board’s governance arrangements had been decided 
and the Board had received the 2022/23 Operational and Finance Plan, the BOB Green 
Plan and the System Delivery Plan. It was noted that the ICB Board's next meeting had 
taken place in public on 27 September 2022 and development of the ICB’s website was 
under way.  

Page 21



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 7 OCTOBER 2022 

The presentation highlighted the importance of Placed Based Partnerships (PBPs). It 
was noted that the ICS consisted of three smaller areas known as 'places' with Reading 
located within the Berkshire West place. ‘Place’ arrangements would evolve and 
develop over time, with all three of the Place Directors starting by the first week of 
October 2022. Councils and Trusts would be asked to devolve decision-making to 
representatives on PBPs and an update paper outlining the development of PBPs had 
been submitted to the ICB Board meeting on 27 September 2022.  

At the meeting Belinda Seston introduced Sarah Webster, who had been appointed as 
the Executive Director for the Berkshire West Place within the BOB ICB area and who 
would attend future Health and Wellbeing Board meetings.  

Resolved -   That the presentation be noted. 

25. BERKSHIRE WEST UNIFIED EXECUTIVE UPDATE 

Andy Ciecierski presented a report from the Chair of the Berkshire West Unified 
Executive which detailed key issues discussed at meetings of the Unified Executive held 
between June and September 2022. At the meeting it was noted that the Berkshire 
West Unified Executive could eventually become the Place Based Partnership Board 
coving the Berkshire West area under the new ICS arrangements.  
 
The report covered the following topics:  
 

• Multi-Disciplinary Team (MDT) – Mental Health 
• Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS) 
• Heart Failure 
• Emotional Health and Wellbeing – Young People 
• Intermediate Care Review (formerly Rehab and Reablement) 
• ICB Development 
• Delivery Group 
• Community Nursing Service 
• Joint Commissioning 
• GP Representation  
• Adult Social Care 
• Physical Activity 

Resolved -   That the report be noted. 

26. BETTER CARE FUND PLAN 2022/23 PLAN AND NARRATIVE 

Bev Nicholson submitted a report outlining the Better Care Fund (BCF) 2022/23 Plan 
submission for Reading Borough Council. 

The report explained that the Reading Integration Board (RIB) had agreed its priorities 
in June 2022 and the Better Care Fund Plan 2022/23 had been drafted to reflect these 
priorities. Several key stakeholders had been consulted during the plan’s development 
phase and an initial draft had been submitted to NHS England (NHSE) to obtain 
feedback. The feedback received from NHSE had been good with a few areas identified 
as needing improvement. The draft plan had been adjusted to implement NHSE’s 
recommendations and, after receiving sign-off from the Executive Director of Social 
Care and Health in consultation with the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board under 

Page 22



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 7 OCTOBER 2022 

delegated authority from the Board, the final version had been returned to NHSE on 21 
September 2022 ahead of the deadline. 

The following documents had been submitted as part of the final return: 
 

• The BCF Plan Template (2022/23)– this document set out who was responsible 
for sign-off, the BCF’s income and expenditure, the metrics that had been set 
along with the rationale and the activities that would be used to achieve them 
and the four National Conditions. (Appendix 1)   

• The BCF Narrative – detailing the development of the BCF Plan and explaining 
how the plan met the BCF’s objectives. (Appendix 2)   

• The Capacity & Demand Plan Template (not part of the NHSE Assurance process 
but a mandatory part of submission) – giving an overview of the demand on 
hospital discharge and intermediate care. (Appendix 3)   

The report set out the BCF National Conditions for 2022/23. The report explained that 
the BCF Plan and Narrative documents provided confirmation of how the National 
Conditions were being met and would continue to be met for the period covered by the 
fund (April 2022 to March 2023).  
 
The report also set out the BCF national metrics for 2022/23. The four agreed metrics 
remained the same as those used in previous years as follows: 
 

• Metric 1: Admission Avoidance - Unplanned hospitalisation per 100,000 
population; 

• Metric 2: Discharge to usual place of residence - Percentage of people, resident 
in the HWB, who were discharged from acute hospital to their normal place of 
residence; 

• Metric 3: Residential Admissions - Long term support needs of older people 
(aged 65 and over) met by admission to residential and nursing care homes, per 
100,000 population; 

• Metric 4: Reablement - Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still 
at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into reablement/ rehabilitation 
services. 

 
The report explained that the national metrics had been aligned with local targets 
which had been agreed by local system partners based on previous performance. The 
agreed targets for 2022/23 were set out in  the report, which also included details of 
the initiatives designed to meet them. It was noted that, whilst not a metric for 
2022/23, local systems had also been asked to continue to monitor ‘Length of Stay’ 
which had been introduced as a new metric in 2021/22 but had not been included in 
the plan for 2022/23. 
 
Resolved -     
 

(1) That the content of the Better Care Fund Plan and Narrative for 2022/23, 
including the National Conditions and Metrics against which the BCF's 
performance would be measured, be noted and endorsed; 

 
(2) That it be noted that, having utilised the Executive Director of Social Care 

and Health’s delegated authority for sign-off, in consultation with the 
Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board , in order to comply with national 

Page 23



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 7 OCTOBER 2022 

deadlines outside of the Health and Wellbeing Board's meeting cycle, the 
final BCF Plan and Narrative for 2022/23 had been submitted to NHS 
England ahead of the 26 September 2022 deadline. 

27. INTEGRATION PROGRAMME UPDATE 
 
Bev Nicholson submitted a report giving an update on the Integration Programme and 
its performance against the Better Care Fund (BCF) targets covering the period April to 
June 2022 (Quarter 1). 
 
The report noted that the BCF metrics had been updated for 2022/23 and that targets 
for each of the metrics had been agreed with system partners during the BCF Planning 
process (see Minute 26 above). It was noted that the ‘Length of Stay’ target had been 
removed for 2022/23 but was still being tracked locally. The four remaining metrics 
and their outcomes as at the end of June 2022 were as follows: 
 

• The number of avoidable admissions (unplanned hospitalisation for chronic 
ambulatory care) (Met); 

• An increase in the proportion of people discharged home using data on discharge 
to their usual place of residence (Met); 

• The number of older adults whose long-term care needs were met by admission 
to residential or nursing care per 100,000 population (Met); 

• The effectiveness of reablement (proportion of older people still at home 91 
days after discharge from hospital into reablement or rehabilitation) (Not Met). 

 
Further details of the delivery against the targets for each metric were set out in the 
report which also included several performance indicators for local schemes funded 
through the BCF which demonstrated the effectiveness of collaborative work with 
system partners. 
 
The report also provided an update on the Reading Integration Board (RIB) Programme 
Plan which had been developed in collaboration with partners from Health, Social Care, 
and the Voluntary Care Sector. The four priorities and key projects for 2022/23 were 
detailed and included seven new projects for the year.  
 
Resolved -    That the report be noted. 

28. HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY QUARTERLY IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 
NARRATIVE UPDATE REPORT 

Bev Nicholson presented a report that provided an overview of the implementation of 
the Berkshire West Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-2030 in Reading and gave 
detailed information on performance and progress towards achieving local goals and 
actions set out in both the overarching strategy and the locally agreed implementation 
plans. 

The Health and Wellbeing Implementation Plans Update was attached at Appendix A 
and contained detailed narrative updates on the actions agreed for each of the 
implementation plans and included the most recent update of key information in each 
of the five priority areas. 

• Priority 1 - Reduce the differences in health between different groups of people; 

Page 24



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 7 OCTOBER 2022 

• Priority 2 - Support individuals at high risk of bad health outcomes to live healthy 
lives. 

• Priority 3 - Help families and children in early years; 
• Priority 4 - Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all children and young 

people; 
• Priority 5 - Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all adults. 

Paragraph 2.1 of the report set out details of updates to the data and performance 
indicators which had been included in the Health and Wellbeing dashboard since the 
last report. 
 
Resolved -    That the report be noted. 

29. LOST FOR WORDS – HEALTHWATCH EVIDENCE ON HOW LANGUAGE BARRIERS 
CONTRIBUTE TO HEALTH INEQUALITIES 

The Board received a report by Healthwatch England providing evidence of how 
language barriers contributed to health inequalities.  

It was reported that Healthwatch Reading had been involved in the research for the 
report, which explored the experiences of people from minority ethnic communities 
who found it challenging to communicate with the NHS because they did not speak 
English well or at all and investigated the issues faced by healthcare staff when caring 
for such people. Having interviewed patients and staff, the Healthwatch report had 
concluded that people who experienced language barriers struggled at all points of 
their healthcare journeys. The report highlighted the lack of interpretation support and 
noted that many people had not been aware of professional interpreters or how to 
access them. As a result, many people had not received the healthcare that they 
required. 

The report explained that staff, patients and family had made suggestions for change 
to improve their experiences. These suggestions included the use of automatic alert 
systems to flag people’s language needs, easier access to translated resources and 
flexible support based on individual needs. The report recommended that the existing 
guidance for commissioning interpreter services in primary care should become a 
statutory obligation for all healthcare provides. It also recommended providing more 
coordinated interpretation and translation services at the new Integrated Care System 
level. 

Resolved - That the report be noted. 

30. HEALTHWATCH READING ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 – CHAMPIONING WHAT 
MATTERS TO YOU 

The Board received Healthwatch Reading’s Annual Report for 2021/22 which gave 
details of the work carried out by Healthwatch Reading in 2021/22. The report 
explained who Healthwatch Reading were, included a message from the Chair and 
provided an overview of the past year. Achievements included receiving a national 
award at the Healthwatch Awards 2021 for a project that exposed the difficulties 
asylum seekers faced when accessing healthcare. The report detailed the organisation’s 
engagement and support work including Healthwatch’s involvement in projects to: 
 

Page 25



READING HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD MINUTES – 7 OCTOBER 2022 

• Improve access to GP services; 
• Create empathy about health inequalities; 
• Continue to inform the pandemic response; 
• Help the public evaluate new services. 

The report also described Healthwatch Reading’s public advice and information and 
advocacy services, set out its financial situation, governance arrangements and 
summarised future priorities. The report also noted that, as of 1 June 2022, a new 
provider would be taking over the Healthwatch Reading contract.  

Resolved - That the report be noted  

31.  DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

Resolved –    That the next meeting be held at 2.00 pm on Friday, 20 January 2023. 

(The meeting started at 2.00 pm and closed at 4.37 pm) 

Page 26



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICAL 

1 

 

SUMMARY 
To advice that School 
Admissions are asking the 
Adults Social Care, Childrens 
Services and Education (ACE 
Committee) to determine the 
admission arrangement for 
2024-2025 

OWNER 
Victoria Hannington, School 
Admissions Manager  
VERSION 1 

DATE 
6 December, 2022 

REVIEW DATE 

Yearly for new admission 
arrangement  

© Brighter Futures for Children 

Brighter Futures for Children  
Civic Offices, Bridge Street,  
Reading RG1 2LU 

C b  11293709

ACE Report 

School Admission Arrangements 
2024-2025 

For decision  For discussion  For information 

Page 27

Agenda Item 8



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | Ace Report | V1 | VH 20-10-22 
2 

Contents 
1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY OF REPORT ........................................................................................... 3 

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION ................................................................................................................ 3 

3. POLICY CONTEXT ............................................................................................................................. 4 

4. THE PROPOSAL ............................................................................................................................ 5 

4.1 Primary and Secondary School Co-ordinated schemes 2024-25 ............................................ 5 

4.2 Admission Policy for Community Primary, Infant and Junior Schools 2024-2025 .................. 5 

4.3 Relevant Area .......................................................................................................................... 5 

5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS.............................................................................................. 5 

6 ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS ........................................................................... 5 

7. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION ......................................................................... 5 

8. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT .................................................................................................... 5 

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS ...................................................................................................................... 6 

10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS ........................................................................................................... 6 

11. HR IMPLICATIONS ....................................................................................................................... 6 

12. COMMUNICATION IMPLICATIONS .............................................................................................. 6 

13. BACKGROUND PAPERS ................................................................................................................ 6 

Page 28



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | Ace Report | V1 | VH 20-10-22 
3 

TO: ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDRENS SERVICES AND EDUCATION 
COMMITTEE 

DATE: 18 January 2023  

TITLE: SCHOOL ADMISSIONS ARRANGEMENTS 2024/25 

LEAD 
COUNCILLOR: 

RUTH McEWAN PORTFOLIO: EDUCATION 

SERVICE: BFfC WARDS: BOROUGHWIDE 

LEAD OFFICER: BRIAN GRADY TEL: 

JOB TITLE: INTERIM EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR OF 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES, 
EDUCATION AND 
EARLY HELP 

E-MAIL: Brian.Grady@BrighterFut
uresforChildren.org 

1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY OF REPORT 
1.1 This report invites the Committee to determine; 

- The admissions arrangements for Community Primary Schools in Reading for the
school year 2024/25.

- The coordinated scheme for primary and junior schools for the 2024/25 school
year.

- The coordinated scheme for secondary schools for the 2024/25 school year.
- The Relevant Area 2024.
- Maps of the Primary catchment areas.

1.2 These arrangements for 2024/25 comply with the School Admissions Code 2021. 

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION
2.1 That the scheme attached at Annexes A, B and C as the admissions arrangements 

for 2024/25 for community schools in Reading and the local arrangements for 
complying with the national coordinated primary school admission procedures for 
the allocation of primary school places for residents of Reading Borough be agreed. 

Page 29



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | Ace Report | V1 | VH 20-10-22       
  4  

2.2 That the scheme attached at Annex D as the local arrangements for complying with 
the national coordinated secondary admissions procedure for the allocation of 
secondary school places for 2024/25 for residents of Reading Borough be agreed. 

2.3 That the relevant area as attached in Annex E which sets out the organisations that 
must be consulted for any admissions arrangements for schools in Reading be 
agreed. 

3. POLICY CONTEXT 
3.1 School admissions are subject to detailed requirements, set out in law and 

particularly the School Admissions Code 2021, published by the Government and 
approved by Parliament.  As part of those requirements, local authorities must 
draw up schemes for coordinating admissions to all maintained schools in their 
area.   The purpose of coordinated schemes is to ensure that every parent/carer of 
a child living in Reading who has completed and submitted an on time application 
receives one offer of a school place at the conclusion of the normal admissions 
round.  The schemes set out a process and timescale to enable the offer of a single 
school place.  They do not affect the right of individual admission authorities to set 
and operate their own admission arrangements but they do include arrangements 
for resolving multiple offers, where a place can be offered at more than one school.  
Reading Borough Council is the admitting authority for community and voluntary 
controlled schools within the borough. 

3.2 In addition, the Council is also required to determine the admission policy for 
community schools which includes the number of places to be made available at 
each school and the oversubscription criteria to be applied where there are more 
applicants than places available. Where the over-subscription criteria include 
catchment areas these must also be approved. The governing bodies of academies, 
free schools, voluntary aided and foundation schools are required to determine 
their own admission number and oversubscription criteria.  Those schools also 
operate their own arrangements as part of the coordinated scheme – and where 
they are oversubscribed, continue to decide which applicants best meet their 
oversubscription criteria. 

3.3 Reading Borough Council last consulted on the policy in 2018 and therefore there is 
no duty to consult this year.  

3.4 Reading Borough Council deliver its school admissions service through Brighter 
Futures for Children (BFfC). BFfC is an independent, not-for-profit company, wholly 
owned by Reading Borough Council, set up in December 2018 to deliver children’s 
services, early help, education and SEND services in Reading 

3.6 The documents must be determined by the 28 February 2023 to ensure Reading is 
compliant with the school admissions code and published on the BFfC website by 
15 March 2023.  

Page 30



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | Ace Report | V1 | VH 20-10-22       
  5  

 

4.   THE PROPOSAL 

4.1 Primary and Secondary School Co-ordinated schemes 2024-25 

These schemes have been amended to reflect appropriate dates. Both policies were 
approved on the previous consultation for 2018 entry and there are no significant changes. 

4.2 Admission Policy for Community Primary, Infant and Junior Schools 2024-
2025 

The policy has no significant changes from the proposals for 2023/24.  

4.3 Relevant Area 

The Relevant area outlines the organisations that must be consulted by all schools in Reading 
when consulting on admissions policies. No amendments have been made to this. 

5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS 
5.1 The admission schemes contribute to the aims of ensuring that there are good education, 

leisure and cultural opportunities for people in Reading. 

5.2 It also contributes to the aims to establish Reading as a learning City and a stimulating and 
rewarding place to live and visit. 

6 ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
6.1 The Council declared a Climate Emergency at its meeting on 26 February 2019 (Minute 48 

refers). 

6.2 Where possible children are placed as near as possible to their local school. Parental   
preference and the need to divert children to other schools that are not their preference, 
means that some children are placed in schools outside their local community. This can have 
an impact on travel by public transport and in cars. 

7. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION 
7.1 Section 138 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 places a 

duty on local authorities to involve local representatives when carrying out "any of its 
functions" by providing information, consulting or "involving in another way". 

7.2 This duty has been met. We have a statuary duty to consult every 7 years on the coordinated 
scheme for school admissions. We last consulted between 17 October 2018 and 10 
December 2018 as per the school admission code. The outcome from that was reported to 
ACE on the 14 February 2019. 

8. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
8.1 Under the Equality Act 2010, Section 149, a public authority must, in the exercise of its 

functions, have due regard to the need to— 

Page 31



CLASSIFICATION: OFFICAL 

Brighter Futures for Children | Ace Report | V1 | VH 20-10-22       
  6  

• eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act; 

• advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

• foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it. 

8.2 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is not relevant to this decision 

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
9.1 Compliance with School Admissions Code (2021)  

10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
10.1 None arising directly from this report  

11. HR IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 None arising directly from this report  

12. COMMUNICATION IMPLICATIONS 
12.1 The new policies will be shared with all local Schools and neighbouring local Authorities by 

the School Admission Team. The new 2024 admissions guides will be updated as will the 
relevant pages on the BfFC website.  

13. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
13.1 supporting regulations, the Explanatory Memorandum  

Page 32

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2021/570/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2021/570/memorandum/contents


Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council Primary, Infant and Junior Schools for 
the 2024/2025 academic year. 

1 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council 
Primary, Infant and Junior Schools for the 2024/2025 academic 

year. 
 

For September 2024 entry 

Determined on xxx 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council Primary, Infant and Junior Schools for 
the 2024/2025 academic year. 

2 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

 

Contents 
Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 3 

Applications............................................................................................................................................. 4 

Late Applications ..................................................................................................................................... 5 

Changes of preference ............................................................................................................................ 5 

Change of Address .................................................................................................................................. 6 

Processing Applications .......................................................................................................................... 6 

Exchange of information ..................................................................................................................... 6 

Resolving multiple offers .................................................................................................................... 6 

Informing schools ................................................................................................................................ 7 

Informing Parents ............................................................................................................................... 7 

Waiting Lists ............................................................................................................................................ 7 

Withdrawing a place ............................................................................................................................... 8 

Requests for admission outside the normal age group .......................................................................... 8 

Disputes between Parents ...................................................................................................................... 9 

In-Year Admissions ................................................................................................................................ 10 

Timetable for the Primary & Junior School Admissions Round 2024-25 .............................................. 10 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 34



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council Primary, Infant and Junior Schools for 
the 2024/2025 academic year. 

3 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Introduction 
 
Reading Borough Council delivers its school admissions service through Brighter Futures for 
Children (BFfC). BFfC is an independent, not-for-profit company, wholly owned by Reading 
Borough Council, set up in December 2018 to deliver children’s services, early help, education 
and SEND services in Reading.  
 
The Reading coordinated scheme was last consulted on between 17 October 2018 and 10 
December 2018. There have been no significant changes since that consultation took place, 
therefore no requirement for a public consultation. 

 
This Scheme is made under section 84 of the Standards and Framework Act 1998 and in 
accordance with the school Admissions (Admissions Arrangements and Coordination of 
admissions arrangements (England) Regulations 2014.  
 
The purpose of this coordinated scheme for primary/infant/junior school admissions is to 
ensure that every parent/carer of a child resident in Reading Borough, who has applied, 
receives one offer of a school place at the conclusion of the normal admissions round.  At its 
heart is clear communication between Reading school admissions, other Local Authorities, 
community, and all state schools in Reading.   
 
Parents/carers who live in the Borough of Reading must apply to Reading school admissions 
if they require a place for their child in any state school as part of a routine admissions round, 
including schools in other local authorities, academies and free schools. Applications cannot 
be submitted to a school or to the local authority in which the school is situated. 
Parents/carers living within any other local authority areas must apply through their own local 
authority admissions service. 
 
Coordination with Reading school admissions does not affect the right of individual admission 
authorities to set and operate their own admission arrangements. Admission authorities for 
Reading schools will need to comply with the timetable set out below. 
 
These arrangements deal mainly with a child’s first admission to school during the school year 
from September 2024 to August 2025. The children concerned are those born between 1 
September 2019 and 31 August 2020.  The place offered is a full-time place from September 
2024.  
 
Admission to Junior School in September is for children born between 1 September 2016 and 
31 August 2017. 
 
National Offer Day for Primary and Junior Admissions is 16 April 2024 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council Primary, Infant and Junior Schools for 
the 2024/2025 academic year. 

4 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Applications 
 
Reading Borough Council will put in place procedures that, where possible, ensure all 
parents/carers living in the Borough of Reading (with a child eligible to start school in 
September 2024) will be aware of the application process. Children on roll at a Reading 
nursery school/early years setting in September 2023 will receive information about how to 
apply in November 2023.  
 
Children living in Reading and attending an infant school will be sent information about the 
application process for admission to a junior school.  
 
Parents/carers are encouraged to apply online via the Reading Parent Portal. The site will be 
open from 10 November 2023 until 15 January 2024.  
 
Parents/carers will be invited to list four schools and rank them in order of preference. 
Parents/carers may also give reasons for their preferences. Parents/carers may list any state 
schools, including those outside the local authority; this includes academies, voluntary aided 
and voluntary controlled Schools. 
 
The Reading common application form (and the online terms and conditions) will include a 
statement requiring parents to confirm they have read the Guide for Parents and Carers and 
accept the policies and procedures in that document. 
 
Parents/carers should return their completed forms directly to the school admissions team 
at BFfC.  

Parents/carers will complete the common application form online by the agreed deadline. 
The school admissions team will validate the application address. Validation, where 
possible, will be by reference to Council Tax data held by the local authority. Where this is 
not possible, proof of residence will be required in the form of ownership documents or 
tenancy agreement. 

Where, as part of its admission arrangements, a school requires additional information, 
parents/carers may also choose to complete a supplementary form to support their 
application. This should be submitted separately to the school.  The Guide for Parents and 
Carers will identify those Reading schools for which a supplementary form may be necessary. 
These forms will be available from the BFfC website. Supplementary forms are not 
applications and parent/carers must apply to Reading school admissions either on the 
common application form or online.  
 
The National Closing Date is 15 January 2024. 
 
 

Page 36



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council Primary, Infant and Junior Schools for 
the 2024/2025 academic year. 

5 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Late Applications 
Applications received after the closing date will be treated as ‘late’ applications. However, if 
the late submission of the application is caused by extenuating circumstances (e.g. sudden 
illness or death of a close family member or the family having very recently moved to the 
area). the application may be accepted as “on time”. The reason for late submission must be 
supported with documentary evidence received before 1 February 2024.  
 
Where no evidence is provided, it will be assumed that the application could reasonably have 
been submitted by the closing date. In such cases, the application will be treated as late and 
considered after all on time applications have been allocated. 
 
All applications received from the 2 February are considered late and will be passed to the 
appropriate admission authority in Reading (or to the appropriate local authority) 
approximately two weeks after National Offer Day. 
 
In these cases, parents/carers will be informed about the outcome of their application as 
per the timetable below, after National Offer Day. Unsuccessful applications for 
oversubscribed schools will be added to the waiting lists of those schools and ranked 
according to their oversubscription criteria.  

Late applications will be processed approximately two weeks after national offer day. The 
first round of post-National Offer Day allocations will be at the end of May 2024. After this 
date late application will be processed regularly. In each case, the cut-off date for 
consideration in each round of allocations will be 1 week prior to the allocation date. 

Changes of preference 
Changes of preference must be submitted using a new application form (paper or online). If 
received by the school admissions team before 15 January 2024 it will be accepted as on time 
and will replace any previous application.  Any preferences to be retained from a previous 
application should be listed on subsequent applications. 
 
Changes of preference received after 15 January 2024 will be treated as late applications in 
the way described above. However, applications for late change of preference where there 
are extenuating circumstances (e.g. sudden illness or death of a close family member or the 
family having very recently moved to the area) may be treated as on time, provided written 
evidence is supplied to support the late submission.  This should be received by the school 
admissions team before 1 February 2024. If no evidence is provided, the application will be 
treated as late. Any application for change of preference(s) received after 1 February 2024 
will replace any previous application and be marked as late.  
 
Please think very carefully about submitting an application after this date, particularly if you 
have already submitted an on time application. 
 

Page 37



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council Primary, Infant and Junior Schools for 
the 2024/2025 academic year. 

6 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Approximately two weeks after National Offer Day, late changes of preferences will be passed 
to the appropriate admission authority in Reading or to the appropriate local authority to be 
considered. 

Change of Address 
As required by the School Admissions Code 2021, changes of address made after 15 January 
and before 1 February 2024 may be considered as on time. If an applicant changes address 
after the 1 February 2024 they will need to submit a new application, based on the new 
address. The new application will be marked as late and their previous application may be 
withdrawn.  Documentary evidence of the change of address will be required. 

Processing Applications 

Exchange of information 
As per the timetable below, the Reading school admissions team will forward applications to 
other local authorities and admission authorities in Reading. At the same time other local 
authorities will forward applications to Reading for their residents to be considered for 
Reading schools.  
 
Depending on the arrangements agreed with the governing body of each school, the school 
admissions team will provide the school with relevant information to enable them to rank 
against their oversubscription criteria, as per the timetable. Reading school admissions will 
not pass on the details of the parent/carers preference ranking to the school, and no school 
will be told about other schools a parent has listed. 
 
As per the timetable, each admission authority in Reading will rank the applications according 
to their published oversubscription criteria and return ranked lists to the school admissions 
team.  
 

Resolving multiple offers 
As per the timetable, Reading school admissions will inform other local authorities of places 
offered in Reading schools to their residents. During the exchange of information, Reading 
school admissions will consider all cases where a child can be offered more than one of their 
preferences.  In such cases, a place offered will be at the school a parent/carer listed highest 
in preference.   
 
If a place cannot be offered at one of the preferred schools listed by the parent/carer, a place 
will normally be offered at the catchment school (if that school has spaces remaining) or, the 
nearest Reading school with a place available.  If the offered school is one where Reading 
Borough Council is not the admission authority, this will be in consultation with the governing 
body of the school in question. If the nearest school with places is a faith school, 
parents/carers will be offered this as an option. Should the parent/carer be unhappy with a 

Page 38



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council Primary, Infant and Junior Schools for 
the 2024/2025 academic year. 

7 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

faith school being offered, they will be informed of other schools with available spaces (which 
may be further from their home). Where no places are available at any Reading schools, 
parents/carers will be informed and alternative schools (outside Reading Borough) may be 
offered. Such an offer will depend on availability and the agreement of the appropriate 
admission authority. This will not preclude parents/carers from requesting an alternative 
school, nor from lodging an appeal for their preferred school with the admission authority. 
 

Informing schools  
As per the timetable, the school admissions team will send each Reading primary and infant 
school a list of pupils to be offered a place at their school. This will be confidential to the 
school and must not be passed on to parents/carers.  
 

Informing Parents 
On National Offer Day, parents/carers who submitted an “on time” online application will 
receive an email with a formal offer and may view their offer online.  
Parents/carers who submitted a paper application will receive details of their offer by letter 
(posted 2nd Class). The formal offer will identify whether the offer is made on behalf of the 
governing body of a school or another local authority.  The letter will: 

- Inform parents/carers of their child’s offered school. 
- Indicate how to accept the offer and the deadline for accepting. 
- Provide information about the right to defer admission to a later term and any 

option for part-time provision. 
- Provide information on school transport. 

If the school offered is not their first preference, parents/carers will also be supplied with 
the following information: 
 

- Where they can find information showing how places were allocated at 
oversubscribed schools in Reading. 

- How to submit an appeal. 
- If the place offered is not their highest preference school(s), the child’s name will be 

added to the waiting list(s) of any school(s) they listed higher in preference. 
Parents/carers are required to advise Reading school admissions if they do not wish 
their child’s name to remain on a waiting list.  

- Contact information for other local authorities. 

Waiting Lists 
Two weeks after National Offer Day, ‘waiting lists’ will be administered for schools with more 
applicants than places available. A child’s position on a waiting list is determined by the 
oversubscription criteria of the school. When a place becomes available, it will be offered to 
the child who is top of the waiting list. A child’s position on a waiting list may go up or down 
for a number of reasons (e.g. pupil withdrawals or new and revised applications). When a 
place is allocated from the waiting list, the child’s current allocation (for a lower preference 

Page 39



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council Primary, Infant and Junior Schools for 
the 2024/2025 academic year. 

8 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

school) will be removed and allocated to another student, if appropriate. It is the 
responsibility of the parent to inform the school admissions team if they no longer wish for 
their child to remain on the waiting list of a school.  It will be assumed that a child is to remain 
on the waiting list of all schools listed higher in preference to one offered (unless the 
parent/carer indicates otherwise). 
 
Waiting lists, for all schools in the Reading Borough, will be kept until 31 August 2025. After 
this date, the policy of the individual school(s) will be followed. When the coordinated 
admissions round ends, on 31 August 2024, waiting lists will continue to be managed as part 
of the In-Year admissions process and follow the individual policy of the school.  

Withdrawing a place 
If the offered place is not accepted within four weeks of national offer day, Reading school 
admissions will send a reminder and allow a further seven days for a reply. If there is still no 
response, the offer may be withdrawn. If it arises that a school offer was based on fraudulent, 
or intentionally misleading, information (which denied the place to another child), the place 
will be withdrawn 

Requests for admission outside the normal age group 
Parents/carers  may request their child be admitted outside the year group suggested by the 
child’s date of birth (i.e. admission to Reception, rather than Year 1, in September 2025). In 
such cases, applicants should apply using the common application form by 15 January 2024. 
They should also complete the offset request form (having read the separate guide). The 
offset request form should be submitted to the school admissions team before 1 February 
2024 to be considered prior to National Offer Day. The application will be forwarded to the 
relevant admissions authority of the listed schools for consideration and the school 
admissions team will seek the views of the child’s early years setting. Each case will be 
carefully considered by the admissions authority. Parents/carers will be informed of the 
decision in writing, before the National Offer Day, setting out clearly the reasons for the 
decision. Any request received after 1 February 2024, will be processed after National Offer 
Day. 
 
If the offset request is agreed, parents/carers must formally accept it. Following this, their 
application submitted for September 2024 is withdrawn. Parents/carers are not told which 
school their child was allocated before accepting/declining the offset. A new application must 
then be submitted in the following year for entry from September 2025. 
 
Requests for schools outside Reading will be referred to the relevant local authority for 
consideration under that Council’s scheme. 
 
One admission authority cannot be required to honour a decision made by another admission 
authority on admission outside the normal age group. Therefore, if an application for 2025 
entry lists different schools to the application withdrawn in 2024, it will (if required) be 

Page 40



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council Primary, Infant and Junior Schools for 
the 2024/2025 academic year. 

9 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

forwarded to different admissions authorities for their consideration. Where this is the case, 
the offset request form must be resubmitted. 

Disputes between Parents 
Anyone with parental responsibility may apply for their child’s school place and list up to four 
preferred schools. However, the child’s address on the application should be recorded as the place 
they spend most of the week as set out in our definition of ‘Home Address’  

When completing application forms, parents/carers must tick to confirm they have parental 
responsibility for the child and that their application is made with the agreement of all parties having 
parental responsibility.  

Where parents disagree over which school preferences should be named, we recommend starting 
the following process as early as possible as national closing dates are fixed and cannot be extended 
under any circumstances. 

We urge parents to work together in the best interests of their child; it is advised that the applicant 
should inform all other parties who have parental responsibility before submitting the application. 

All parties should agree with the school preferences to be listed. Any disagreements should be 
resolved before an application is submitted. If parents are unable to reach an amicable agreement, 
they should seek legal advice or recourse through the Family Court. 

You should note that the local authority will only process one application per child and will only 
make one offer of a school place. 

Where more than one application is received, the local authority (or local authorities if parents 
submit applications to more than one) will contact both applicants to advise that more than one 
application has been received and request they complete one application with one set of 
preferences for their child. 

We will not mediate between parents where there is a dispute. Only one application will be 
accepted and the final decision will rest with the local authority after all submitted evidence has 
been considered.  

All evidence must be received by published closing dates, at which point a decision will be made as 
to which application is processed. The local authorities concerned may contact early years or 
education settings noted in the application, or other professionals working with the child where 
applicable, to assist in their decision making. Any evidence provided after the closing date which 
affects the content or processing of the application, may render the application late, and delay an 
offer of a school place. 

 

Page 41



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council Primary, Infant and Junior Schools for 
the 2024/2025 academic year. 

10 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

In-Year Admissions 
The In- Year admissions arrangements for the school year, September 2024 - July 2025 will 
use the determined policies of 2024/2025. 

Parents/carers seeking admission for their child into Year 1 – Year 6 of a primary/infant or 
junior school in Reading Borough must apply to Reading school admissions. Parents/carers 
may apply direct to some voluntary-aided, academy or free schools in the Borough, however, 
the majority most of these schools have opted to be part of the coordinated admission 
arrangements and applications are normally submitted to the Reading school admissions 
team. A list of schools to which a direct application is necessary is available from the BFfC 
website. Where a school listed is in another local authority, the parent/carer will be advised 
to apply directly to that local authority and the application for that school will follow the 
relevant local authority’s scheme 

Timetable for the Primary & Junior School Admissions Round 2024-25 

Action Date 
Guide for Parents and Carers to be placed on BFfC 
Website. 

By 1 September 2023 

Parents/carers to receive application information. By 10 November 2023 

Online admissions site open. 10 November 2023 – 15 
January 2024 

National Closing date for receipt of applications.  15 January 2024 

Late/change of preference applications accepted in 
extenuating circumstances, written support must be 
submitted at time of application. 

1 February 2024 

Application details sent to voluntary-aided/Academes 
schools in Reading and other local authorities. 
Own Admissions Authority schools to provide Reading 
school admissions team with a list of children ranked 
according to the school’s oversubscription criteria. 

During February 2024 

Coordination between other local authorities of offers 
that can be made to their residents in Reading schools.  

By 2 April 2024 

National Offer Day - Offer notifications sent to Reading 
Residents 

16 April 2024 

Deadline for parents to accept. 1 May 2024 
Late applications for over-subscribed schools added to 
the waiting lists/change of preferences processed. 

From 2 May 2024 

Coordination with other LA’s ends. 31 August 2024 
Waiting lists held for Reading schools. 
 

Until at least 31 July 2025 

 

Page 42



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Admission Policy Community Infant, Junior and Primary Schools – September 2024 
   1 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

ADMISSION POLICY FOR COMMUNITY INFANT, JUNIOR 
AND 

PRIMARY SCHOOLS 2024-2025 
 

For September 2024 entry 
Determined on XX 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Admission Policy Community Infant, Junior and Primary Schools – September 2024 
   2 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Contents 
Introduction ........................................................................................................................................ 3 

Other admitting authorities within Reading Borough Council ........................................................... 3 

Cohort ................................................................................................................................................. 3 

Admission of children outside the normal age to Reading Borough Council Community Primary 
Schools ................................................................................................................................................ 3 

Oversubscription Criteria for Community Primary and Infant Schools .............................................. 4 

Priority within the Oversubscription Criteria .................................................................................. 5 

Oversubscription Criteria for Community Junior Schools – Geoffrey Field Junior School .................. 5 

Priority within the oversubscription criteria ................................................................................... 6 

Notes relating to the above oversubscription criteria. ....................................................................... 7 

Note 1 – Category 1 – Looked After Children and Previously Looked After Children .................... 7 

Children who were previously in state care outside England ......................................................... 7 

Note 2 – Category 2 Medical/Social Reasons ................................................................................. 7 

Note 3 – Category 3 – Siblings ........................................................................................................ 8 

Note 4 – Category 3 – Siblings ........................................................................................................ 8 

Catchment area ................................................................................................................................... 8 

Tiebreaker ........................................................................................................................................... 8 

Multiple births (twins, triplets etc.) .................................................................................................... 9 

Parent/Carers ...................................................................................................................................... 9 

Home address ..................................................................................................................................... 9 

Split living arrangements .................................................................................................................. 10 

Siblings .............................................................................................................................................. 11 

Deferring a Place ............................................................................................................................... 11 

Part Time Admissions ........................................................................................................................ 12 

Waiting Lists ...................................................................................................................................... 12 

Returning Crown Servants and Armed Forces Personnel ................................................................. 12 

In-Year Admission Arrangements for the School Year 2024-2025 ................................................... 12 

Appeals .............................................................................................................................................. 13 

Admissions Numbers – Reading Community Infant, Junior and Primary Schools. ........................... 13 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Admission Policy Community Infant, Junior and Primary Schools – September 2024 
   3 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Introduction 
Reading Borough Council is the admitting authority for community and voluntary controlled schools 
within the borough.  
 
Reading Borough Council delivers its school admissions service through Brighter Futures for Children 
(BFfC). BFfC is an independent, not-for-profit company, wholly owned by Reading Borough Council, 
set up in December 2018 to deliver children’s services, early help, education and SEND services in 
Reading 
 
This document sets out the local authority’s admission arrangements for entry to schools in 
September 2024.  
 
The Reading School Admissions policy was last consulted on between 17 October 2018 and 10 
December 2018. There have been no significant changes since that consultation took place, 
therefore no requirement for a public consultation. 
 
These arrangements comply with the School Admissions (Admission Arrangements and Coordination 
of Admission Arrangements) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014, the School Admissions Code 
2021 and the School Admissions Appeals Code 2022. 

 

Other admitting authorities within Reading Borough Council 
Voluntary aided schools, free schools and academies are their own admitting authorities and are 
required to publish their own proposals for consultation (if required) and determine their own 
admissions arrangements. Details of their proposals and/or determined arrangements should be 
obtained from each individual school. 
 
National Offer Day for Primary and Junior Admissions is 16 April 2024 

 

Cohort 
Applications for children born between 1-9-2019 and 31-8-2020 will be considered for 
admission to a reception class in 2024 as part of the 2024/2025 routine admission round. 
Applications for admission to junior schools in September 2024 will be considered for 
those born between 1-9-2016 and 31-8-2017. 
 

Admission of children outside the normal age to Reading Borough 
Council Community Primary Schools 
Children are normally allocated school places according to their chronological age.  However, 
parents may request their child be placed outside of their normal age group, for example, if the child 
is gifted and talented or has experienced problems such as ill health. In addition, the parents of a 
summer born child may choose not to send that child to school until the September following their 
fifth birthday and may request that they are admitted out of their normal age group – to Reception 
rather than Year 1 - in September 2025. 
 
Reading Borough Council, as the Admission Authority for community primary schools, will consider 
each case individually and determine what is in the best interest of the child, taking into account:  
 

Page 45



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Admission Policy Community Infant, Junior and Primary Schools – September 2024 
   4 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

- The parent’s/career’s views.  
- Information about the child’s academic, social, and emotional development from their current 

setting.  
- The child’s medical history and the views of a medical professional (where relevant).  
- Whether the child has previously been educated out of their normal age group.  
- Whether the child may have fallen into a lower age group had they not been born 

prematurely.  
- DfE document ‘Advice on the admission of summer born children’. 
- DfE document ‘School Admissions Code’ 
- LGO document ‘Summer born admissions. 
- The views of the head teacher of the school(s) concerned  
- The views of the child’s early years setting (if attending one) 

 
To request a child’s admission be delayed to September 2025, parents/carers need to read the 
offset guide and complete the required form. It is recommended they make an application for a 
Reception place in the normal way for September 2024 by 15 January 2024 so that the application 
can be considered.  Each case will be reviewed, and parents/carers will be informed of the decision 
in writing, before the National Offer Day, setting out clearly the reasons for the decision. If the 
request to delay admission is agreed, the parents/carers must issue a formal acceptance, declaring 
their intention to proceed on this basis. In this case, the application submitted for September 2024 
entry will be withdrawn (before a Reception place is offered) and a new application must then be 
submitted (for entry in September 2025) when the next primary admissions round opens in 
November 2024. Parents/carers will not be made aware of the school they would have been 
allocated before the decision is accepted or declined. The decision made by Reading school 
admissions panel is not binding on any other Admission Authority and therefore schools may come 
to different decisions based on the evidence. If the request is refused, parents must decide 
whether to accept the offered place for Reception 2024 or refuse it and make an in-year 
application for a Year 1 place in September 2025.  

 

Oversubscription Criteria for Community Primary and Infant Schools 
Children with an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) naming a community primary or infant 
school will be allocated a place above all other children.  

 
The oversubscription criteria take no account of the parent’s/carer’s order of preference. 
Applications for each school named by the parents/carers will be ranked according to the criteria set 
out below if there are more applications than places available. 

 
Category  Notes 
1 A 'looked after child' or a child who was 

previously looked after but immediately after 
being looked after became subject to an 
adoption, child arrangements, or special 
guardianship order including those who appear 
[to the admission authority] to have been in state 
care outside of England and ceased to be in state 
care as a result of being adopted. A looked after 
child is a child who is (a) in the care of a local 
authority, or (b) being provided with 
accommodation by a local authority in the 
exercise of their social services functions (see the 

Provided appropriate 
evidence is submitted – See 
Note 1. 

Page 46



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Admission Policy Community Infant, Junior and Primary Schools – September 2024 
   5 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 
1989). 

2 Families who have strong medical or social grounds 
for their child’s admission to a particular school. 

See Note 2. 

3 Children whose permanent home address is in the 
catchment area of the school and have a sibling at 
the school at the time of application who is 
expected to be attending the school when the child 
is due to start school.  

This category may apply in 
other circumstances - See 
Notes 3 and 4. 

4 Children whose permanent home address is in the 
catchment area of the school. 

 

5 Children whose permanent home address is not in 
the catchment area of the school but have a sibling 
at the school at the time of application who is 
expected to be attending the school when the child 
is due to start school.  

See Note 4. 

6 Children in receipt of Early Years Pupil Premium 
(EYPP) at the time application who attends the 
nursery unit at the school. 

 

7 Other Children  
 

Priority within the Oversubscription Criteria 
Within each of the above categories 1-6 and 8, priority will be given to children who are in receipt of 
the Early Years Pupil Premium (EYPP), Service Premium or Pupil Premium (PP) at the time of 
application. To be considered for these priorities, parents/carers will be required to complete a 
Supplementary Information Form which must be endorsed by the child’s current school or nursery 
confirming that they receive Early Years Pupil Premium (EYPP), Service Premium or Pupil Premium 
(PP) for the child. This form must be completed and returned to the school admissions team prior to 
1 February 2024 in order that this priority may be awarded on time for the routine admissions 
round. Any applications received later than this date will be awarded the priority after national offer 
day. 
 

Oversubscription Criteria for Community Junior Schools – Geoffrey 
Field Junior School  
Children with an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) naming the school will be allocated a place 
above all other children.  

 
The oversubscription criteria take no account of the parent’s/carer’s order of preference and 
applications for each school named by the parents/carers will be ranked according to the criteria set 
out below if there are more applications than places available. 

 
Older siblings still attending the linked junior school will be considered as siblings for admission to 
the infant school. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Admission Policy Community Infant, Junior and Primary Schools – September 2024 
   6 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

 
 
 

 
Category  Notes 
1 A 'looked after child' or a child who was 

previously looked after but immediately after 
being looked after became subject to an 
adoption, child arrangements, or special 
guardianship order91 including those who appear 
[to the admission authority] to have been in state 
care outside of England and ceased to be in state 
care as a result of being adopted. A looked after 
child is a child who is (a) in the care of a local 
authority, or (b) being provided with 
accommodation by a local authority in the 
exercise of their social services functions (see the 
definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 
1989). 

Provided appropriate 
evidence is submitted – See 
Note 1. 

2 Families who have strong medical or social grounds 
for their child’s admission to a particular school. 

See Note 2. 

3 Children whose permanent home address is in the 
catchment area of the school and have a sibling at 
the school, or Geoffrey Field Infant School at the 
time of application who is expected to be attending 
the school when the child is due to start school.  

This category may apply in 
other circumstances - See 
Notes 3 and 4. 

4 Children whose permanent home address is in the 
catchment area of the school. 

 

5 Children whose permanent home address is not in 
the catchment area of the school but have a sibling 
at the school or Geoffrey Field Infant School at the 
time of application who is expected to be attending 
the school when the is due to start school.  

See Note 4. 

6 Children who are attending Geoffrey Field Infant 
School at the time of application. 

 

7 Other Children.  
 

Priority within the oversubscription criteria 
Within each of the above categories 1-6 and 8, priority will be given to children who are in receipt 
of the Early Years Pupil Premium (EYPP), Service Premium or Pupil Premium (PP) at the time of 
application. To be considered for these priorities, parents/carers will be required to complete a 
Supplementary Information Form which must be endorsed by the child’s current school 
confirming that they receive Early Years Pupil Premium (EYPP), Service Premium or Pupil Premium 
(PP) for the child. This form must be completed and returned to the school admissions team prior 
to 1 February 2024 in order that this priority may be awarded on time for the routine admissions 
round. Any applications received later than this date will be awarded the priority after national 
offer day. 
 

Page 48



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Admission Policy Community Infant, Junior and Primary Schools – September 2024 
   7 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Notes relating to the above oversubscription criteria. 

Note 1 – Category 1 – Looked After Children and Previously Looked After Children 
A ‘Looked After’ child is a) in the care of a local authority, or b) being provided with accommodation 
by a local authority in the exercise of their social services functions as defined in Section 22(1) of the 
Children Act 1989 at the time of making an application for a school place.  
  
A previously ‘Looked After’ child is a child who was looked after but has been adopted or became 
subject to a child arrangement order or special guardianship order immediately following having 
been ‘Looked After’. Confirmation will be required from the local authority that last looked after the 
child that the child was looked after immediately prior to the issuing of one of the following orders: 
 
An adoption order is an order under the Adoption Act 1976 (see Section 12 adoption orders) and 
children who were adopted under the Adoption and Children Act 2002 (see Section 46 adoption 
orders).  A ‘child arrangements order’ is an order settling the arrangements to be made as to the 
person with whom the child is to live under Section 8 of the Children Act 1989 as amended by 
Section 14 of the Children and Families Act 2014. Section 14A of the Children Act 1989 defines a 
‘special guardianship order’ as an order appointing one or more individuals to be a child’s special 
guardian (or special guardians). 
 

Children who were previously in state care outside England 
A child is regarded as having been in state care outside of England if they were in the care of or were 
accommodated by a public authority, a religious organisation, or any other provider of care whose 
sole or main purpose is to benefit society. 
The care may have been provided in an orphanage or other setting but the child may have been 
adopted and is no longer in state care.  Evidence of the previously looked after status and/or the 
adoption will be requested.  Where such evidence is not available, the Admissions Authority will work 
closely with BFfC Virtual School for Children Looked After to make a pragmatic decision based on the 
information available so that there is a local consistent approach. 
 

Note 2 – Category 2 Medical/Social Reasons 
When applying under criterion 2, families who have strong medical or social grounds for their child’s 
admission to a particular school must provide written evidence.  This should come from an 
independent professional aware of the case relating to the child, parent/carer or other children 
living at the same address (e.g. doctor, hospital consultant or psychologist for medical grounds or 
registered social or care worker, housing officer, the police or probation officer for social needs). 
This evidence must: be specific to the school in question; show why that school is the most suitable; 
what facilities will benefit the child, and why no other school can offer the same support. It is not 
enough for the professional to report what the parent/carer has told them. 
 
If failure in awarding this priority would result in no appropriate school being allocated, the panel, 
after taking considering the evidence submitted, the parental preference and the catchment school, 
will allow categorization of medical/social grounds to the most appropriate school. This applies to 
those children whose social/medical needs can be met by one than one school but not many 
schools. For example, when reasons are due to mobility issues and a number of schools are equal 
distance and failure to award this would result in no appropriate school being allocated.  
 
In addition, this category includes children who are subject to a child arrangement order or special 
guardianship order awarded to a family member in order to prevent the child being taken into care 
by a local authority. A copy of the order must be provided. 

Page 49



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Admission Policy Community Infant, Junior and Primary Schools – September 2024 
   8 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

 
No individual officer will take responsibility for determining whether a case is ranked in the category. 
A panel of officers in the form of the School Admissions Panel will make the final decision. Evidence 
must be provided by 1 February 2024 to be considered as on time for National Offer Day. If evidence 
is received by the team after this date then it is at the discretion of the panel whether to accept 
these documents for “on time” allocations. The admissions team will not prompt parents to send 
evidence to support admission under this category but they may ask for further evidence if this is 
required to make a decision. If evidence is received before the 1 February 2024 parents will be 
informed, in writing, before National Offer Day as to whether this has been granted. This is not a 
guarantee of a place at a particular school. 
 

Note 3 – Category 3 – Siblings  
Children whose home address is in the former catchment area of a school and have a sibling at the 
school and that sibling was admitted to the school from the same address will be treated as category 
4 of the oversubscription criteria. 
 

Note 4 – Category 3 – Siblings  
If parents/carers applied for a place at their catchment area school for their child and it was not 
possible to offer a place at that school because the school was oversubscribed, a sibling protection 
applies. Where the child was admitted to a lower preference Reading community primary school or 
allocated a place by the authority at an alternative Reading community primary school, the 
application for any younger siblings for that school will be treated as “catchment area” and 
considered under category 4. Where a parent does not list all schools in the catchment area for the 
home address at the time of application and a place would have been offered at a catchment area 
school had it been listed, they forfeit the right to sibling protection. Parents/carers must inform the 
admissions team at the time of application if they consider this exemption applies. 
 
Where a space is allocated as part of an in-year admission at a school listed second preference or 
lower, or if a school closer to the child’s home address was available to parents and was refused, 
parents forfeit the right to this sibling protection for future admissions. Parents will be informed at 
the time of allocation if this right has been forfeited. 
 

Catchment area 
The catchment area of the schools can be seen from attached maps. These are a guide only. Exact 
catchment area information for individual addresses can be found on Reading Borough Council’s 
website https://my.reading.gov.uk/  
 
 

Tiebreaker 
If a school does not have enough places for all children in a particular category, places will be 
allocated to those living nearest the school. The distance is measured in miles as a straight line 
between the Ordnance Survey data point for the child’s home address and the school using Reading 
Borough Council digital mapping software. This distance is measured to three decimal places. In the 
rare event that it is not possible to decide between the applications of those pupils who have the 
same distance measurement, the place will be offered using random allocation. A member of 
Committee Services staff for Reading Borough Council will supervise the selection process. 
 

Page 50

https://my.reading.gov.uk/


Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Admission Policy Community Infant, Junior and Primary Schools – September 2024 
   9 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Multiple births (twins, triplets etc.) 
Places are offered according to the oversubscription criteria. However, where this would result in 
splitting children of multiple births, the other sibling(s) will be offered a place in most cases. In very 
exceptional circumstances, where the admission of more than one additional child to the year group 
causes prejudice to the provision of efficient education and efficient use of resources it may not be 
possible to offer a place to all multiple birth children.  
 
In cases where siblings attending the same year group, but with different birth dates are split by the 
oversubscription criteria, only one child will be offered a place. This applies to children during Key 
stage 1 (up to and including Year 2) if admission would take a class over 30 pupils. Selection will be 
made randomly by a representative of Reading Borough Council’s Committee Services. The parents 
may decline the offer and seek places for all siblings at another school or accept the place for one of 
the siblings. In the latter case, the other sibling’s name(s) will be added to the waiting list. If 
admission is in Key Stage 2, or the admission of the other siblings will not contravene infant class size 
regulations, then each case will be considered. Often, the other child/children will be offered a place 
(on the condition that the admission will not prejudice the provision of efficient education and 
efficient use of resources). 
 

Parent/Carers 
A parent/carer is any person who has parental responsibility or care of the child. Parental 
responsibility for a child is set out in the Children Act 1989. Normally this parent/carer would reside 
with the child at the permanent home address stated on the application.  
 

Home address 
Applications are processed based on the child’s single permanent home address where the child 
lives, with parent(s) or a carer/legal guardian, on the closing date for applications. By applying, the 
parent/carer/legal guardian is confirming the child will be living at that address on National Offer 
Day.  An address will not be accepted where the child is resident - other than with a parent or carer - 
unless it is part of a private fostering or formal care arrangement.  
 
Checks will be made to determine whether an address declared on the application form is that of a 
second home with the main home being elsewhere. Some residential arrangements will be 
considered temporary. In such cases, the School Admissions Team will examine available evidence to 
determine whether, on balance, the declared home address may be considered the child’s 
permanent home for the purpose of admission. Any circumstance where the declared address is to 
be accepted as the permanent home, despite another home being owned or otherwise available for 
occupation, should be declared at the point of application. Without being exhaustive these this 
might include:  

• an owned property being a considerable distance from the preferred school, indicating that 
the family had permanently relocated to the new home; or  

• an owned property that is uninhabitable and cannot reasonably be made habitable in the 
period leading up to admission to the school; or  

• an owned property that is in the process of being sold and the family live permanently in the 
declared property; or  

• a situation, following divorce or separation, where the family home cannot be occupied by 
the applicant or otherwise treated as the child’s permanent home.   

 

Page 51



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Admission Policy Community Infant, Junior and Primary Schools – September 2024 
   10 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Where the declared address is rented and the applicant has no claim on any other property, the 
declared address may be considered temporary if there is evidence to suggest the applicant has 
chosen to rent the property solely for the period necessary for their child to be admitted to a 
particular school.  
 
Reference to Reading Borough Council tax records will be made to determine a single address for 
consideration of a place under criteria 4 or 5. It is for the applicant to satisfy the admissions 
authority that they live at the address stated.  
 
Applicants will be asked to declare that the address used is expected to be their place of residence 
beyond the date of the pupil starting school. Applicants are required to advise of any change of 
circumstance at any time prior to the child starting school. If the applicant does not declare such 
arrangements (or a different address is used on the application where the child does not usually 
live), it will be considered that a false declaration has been made. This may result in a decision being 
taken to decline to offer a place at a particular school, or to withdraw the offer of a place. In 
deciding whether an allocation was based on a misleading or fraudulent application, an admissions 
panel will consider any supporting evidence giving reasons why the move was necessary prior to the 
child starting school.  
 
It is important to declare if there is to be a change of address prior to the child starting school. If the 
applicant already owns a property which is in the process of being sold, the admissions team are 
able to accept the address of the new property only on submission of the appropriate evidence in 
support (e.g. completion of contracts letter on both the new property and, where possible, disposal 
of their current property).  The deadline for submission of evidence to support a move is 1 February 
2024.  
 
If the applicant is renting the property, the tenancy agreement must be dated 1 February 2024 or 
prior, to be accepted as on time. If the tenancy agreement expires prior to National Offer Day, the 
applicant must provide evidence showing that they still reside at the property past that date. If the 
applicant moves to a new rented property after the 1 February, the application will be marked late 
and considered after National Offer Day. 
 
A temporary address cannot be used to obtain a school place. Temporary addresses will only be 
considered where evidence is provided of a genuine reason for the move e.g. flooding or subsidence.  
 
Reading school admissions reserves its right to carry out further investigation, request additional 
evidence and to reject applications (or withdraw offers of places) if it believes it has the grounds to 
do so. In such cases, the applicant will have recourse to the independent appeals process. Where it is 
believed an address provided is not the only address, the Corporate Audit & Investigation Team may 
be called upon to investigate further.  
 

Split living arrangements 
Where a family claims to be resident at more than one address, justification and evidence of the 
family’s circumstances will be required (e.g. formal residence order, child arrangements order or 
legal separation documentation). The application must be completed by the parent using the 
address which is owned, leased or rented and where the child lives for the majority of the school 
week. This is based on the number of school nights a child spends at the address (from Sunday at 
6pm to Friday at 9am). 
 
Where children live across two addresses, families cannot use whichever address would advantage 
their child’s admission into a certain school. 

Page 52



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Admission Policy Community Infant, Junior and Primary Schools – September 2024 
   11 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

 
Where there is an equal split or there is any doubt about residence, the School Admissions Team will 
assess and make a judgment about which address to use for the purpose of allocating a school place. 
Where necessary, further information may be requested, for example: 
  

• any legal documentation confirming residence 

• the pattern of residence 

• the duration of the current arrangement 

• confirmation from the current school or early years setting of the primary contact details 
and home address supplied to it by the parents 

• the address where child benefit or other benefit (if applicable) is paid 

• where the child is registered with their GP 

• any other evidence the parents may supply to verify the position. 

 
It is recommended that consensus is reached by both parties (and the child) regarding the school 
preferences listed. It should be noted that only one offer letter will be sent to the main applicant, 
unless otherwise requested and agreed by both parties. 
 
The information provided to determine the home address will be considered by an admissions panel 
of at least two officers and their decision is final. 
 

Siblings 
For the purposes of admissions criteria during the main primary admission round, “siblings” are 
older siblings already attending the preferred school. However, Geoffrey Field Junior School will 
consider a younger sibling attending Geoffrey Field Infant School. In-year applications will consider 
younger siblings, but not a sibling attending the nursery class of a school.  
 
Siblings are children who have either the same mother or father, or they are children who live 
together in a family unit and with their parent(s)/carer(s). Siblings must live at the same permanent 
home address as each other. If they do not live at the same address, then they are not treated as 
siblings for the purpose of admission. 
 
A child who is part of a multiple birth (e.g. twins) is not classed a sibling for the purpose of ranking by 
oversubscription criteria. However, where application of the oversubscription criteria would result in 
splitting children from a multiple birth, the other child/children will usually be admitted to the 
school. 

 

Deferring a Place 
Upon receipt of an application, the local authority is legally required to offer every child a full-time 
Reception place to start in the September following their fourth birthday. In Reading schools, places 
are offered in on a full-time basis from September 2024 as a “rising 5” admission. Children do not 
reach statutory (compulsory) school age until the September, January or April following their fifth 
birthday. When children are offered “rising 5” places, parents/carers may decide to defer their 
child’s start until January 2025 or April 2025 (depending on their child’s birth date). In such cases, 

Page 53



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Admission Policy Community Infant, Junior and Primary Schools – September 2024 
   12 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

the offered school must hold the child’s place. However, schools are not obliged to hold a place 
where a parent/carer wishes to defer beyond April 2025 (i.e. at September 2025) as this pushes the 
child’s start into the following academic year. Any parent/carer wishing to defer entry to September 
2025 (i.e. to miss out Reception entirely and start their child in Year 1) must forfeit their child’s 
September 2024 school offer and re-apply for a Year 1 place in July 2025. They should also consider 
that places may not be available if their preferred school has become oversubscribed by this time. 
 
 

Part Time Admissions  
Parents/carers may request their child be admitted on a part time basis for an initial period (but 
not beyond the point at which their child reaches compulsory school age). Where a parent/carer 
chooses this option, they cannot insist on part-time provision that is individually tailored to their 
needs. Parents/carers must consult with the Headteacher of the allocated school to agree the best 
arrangement for both child and school. 
 

Waiting Lists 
Approximately two weeks after National Offer Day ‘waiting lists’ will be created for Reading 
schools. Children will be added to the waiting list of any school their parents/carers listed higher in 
preference to the school they were offered. A child’s position on the waiting list is determined by 
the oversubscription criteria. The list will be re-ranked whenever new children are added following 
late applications or changes of preference. When a place becomes available, it is offered to the child 
ranked highest on the waiting list. After 1 September 2024, children identified for placement as part 
of the Fair Access Protocol can be placed above those on the waiting list. Positions on the waiting 
lists may go up or down due to pupil withdrawals, new or revised applications. Reading school 
admissions will keep waiting lists until end of July 2025 (end of Term 6 for Reception classes). After 
this date, the waiting lists will be abandoned. Parents/carers must then re-apply for a place in Year 1 
as an in-year admissions applicant if they are still interested in obtaining a place for their child. 
 

Returning Crown Servants and Armed Forces Personnel 
Families of Crown servants returning from overseas to live in the Reading Borough or applicants 
relocating in the armed forces may apply for a place in advance of their move provided the 
application is accompanied by an official letter confirming the posting to the UK and the expected 
relocation date. A school will be offered in advance of a move and held until the appropriate time. If 
the schools listed on an application form are oversubscribed, the family will need to provide an 
address to be ranked accordingly. Where a parent is unable to provide confirmation of a relocation 
address, an indication of the area may be provided, narrowed down as far as possible, to which the 
family intend to return. Preferences will be processed but applications will be considered under 
criterion 7 (other children) until the parent is able to provide confirmation of the new address (e.g. 
proof of exchange of contracts or a signed rental agreement). If a place cannot be offered at a 
preferred school, an alternative school will be offered, and parents will be advised of the right of 
appeal for a place at the preferred school. It is the responsibility of parents to keep the school 
admissions team informed of any changes to their planned address during the application process. 
 
In-Year Admission Arrangements for the School Year 2024-2025. 
The In- Year admissions arrangements for the school year, September 2024- July 2025 will use the 
determined policies of 2024/2025. 
 
Parents/carers seeking admission for their child into Year 1 – Year 6 in a community primary school 

Page 54



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Admission Policy Community Infant, Junior and Primary Schools – September 2024 
   13 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

in Reading Borough must apply to Reading school admissions using the In-Year Application form. 
Parents/carers may apply direct to some voluntary-aided or academy schools in the Borough but the 
majority of these schools have opted to be part of the coordinated admission arrangements and 
applications are normally submitted to the Reading school admissions team. A list of those schools 
to which a direct application is necessary is available from the Brighter Futures for Children website. 
 
If there is a place in the parent’s/carer’s preferred school, the place will be allocated, however, if 
there are more applications than places available the oversubscription criteria (as outlined above) 
will apply with places allocated to the child(ren) ranked highest. Remaining applicants will be added 
to the waiting list which will also be ranked according to the oversubscription criteria. Children 
allocated according to the Fair Access Protocol will take precedent over children on the waiting list. 
 
Those children new to the area, or who have moved within the borough, will be able to start at the 
school as soon as possible after their move. If the request is to move schools within the borough 
without a move of home, these children will normally be expected to start at the beginning of the 
following term.  
Waiting lists for admission in Years 1 to 6 will be held until 31 December 2024 after which 
parents/carers must reapply for their child to remain on the waiting list until July 2025. The waiting 
list will be abandoned after 31 July 2025 and parents/carers must reapply if they are still seeking a 
place for September 2025.  
 

Appeals 
If it is not possible to offer a place at the preferred school(s), parents/carers will be advised of their 
right of appeal.  
 

Admissions Numbers – Reading Community Infant, Junior and 
Primary Schools. 
The following are the proposed admission numbers for 2024  

 School  September 2024 - Admission Number 

Alfred Sutton Primary 90  
Caversham Park Primary 30 
Caversham Primary 60  
Coley Primary 30 
Emmer Green Primary 60 
EP Collier Primary 60  
Geoffrey Field Infant 90  
Geoffrey Field Junior 90 
Katesgrove Primary 90  
Manor Primary 45 
Micklands Primary 60  
Moorlands Primary 60 
Oxford Road Community  30 
Park Lane Primary 60  
Redlands Primary 30  
Southcote Primary 90   

Page 55



Classification: OFFICIAL 
 

Admission Policy Community Infant, Junior and Primary Schools – September 2024 
   14 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

 School  September 2024 - Admission Number 

St Michael’s Primary 60   
Thameside Primary 60  
The Hill Primary 60  
The Ridgeway Primary 60  
Whitley Park Primary School 90  
Wilson Primary 60  

 

Page 56



P
age 57



P
age 58



Geoffrey Field Junior School 

Title: Primary Schools Desigated Areas

South Reading 

Drg.No.: GIS00013 Date: 09/08/2018 

• 

e Primary School

Primary School Designated Areas 

!

!- I 
i.=. =-----

! Designated Area 

 The Ridgeway

.,_ 

,. Borough Council -p lace" � Reading
Scale at A4: 1 :18000 Working better with you 

Produced by GIS & Mapping Services Ref: G:\MI\D\CD\Edu & Commu\School Admissions\updated primary\designated

© Crown copyright and database rights 2018 Ordnance Survey 100019672 Page 59



P
age 60



Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council Secondary Schools for the 2024/2025 
academic year. 

1 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council 
Secondary Schools for the 2024/2025 academic year. 

 

For September 2024 entry 

Determined on xxx 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 61



Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council Secondary Schools for the 2024/2025 
academic year. 

2 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Contents 
Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 3 

Applications............................................................................................................................................. 4 

Late Applications ..................................................................................................................................... 5 

Changes of preference ............................................................................................................................ 5 

Change of Address .................................................................................................................................. 6 

Processing Applications .......................................................................................................................... 6 

Exchange of information ..................................................................................................................... 6 

Resolving multiple offers .................................................................................................................... 6 

Informing schools ................................................................................................................................ 7 

Informing Parents ............................................................................................................................... 7 

Waiting Lists ............................................................................................................................................ 7 

Withdrawing a place ............................................................................................................................... 8 

Requests for admission outside the normal age group .......................................................................... 8 

Disputes between Parents ...................................................................................................................... 9 

In-Year Admissions ................................................................................................................................ 10 

Timetable for the Secondary School Admissions Round 2023-24 ........................................................ 10 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 62



Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council Secondary Schools for the 2024/2025 
academic year. 

3 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Introduction 
 
Reading Borough Council delivers its school admissions service through Brighter Futures for 
Children (BFfC). BFfC is an independent, not-for-profit company, wholly owned by Reading 
Borough Council, set up in December 2018 to deliver children’s services, early help, education 
and SEND services in Reading.  
 
The Reading coordinated scheme was last consulted on between 17 October 2018 and 10 
December 2018. There have been no significant changes since that consultation took place, 
therefore no requirement for a public consultation. 

 
This Scheme is made under section 84 of the Standards and Framework Act 1998 and in 
accordance with the School Admissions (Admissions Arrangements and Coordination of 
admissions arrangements (England) Regulations 2014.  
 
The purpose of this coordinated scheme for secondary school admissions is to ensure that 
every parent/carer of a child resident in Reading Borough, who has applied, receives one 
offer of a school place at the conclusion of the normal admissions round.  At its heart is clear 
communication between Reading school admissions, other local authorities, community, and 
all state schools in Reading.   
 
Parents/carers who live in the Borough of Reading must apply to Reading school admissions 
if they require a place for their child in any state school as part of a routine admissions round, 
including schools in other local authorities, academies and free schools. Applications cannot 
be submitted to a school or to the local authority in which the school is situated. 
Parents/carers living within any other local authority areas must apply through their own local 
authority admissions service. 
 
Coordination with Reading school admissions does not affect the right of individual admission 
authorities to set and operate their own admission arrangements. Admission authorities for 
Reading schools will need to comply with the timetable set out below. As all schools in 
Reading are foundation, voluntary aided or academies, the governing body of each school will 
consult (if necessary) and determine their own admission arrangements for September 2024. 
 
These arrangements deal mainly with a child’s admission to secondary school during the 
school year from September 2024 to August 2025. The children concerned are typically those 
born between 1 September 2012 and 31 August 2013.  The place offered is a full-time place 
from September 2024.  
 
 
National Offer Day for Secondary Admissions is 1 March 2024 
 
 

Page 63



Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council Secondary Schools for the 2024/2025 
academic year. 

4 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Applications 
 
Reading Borough Council will put in place procedures to, where possible, ensure all 
parents/carers living in the Borough of Reading (with a child eligible to start secondary 
school in September 2024) will be aware of the application process. Eligible children living in 
Reading will receive information about the process in early September 2023. Children who 
attend Reading schools, but who are not resident in Reading, will be advised to apply to 
their home local authority. 
 
Parents/carers are encouraged to apply online via the Reading Parent Portal. The site will be 
open from 8 September 2023 until 31 October 2023.  
 
Parents/carers will be invited to list four preferred schools and rank them in priority order. 
Parents/carers may also give reasons for their preferences. Parents/carers may list any state 
schools, including those outside the local authority; this includes academies, voluntary aided 
and voluntary controlled schools. 
 
The Reading common application form (and the online terms and conditions) will include a 
statement requiring parents to confirm they have read the Guide for Parents and Carers and 
accept the policies and procedures in that document. 
 
Parents/carers should return their completed forms directly to the school admissions team 
at BFfC.  

Parents/carers will complete the common application form online by the agreed deadline. 
The school admissions team will validate the application address. Validation, where 
possible, will be by reference to Council Tax data held by the local authority. Where this is 
not possible, proof of residence will be required in the form of ownership documents or 
tenancy agreement. 

Where, as part of its admission arrangements, a school requires additional information, 
parents/carers may also choose to complete a supplementary form to support their 
application. This should be submitted separately to the school.  The Guide for Parents and 
Carers will identify those Reading schools for which a supplementary form may be necessary. 
These forms will be available from the BFfC website. Supplementary forms are not 
applications and parent/carers must apply to Reading school admissions either on the 
common application form or online.  
 
 
National Closing Date is 31 October 2023. 
 
 
 

Page 64



Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council Secondary Schools for the 2024/2025 
academic year. 

5 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Late Applications 
Applications received after the closing date will be treated as ‘late’ applications. However, if 
the late submission of the application is caused by extenuating circumstances (e.g. sudden 
illness or death of a close family member or the family having very recently moved to the 
area) the application may be accepted as “on time”. The reason for late submission must be 
supported with documentary evidence received before 1 January 2024.  
 
Where no evidence is provided, it will be assumed that the application could reasonably have 
been submitted by the closing date. In such cases, the application will be treated as late and 
considered after all on time applications have been allocated. 
 
All applications received from the 1 January 2024 are considered late and will be passed to 
the appropriate admission authority in Reading (or to the appropriate local authority) 
approximately two weeks after national offer day. 

In these cases, parents/carers will be informed about the outcome of their application as 
per the timetable below, after National Offer Day. Unsuccessful applications for 
oversubscribed schools will be added to the waiting lists of those schools and ranked 
according to their oversubscription criteria.  

Late applications will be processed approximately two weeks after national offer day. The 
first round of post-National Offer Day allocations will be May 2024. After this date, late 
application will be processed regularly. In each case, the cut-off date for consideration in 
each round of allocations will be 1 week prior to the allocation date. 

Changes of preference 
Where the parent/carer wishes to change their preferences, they must submit a new 
application form (paper or online). If this is received by the school admissions team before 31 
October 2023 it will be accepted as on time and will replace any previous application.  Any 
preferences to be retained from a previous application must be listed on any subsequent 
application. 

Changes of preference received after 31 October 2023 will be treated as late applications in 
the way described above. However, applications for late change of preference where there 
are extenuating circumstances (e.g. sudden illness or death of a close family member or the 
family having very recently moved to the area) may be treated as on time, provided written 
evidence is supplied to support the late submission.  This should be received by the school 
admissions team before 1 January 2024. If no evidence is provided, the application will be 
treated as late. Any application for change of preference(s) received after 1 January 2024 will 
replace any previous application and be marked as late.  

Please think very carefully about applying after this date, particularly if you have already 
submitted an on-time application. 

Page 65



Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council Secondary Schools for the 2024/2025 
academic year. 

6 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

Approximately two weeks after national offer day, late changes of preferences will be passed 
to the appropriate admission authority in Reading or to the appropriate local authority to be 
considered. 

Change of Address 
As required by the School Admissions Code 2021, changes of address made after 31 October 
2023 and before 1 January 2024, may be considered as on time. If an applicant changes 
address after the 1 January 2024, they will need to submit a new application based on the 
new address. The new application will be marked as late and their previous application may 
be withdrawn.  Documentary evidence of the change of address will be required. 

Processing Applications 
 

Exchange of information 
As per the timetable below, the Reading school admissions team will forward applications to 
other local authorities and admission authorities in Reading. At the same time, other local 
authorities will forward applications to Reading for their residents to be considered for 
Reading schools.  
 
Depending on the arrangements agreed with the governing body of each school, the school 
admissions team will provide the school with relevant information to enable them to rank 
applicants using their oversubscription criteria, as per the timetable. Reading school 
admissions will not pass on the details of the parent/carer preference ranking to the school, 
and no school will be told about other schools a parent has listed. 
 
As per the timetable, each admission authority in Reading will rank applications according to 
their published oversubscription criteria and return ranked lists to the school admissions 
team.  
 

Resolving multiple offers 
As per the timetable, Reading school admissions will inform other local authorities of places 
offered in Reading schools to their residents. During the exchange of information, Reading 
school admissions will consider all cases where a child can be offered more than one of their 
preferences.  In such cases, a place offered will be at the school a parent/carer listed highest 
in preference.   
 
If a place cannot be offered at one of the preferred schools listed by the parent/carer, a place 
will normally be offered at the catchment school (if that school has spaces remaining) or the 
nearest Reading school with a place available.  If the offered school is one where Reading 
Borough Council is not the admission authority, this will be in consultation with the governing  
 

Page 66



Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council Secondary Schools for the 2024/2025 
academic year. 

7 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

body of the school in question. If the nearest school with places is a faith school, 
parents/carers will be offered this as an option. Should the parent/carer be unhappy with a 
faith school being offered, they will be informed of other schools with available spaces (which 
may be further from their home). Where no places are available at any Reading schools, 
parents/carers will be informed and alternative schools (outside Reading Borough) may be 
offered. Such an offer will depend on availability and the agreement of the appropriate 
admission authority. This will not preclude parents/carers from requesting an alternative 
school, nor from lodging an appeal for their preferred school with the admission authority. 
 

Informing schools  
As per the timetable, the school admissions team will send each Reading Secondary school a 
list of pupils to be offered a place at their school. This will be confidential to the school and 
must not be passed on to parents/carers.  
 

Informing Parents 
On National Offer Day, parents/carers who submitted an online application will receive an 
email with a formal offer and may view their offer online.  
Parents/carers who submitted a paper application will receive a letter (posted 2nd Class) 
containing their child’s offer of a secondary school place. The formal offer will identify 
whether the offer is made on behalf of the governing body of a school or another local 
authority.  The letter will: 

- Inform parents/carers of their child’s offered school. 
- Indicate how to accept a school place and the deadline for accepting. 
- Provide information on school transport. 

If the offered school is not their first preference, parents/carers will also be supplied with 
the following information: 
 

- Where they can find information showing how places were allocated at 
oversubscribed schools in Reading. 

- How to submit an appeal. 
- If the place offered is not their highest preference school(s), the child’s name will be 

added to the waiting list(s) of any school(s) they listed higher in preference. 
Parents/carers are required to advise Reading school admissions if they do not wish 
their child’s name to remain on a waiting list.  

- Contact information for other local authorities. 

Waiting Lists 
Two weeks after National Offer Day, ‘waiting lists’ will be administered for schools with more 
applicants than places available. A child’s position on a waiting list is determined by the 
oversubscription criteria of the school. When a place becomes available, it will be offered to 
the child who is top of the waiting list. A child’s position on a waiting list may go up or down 
for a number of reasons (e.g. pupil withdrawals or new and revised applications). When a 
place is allocated from the waiting list, the child’s current allocation (for a lower preference 

Page 67



Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council Secondary Schools for the 2024/2025 
academic year. 

8 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

school) will be removed and allocated to another student, if appropriate. It is the 
responsibility of the parent to inform the school admissions team if they no longer wish for 
their child to remain on the waiting list of a school.  It will be assumed that a child is to remain 
on the waiting list of all schools listed higher in preference to one offered (unless the 
parent/carer indicates otherwise). 
 
Waiting lists for all schools in Reading Borough will be kept until the end of 31 December 
2024. After this date, the policy of the individual school(s) will be followed. When the 
coordinated admissions round ends, on 31 August 2024, waiting lists will continue to be 
managed as part of the In-Year admissions process and follow t. 

Withdrawing a place 
If the offered place is not accepted within four weeks of national offer day, Reading school 
admissions will send a reminder and allow a further seven days for a reply. If there is still no 
response, the offer may be withdrawn. If it arises that a school offer was based on fraudulent, 
or intentionally misleading, information (which denied the place to another child), the place 
will be withdrawn 

Requests for admission outside the normal age group 
In exceptional circumstances, applications may be received for children who are not currently 
studying in the school year appropriate to their age. Where this arises, the schools requested 
will consider the circumstances of each case. Applications for these children will normally be 
processed with all other children, and these children will be permitted to enter their allocated 
secondary school.  
 
Applicants should apply using the common application form by 31 October 2023. Parents 
must outline their reasons for the request and supply supporting documents (e.g. information 
from their child’s education setting or medical evidence). They should also provide 
confirmation from their current school that their child is studying outside their normal year 
group, in Year 6. The school admissions team will forward this information to the listed 
schools for consideration. Each case will be carefully considered by the admissions authority 
and parents/carers will be informed of the decision in writing, before National Offer Day, 
setting out clearly the reasons for the decision. One admission authority cannot be required 
to honour a decision made by another admission authority on admission out of the normal 
age group.    

 
Requests for schools outside Reading will be referred to the council in whose area the school 
is located for consideration under that council’s scheme.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68



Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council Secondary Schools for the 2024/2025 
academic year. 

9 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

 
 
Transgender Students  
Where a transgender pupil wishes to apply for a single-sex school, they must do so in the 
normal way (outlined in this policy) by completing the Common Application Form. Reading 
school admissions will coordinate these admissions; however, it is for the admissions 
authority of the school(s) listed on the application to decide on the case. Where a place is 
refused, parents will be notified of their right to appeal. 

Disputes between Parents 
Anyone with parental responsibility may apply for their child’s school place and list up to four 
preferred schools. However, the child’s address on the application should be recorded as the place 
they spend most of the week as set out in our definition of ‘Home Address’  

When completing application forms, parents/carers must tick to confirm they have parental 
responsibility for the child and that their application is made with the agreement of all parties having 
parental responsibility.  

Where parents disagree over which school preferences should be named, we recommend starting 
the following process as early as possible as national closing dates are fixed and cannot be extended 
under any circumstances. 

We urge parents to work together in the best interests of their child; it is advised that the applicant 
should inform all other parties who have parental responsibility before submitting the application. 

All parties should agree with the school preferences to be listed. Any disagreements should be 
resolved before an application is submitted. If parents are unable to reach an amicable agreement, 
they should seek legal advice or recourse through the Family Court. 

You should note that the local authority will only process one application per child and will only 
make one offer of a school place. 

Where more than one application is received, the local authority (or local authorities if parents 
submit applications to more than one) will contact both applicants to advise that more than one 
application has been received and request they complete one application with one set of 
preferences for their child. 

We will not mediate between parents where there is a dispute. Only one application will be 
accepted and the final decision will rest with the local authority after all submitted evidence has 
been considered.  

All evidence must be received by published closing dates, at which point a decision will be made as 
to which application is processed. The local authorities concerned may contact early years or 
education settings noted in the application, or other professionals working with the child where 
applicable, to assist in their decision making. Any evidence provided after the closing date which 
affects the content or processing of the application, may render the application late, and delay an 
offer of a school place. 

Page 69



Coordinated Admissions scheme for Reading Borough Council Secondary Schools for the 2024/2025 
academic year. 

10 
Classification: OFFICIAL 

In-Year Admissions 
The In- Year admissions arrangements for the school year, September 2024- July 2025 will use 
the determined policies of 2024/2025. 
 
Parents/carers seeking admission for their child in Year 7- Year 11 of a secondary school in 
the Reading Borough should in most cases apply to Reading school admissions.  Most 
secondary schools in the borough have opted to be part of the coordinated admission 
arrangements. A list of the schools to which a direct application is necessary may be obtained 
from the BFfC website. Where a school listed is in another local authority, the parent/carer 
will be advised to apply directly to that local authority and the application for that school will 
follow the relevant local authority’s scheme 

Timetable for the Secondary School Admissions Round 2023-24 
 

Action Date 
Guide for Parents and Carers to be placed on BFfC 
Website. 

By 1 September 2023 

Parents/carers to receive application information. By 8 September 2023 

Online admissions site open. 8 September 2023 – 31 
October 2023 
 

National Closing date for receipt of applications.  31 October 2023 
 

Late/change of preference applications accepted in 
extenuating circumstances; written support must be 
submitted at time of application. 

By 31 December 2023 

Application details sent to secondary schools in Reading 
and other local authorities.  
Own Admissions Authority schools to provide Reading 
school admissions team with a list of children ranked 
according to the school’s oversubscription criteria. 

During December 2023- 
January 2024 

Coordination between other local authorities of offers 
that can be made to their residents in Reading schools. 

By 12 February 2024 

National Offer Day - Offer notifications sent to Reading 
Residents  

1 March 2024 

Online applicants can view outcome of application. 1 March 2024 
Deadline for parents to accept. 15 March 2024 
Late applications for over-subscribed schools added to 
the waiting lists/change of preferences processed. 

From 18 March 2024 

Coordination with other LA’s ends. 31 August 2024 
Waiting lists held for Reading schools. 
 

Until at least 31 December 
2024 

 

Page 70



Relevant Area 2024 
1 

 

 
 

Relevant Area. 
 
Reading Borough Council delivers its school admissions service through Brighter Futures for 
Children (BFfC). BFfC is an independent, not-for-profit company, wholly owned by Reading 
Borough Council, set up in December 2018 to deliver children’s services, early help, 
education and SEND services in Reading. 
 
The School Standards & Framework Act 1998 requires Local Authorities to establish 
Relevant Area(s) for admission policy consultations. The Relevant Area is the area in which 
admission authorities must consult with schools regarding their proposed admission 
arrangements before finalising them. 
 
Once the relevant area has been determined, any school or academy proposing to change 
arrangements will need to consult with all other interested parties within this area in line 
with the Schools Admission Code. 
 
Reading’s last consultation ran from 17 October until 9 December 2018 and was determined 
on the 14 February 2019 to ensure that schools and academies use the defined relevant 
area to inform their statutory consultation process on admission arrangements. 
 
Reading has reviewed the current relevant area and as there is no change, this will be 
retained for school year 2024/25. The relevant area was determined as follows: 
 
1. Admissions Authorities must consult on admission arrangements for primary/infant and 
junior schools with 
 
  

• Headteachers and Governing Bodies of all schools in Reading Borough 
• Neighbouring Local Authorities – Oxfordshire County Council, West Berkshire Council 

and Wokingham Borough Council 
• Diocesan Authorities - Oxford Church of England Diocese, Portsmouth and 

Birmingham Catholic Diocese 
• All Academies, Voluntary Aided or Foundation Secondary Schools within 8 kilometres 

(5 miles) of the Reading Borough border 
• All Academies, Voluntary Aided or Foundation primary/junior/infant schools within 

3.2 kilometres (2 miles) of the Reading Borough border 
 
2. Having first consulted with the appropriate Diocese, primary Voluntary Aided schools 
must consult with:  
 

• Reading Borough Council/ Brighter Futures for Children 

Page 71



Relevant Area 2024 
2 

 

• All primary/infant and junior and maintained nursery schools in Reading Borough 
• Neighbouring Local Authorities – Oxfordshire County Council, West Berkshire Council 

and Wokingham Borough Council 
• All Academies, Voluntary Aided or Foundation primary/junior and infants schools 

outside Reading Borough within 3.2 kilometres (2 miles) of the school 
 
3. Primary Academies and Foundation and Trust schools must consult with 
 

• Reading Borough Council / Brighter Futures for Children 
• All primary/infant/junior and maintained nursery schools in Reading Borough 
• Neighbouring Local Authorities – Oxfordshire County Council, West Berkshire Council 

and Wokingham Borough Council 
• All Academies, Voluntary Aided or Foundation primary/junior and infants schools 

outside Reading Borough within 3.2 (2 miles) kilometres of the school 
 
4. Secondary Academies and Foundation schools must consult with: 
 

• Reading Borough Council / Brighter Futures for Children 
• All primary/junior and secondary schools within Reading Borough 
• Neighbouring Local Authorities – Oxfordshire County Council, West Berkshire Council 

and Wokingham Borough Council 
• All Academies, Voluntary Aided or Foundation Secondary Schools within 8 kilometres 

(five miles) of the Reading Borough border 
• All Academies, Voluntary Aided or Foundation primary/junior schools within 3.2 

kilometres (2 miles) of the Reading Borough border 
 
5.  Having first consulted with the appropriate Diocese, Secondary Voluntary Aided schools 
must consult with: 
  

• Reading Borough Council / Brighter Futures for Children 
• All primary/junior and secondary schools within Reading Borough 
• Neighbouring Local Authorities – Oxfordshire County Council, West Berkshire Council 

and Wokingham Borough Council           
• All Academies, Voluntary Aided or Foundation Secondary Schools within 8 kilometres 

(5 miles) of the Reading Borough border 
• All Academies, Voluntary Aided or Foundation primary/junior schools within 3.2 

kilometres (2 miles) of the Reading Borough border 
 
 

  
 

 

Page 72



1 
 
 
 

READING BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT BY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH 

TO: ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND EDUCATION 
COMMITTEE  

DATE: 18 JANUARY 2023   

TITLE: READING’S ALL AGE AUTISM STRATEGY AND ACTION PLAN  

LEAD 
COUNCILLOR: 

CLLR. JOHN ENNIS PORTFOLIO: ADULT SOCIAL CARE  

SERVICE: ADULT SOCIAL 
CARE 

 

WARDS: BOROUGH WIDE 

LEAD OFFICER: SUNNY MEHMI TEL: 0118 937 4586 

JOB TITLE: ASSISTANT 
DIRECTOR – 
OPERATIONS  

E-MAIL: Sunny.mehmi@reading.gov.uk 

 

 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform the Committee of the outcome of the public 
consultation on Reading’s All Age Autism Strategy 2022 – 2026 and to implement this 
strategy and action plan across Reading.  

 
2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 

2.1 That the Adult, Children’s Education Committee note the findings of the public 
consultation for the Reading’s All Age Autism Strategy 

2.2 That the Adult, Children’s Education Committee agree the Reading’s Autism 
Strategy, Action Plan, for children, young people and adults and delegate the 
delivery and oversight to the Autism Partnership Board. 

 

3. POLICY CONTEXT 

 
o      National Context 

 
3.1.1  The Autism Act 2009 set out the requirements for local authorities and NHS bodies to 

work with local partners to improve services and support autistic people. The Act put 
a duty on Government to produce and regularly review an ‘Autism Strategy’ to meet 
the needs of for children, young people and adults with autism in England. The latest 
Autism Strategy was published in July 2021: ‘The national strategy for autistic children, 

Page 73

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Sunny.mehmi@reading.gov.uk


2 
 
 
 

young people and adults: 2021 to 2026. Reading’s strategy and action plan enables 
us to align the national priorities in conjunction with local demands and needs of those 
residents in Reading with autism.  

 
o      Local Context 

 
3.2   Background - How the strategy was shaped 
 
3.2.1   Public and partner engagement has been a core element of developing Reading’s 

Autism All Age Strategy (2022-2026), see Appendix 1, including autistic people and 
their families and carers, third sector and voluntary organisations and professionals 
from across Reading.  Engagement and coproduction took place via interviews, 
workshops, surveys, forums, existing local groups, targeted outreach to groups and 
feedback sessions. This insight was used to inform and shape the strategy, and to test 
emerging findings, recommendations, priorities, and vision development.  

 
3.2.2   Overall, throughout the development of the strategy we received views and 

contributions from 257 people from the surveys and the focus groups. During the initial 
development of the strategy, we received contribution from 227 people and 30 once 
the public consultation opened. 

 
3.2.3  As a result of the engagement and feedback Seven priorities were developed have 

been used as the basis for the strategy:    
1. Improving awareness, understanding and acceptance of autism 
2. Improving support and access to early years, education and supporting 

positive transitions and preparing for adulthood 
3. Increasing employment, vocation and training opportunities autistic 

people  
4. Better lives for autistic people – tackling health and care inequalities 

and building the right support in the community and supporting people 
in inpatient care 

5. Housing and supporting independent living 
6. Keeping safe and the criminal justice system 
7. Supporting families and carers of autistic people 

 
 
3.3 Public Consultation 
 
3.3.1 See section 7. Community Engagement and Information. 

  
4. Current Position 

4.1 Next Steps – Implementation of strategy, priorities and action plan 

4.1.1 The All-age Autism Strategy and Action Plan will be delivered by the Autism 
Partnership Board.  This Board will report directly into the Health and Well Being Board 
to ensure this strategy remains a priority and owned by all partner agencies. 

4.1.2 Each of the seven priority areas, highlighted above, will have a responsible Partner 
agency to lead on that element of the Action Plan, making sure actions are achievable 
and make a difference to our autistic residents. 

Page 74



3 
 
 
 

4.1.3 The Autism Partnership Board will be expected to write an annual report to the Health 
and Well Being Board in the Summer on the progress of the implementation of the All-
age Autism Strategy, its Action Plan, success and issues over the year. 

 

5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS 

5.1 The formation of the Autism Board alongside key partners across the Health, 
Educational and Voluntary sector ensure that Strategic Aims set out in the Reading 
Borough Council Corporate Plan are met:  

 Thriving Communities 

• Committed to tackling inequality in our society, to ensure everyone has an equal 
chance to thrive whatever their economic, social, cultural, ethnic or religious 
background. 

• Prioritising the needs of the most marginalised groups and the most vulnerable 
adults and children in our communities.  

• Tackling the effects of the pandemic, such as increased unemployment, long term 
health problems, mental health issues and social isolation. 
 

5.2 Furthermore the following ambitions are realised through the work plan of the Board, 
All age Autism Strategy and its Action Plan.  

• To promote equality, social inclusion and a safe and healthy environment for all 
• Contributions to Community Safety, Health and Wellbeing of  children, young people 

and adults with autism. 
 
 
 
6. ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 There is no environmental or climate implications arising from this report. 

 

7. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION 

7.1.  Engagement and coproduction took place via a mixture of interviews, workshops, 
surveys, forums, existing local groups, targeted outreach to groups and feedback 
sessions. This insight was used to inform and shape the strategy, and to test emerging 
findings, recommendations, priorities, and vision development. This strategy was 
developed through two phases from November 2021 to May 2022. 

 
Phase 1: defining the current state and needs 
• Reviewing strategic documents, current level of provision and support 
• Determining population health need 
• Stakeholder engagement and consultation 
• Development of an Autism Needs Assessment 

 
The aim of this phase was to understand the existing challenges and identify potential 
future opportunities for improvement to inform the development of the strategy. 

 
Phase 2: Prioritisation, vision and strategy development 

Page 75



4 
 
 
 

• Co-development of a local vision and key aspirations 
• Production of a long list of priorities and action areas 
• Prioritisation process: criteria to review the priorities against to produce a shorter 

list e.g., what will have the greatest impact, can realistically be delivered locally 
• Strategy development and testing with autistic people, their families, and those who 

support them including systems to ensure the strategy and focus reflected 
identified needs, was fit for purpose and adequately ambitious. 

 
7.2   As part of the initial engagement, participation and input from autistic people and those 

who support them was actively sought through a series of focus groups, workshops, 
and a needs analysis survey. We received views and contributions from 257 people 
from the surveys and the focus groups. Previous stakeholder engagement feedback 
from children and young people, and their parents and carers from the previous two 
years was also included. 

 
7.3 The formal public consultation on the strategy and priorities ran for 60 days from 20th 

July 2022 to the 18th September 2022. This extended period was solely due to the 
summer break and the education sector being closed. An online survey was hosted by 
Reading Borough Council to gather feedback.  

7.2 The response to the public consultation was relatively low (30 respondents in total), 
the wider context needs to be taken into consideration as most of the views and 
feedback were gathered and analysed during the Needs Assessment period. 
Engagement and coproduction took place via interviews, workshops, surveys, forums, 
existing local groups, targeted outreach to groups and feedback sessions. This insight 
was used to inform and shape the strategy, and to test emerging findings, 
recommendations, priorities, and vision development.  

7.3 The results of the consultation will support Reading Borough Council, local statutory 
services and voluntary sector partners in meeting our statutory duty to implement 
actions in relation to the provision of services for autistic people in Reading (Ref: The 
National strategy for autistic children, young people and adults: 2021 to 2026 - 
GOV.UK (www.gov.uk).  It will also ensure Reading meet the requirements from the 
Autism Act (2009) (Autism Act 2009 (legislation.gov.uk)) 

Overview and Methodology 
 

7.4 Reading residents, autistic children, young people, adults, and their families and 
carers, as well as people working with or supporting autistic people, in a caring capacity 
or professional role were consulted for the views on the All-age Autism Strategy 2022-
2026 and its Action Plan. 

7.5 The purpose of the public consultation was to confirm that the priorities identified in the 
Needs Assessment reflected what we had been told by autistic children, young people 
and adults and, their families, carers and professional’s supporting them, and that they 
are the ones that the strategy should focus on over the next four years, or if there are 
any other areas that needed to be considered. The results of the consultation 
cemented the chosen priorities for the strategy and will drive the next stage in 
developing the related implementation plans.  

7.6 The public consultation questionnaire was hosted online, and two public events were 
arranged focusing on engaging with autistic people, their families and carers face to 

Page 76

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-strategy-for-autistic-children-young-people-and-adults-2021-to-2026
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-strategy-for-autistic-children-young-people-and-adults-2021-to-2026
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/15/contents


5 
 
 
 

face and online, as well as attending focus groups using the already established links 
with key local groups and partners.  

7.7 Support was offered and provided for people who preferred to use other methods to 
contribute their views, such as hard copy version of the consultation questionnaire, the 
draft strategy and additional support via telephone or email where offered.   

7.8 An Easy Read version of the draft strategy was produced and made available to 
access online and in local libraries during the consultation period. 

7.9 Where engagement activities were held online, support was provided to ensure 
attendees were able to use online platforms (such as TEAMS or Zoom) or could join 
the meeting via a telephone line. Where engagement activities were held face to face, 
additional care was taken to ensure people taking part were in a safe and accessible 
environment. 

Consultation feedback ‘You said, We did’ 

Themes You said We did - Changes we made within the 
strategy 
 

Diagnosis ‘To encourage 
representation of 
transgender and women’ 

Will be a thread throughout the priority 
areas 

Autistic voice ‘more autistic voice, first 
person experiences and 
role models’ 

Already present under Priority 1 within 
the strategy, however changes made to 
make this more explicit   

Autistic people with 
Learning 
Disabilities/Physical 
Disabilities/Mental 
Health issues 

‘recognition of the needs 
of those autistic people 
who have complex 
learning disabilities and/or 
physical disabilities’ and 
mental health issues’ 

Present within the strategy under 
Priority 4 but it will more explicitly 
presented in the implementation plans 

Socialising and getting 
connected 

‘opportunities outside of 
core business hours’ and 
‘online community’ for 
autistic people’ 

Already present under Priority 4, but 
made more explicit in the strategy 

Diagnosis for 
children/young people 

Automatic access to 
speech and language / 
Occupational Therapist / 
Psychological support’ 

No changes made. Currently no 
additional resources available to 
facilitate automatic access. 

Diagnosis for older 
adults 

‘better access to 
diagnosis for older adults’ 
including ‘access to a path 
to official diagnosis 

Already present within the strategy 
under Priorities 4 and 7 

Recognise all carers of 
autistic people 

Strategy ‘is written in the 
language of child and 
parent and hasn't really 
considered the needs of 
carers of adults’ 

Reworded to ensure inclusivity of 
carers of adults (Priority 7) 

Language barriers ‘The future plans should 
include ‘more about how 
to ensure that families 

Already present within the strategy 
under Priority 1 

Page 77



6 
 
 
 

whose English is not as 
good or are vulnerable 
themselves are able to 
access support’ 

Training for 
professionals 

‘Autism needs to be 
taught as a specialty not 
as a general topic’ in 
teaching/childcare 
settings’ 

Already present within the strategy 
under Priority 1 but reworded to be 
made more explicit 

Transition in schools Lack of autistic units in 
secondary schools within 
RBC boundaries 

Currently no resources available to 
facilitate this. However, noted for future 
consideration. 

Transition into 
adulthood 

‘After Preparing for Adults 
Team, there is no 
provision for adults who 
need ongoing adult social 
care support’ 

Present within the strategy under 
Priority 2b 

Educational/Workplace 
settings 

More engagement 
needed with Colleges and 
Universities to design 
training programmes, co-
produced with autistic 
people, around supporting 
autistic people 

Reworded in the strategy under Priority 
3 but it will more explicitly presented in 
the implementation plans 

Planning  Ensure Planning 
Department considers the 
needs of autistic residents 

Embedding with Priority 5 to make 
more explicit 

Partnership work 
(housing) 

Involve local partners to 
address inequalities and 
provide support in finding 
housing 

Present within the strategy under 
Priority 5, however reworded to be 
made more explicit. 

Direct payments 
process 

There is a ‘long winded 
process to get direct 
payment through. The 
process is not clear’ 

Comments have been feedback to 
Adult Social Care and review of Direct 
Payments is currently underway 

Transport The strategy should 
‘highlight more of what is 
positive and happening in 
Reading with regards to 
Transport’. 

Present within the strategy but made 
more explicit 

 

8. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

8.1 Under the Equality Act 2010, Section 149, a public authority must, in the exercise of 
its functions, have due regard to the need to— 
• eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 

prohibited by or under this Act; 
• advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it; 
• foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it. 
 

Page 78



7 
 
 
 

8.2  See Appendix 3 for the full Equality Impact Assessment which has been updated after 
the consultation period. 

 

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 There are no duties for the Local Authority regarding the Autism Board however there 
is a requirement to carry out / implement the Autism Strategy which was published in 
July 2021: ‘The national strategy for autistic children, young people and adults: 2021 
to 2026 on a local level.   The Local Authority also need to consider the needs of 
children, young people and adults as part of our legal duties under the Care and 
Families Act 2014 and Care Act 2014.   

9.2 Under the Section 1 and 4 of the Care Act the Local Authority has a duty to ‘Promote 
individual well-being’ and ‘Provide Information and Advice.  We have a responsibility 
under Section 9 to ‘Assess an adult care and support needs’ and under section 18 a 
‘Duty to meet the care and support needs’. 

 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

10.1 There are currently no significant budget implications regarding the implementation for 
the Strategy and Action Plan. The delivery of the Action Plan would be within existing 
resources and reviewing existing pathways to meet the needs of residents.  The care 
and support needs of children and young people and adults who require social care 
are met as per our legal duties. 

  
  
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

11.1 The Autism Strategy was published in July 2021: ‘The national strategy for autistic 
children, young people and adults: 2021 to 20261. 

11.2 All Age Autism Strategy for Reading 2022 to 2026. – Appendix 1 

11.3 All Age Autism Strategy Action Plan 2022/23 – Appendix 2 

11.4 The Equality Impact Assessment – Appendix 3 

 

 
1 National strategy for autistic children, young people and adults: 2021 to 2026 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Page 79

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-strategy-for-autistic-children-young-people-and-adults-2021-to-2026


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Produced by 
Amanda Nyeke: Public Health & Wellbeing Manager (amanda.nyeke@reading.gov.uk) 

Source of key data and information: Readings All Age Autism Needs Assessment produced by  
 Amanda Nyeke (Amanda.nyeke@reading.gov.uk) 

Kim McCall: Data Analyst (kim.mccall@reading.gov.uk) 
Nina Crispin: Information and Engagement Officer (nina.crispin@reading.gov.uk) 

Correspondence to: amanda.nyeke@reading.gov.uk   
 

Version:2.0 
Last Updated: 26 October 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                

Reading’s All Age 
Autism Strategy  
2022 – 2026

Page 81

mailto:amanda.nyeke@reading.gov.uk
mailto:Amanda.nyeke@reading.gov.uk
mailto:kim.mccall@reading.gov.uk
mailto:nina.crispin@reading.gov.uk
mailto:amanda.nyeke@reading.gov.uk


 

2 
Strategy document  

OUR VISION 
 

 

 

For all of Reading’s autistic 
people, and their families and 

carers, to feel supported, 
included, integrated, and be 

enabled to live their best and 
healthiest lives through 

awareness and support across 
the life course.

The evidence base for this strategy sits within the All-Age Autism Needs Assessment 2022 and 
the two documents are intended to complement each other.

Page 82



 

3 
Strategy document  

Contents 
 

OUR VISION ....................................................................................................................................................2 

Introduction ...................................................................................................................................................4 

What is Autism? .............................................................................................................................................4 

Co-occurring conditions .............................................................................................................................5 

Priorities .........................................................................................................................................................7 

PRIORITY 1 – IMPROVING AWARENESS, UNDERSTANDING AND ACCEPTANCE OF          AUTISM 
WITHIN SOCIETY 7 

PRIORITY 2 – IMPROVING SUPPORT AND ACCESS TO EARLY YEARS, EDUCATION, SUPPORTING ...........10 

POSITIVE TRANSITIONS AND PREPARING FOR ADULTHOOD ....................................................................10 

PRIORITY 3 – SUPPORTING MORE AUTISTIC PEOPLE INTO VOCATIONAL TRAINING AND EMPLOYMENT
 .....................................................................................................................................................................13 

PRIORITY 4 – BETTER LIVES FOR AUTISTIC PEOPLE – TACKLING HEALTH AND CARE INEQUALITIES FOR 
AUTISTIC PEOPLE, BUILDING THE RIGHT SUPPORT IN THE COMMUNITY AND SUPPORTING PEOPLE IN 
INPATIENT CARE ..........................................................................................................................................15 

PRIORITY 5 – HOUSING AND INDEPENDENT LIVING ..................................................................................22 

PRIORITY 6 – KEEPING SAFE AND IMPROVING SUPPORT WITHIN THE CRIMINAL AND               YOUTH 
JUSTICE SYSTEM 25 

PRIORITY 7 – IMPROVING SUPPORT FOR FAMILIES AND CARERS OF AUTISTIC PEOPLE ..........................28 

Delivering our future priorities ....................................................................................................................32 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Throughout this document, we have tried to use Identity-First language (i.e., ‘autistic people’ rather 
than ‘people with autism’) as an umbrella term for all autistic spectrum conditions and disorders, 
including Asperger Syndrome as it is acknowledged that for some, this is the preference of some 
autistic people. Where there is use of alternative language, this is because it is used in the national 
guidance, or the terminology is being cited from data provided in that format. It is acknowledged 
that these are not necessarily the terms everyone would choose. However, this strategy is 
intended to be inclusive to all those identifying with any of these terms, or related terms.

Page 83

https://readinggovuk-my.sharepoint.com/personal/sunny_mehmi_reading_gov_uk/Documents/Autism/All%20Age%20Autism%20Strategy%202022-25%20Final.docx#_Toc120874817
https://readinggovuk-my.sharepoint.com/personal/sunny_mehmi_reading_gov_uk/Documents/Autism/All%20Age%20Autism%20Strategy%202022-25%20Final.docx#_Toc120874817
https://readinggovuk-my.sharepoint.com/personal/sunny_mehmi_reading_gov_uk/Documents/Autism/All%20Age%20Autism%20Strategy%202022-25%20Final.docx#_Toc120874818
https://readinggovuk-my.sharepoint.com/personal/sunny_mehmi_reading_gov_uk/Documents/Autism/All%20Age%20Autism%20Strategy%202022-25%20Final.docx#_Toc120874819
https://readinggovuk-my.sharepoint.com/personal/sunny_mehmi_reading_gov_uk/Documents/Autism/All%20Age%20Autism%20Strategy%202022-25%20Final.docx#_Toc120874820
https://readinggovuk-my.sharepoint.com/personal/sunny_mehmi_reading_gov_uk/Documents/Autism/All%20Age%20Autism%20Strategy%202022-25%20Final.docx#_Toc120874820
https://readinggovuk-my.sharepoint.com/personal/sunny_mehmi_reading_gov_uk/Documents/Autism/All%20Age%20Autism%20Strategy%202022-25%20Final.docx#_Toc120874821
https://readinggovuk-my.sharepoint.com/personal/sunny_mehmi_reading_gov_uk/Documents/Autism/All%20Age%20Autism%20Strategy%202022-25%20Final.docx#_Toc120874821
https://readinggovuk-my.sharepoint.com/personal/sunny_mehmi_reading_gov_uk/Documents/Autism/All%20Age%20Autism%20Strategy%202022-25%20Final.docx#_Toc120874821
https://readinggovuk-my.sharepoint.com/personal/sunny_mehmi_reading_gov_uk/Documents/Autism/All%20Age%20Autism%20Strategy%202022-25%20Final.docx#_Toc120874822
https://readinggovuk-my.sharepoint.com/personal/sunny_mehmi_reading_gov_uk/Documents/Autism/All%20Age%20Autism%20Strategy%202022-25%20Final.docx#_Toc120874823
https://readinggovuk-my.sharepoint.com/personal/sunny_mehmi_reading_gov_uk/Documents/Autism/All%20Age%20Autism%20Strategy%202022-25%20Final.docx#_Toc120874823
https://readinggovuk-my.sharepoint.com/personal/sunny_mehmi_reading_gov_uk/Documents/Autism/All%20Age%20Autism%20Strategy%202022-25%20Final.docx#_Toc120874824


 

4 
 
Strategy document  
 
 

 

Introduction 
 
Autism is a national priority. This Strategy has been brought together by a Steering group made 
up of autistic people, carers, professionals working with autistic people, members of the Autism 
Board and multidisciplinary professionals from across Reading’s system to highlight our joint 
ambitions.  
 
Those engaged throughout the development of this strategy 

• Autistic people, parents, carers 
• Brighter Futures for Children 
• Berkshire West Hub 
• Reading Borough Council, Public Health 

Officers 
• Reading Borough Council, Public Health 

Analyst 
• Berkshire West Public Health 
• Autism Berkshire / Parenting Special 

Children 
• Reading Mencap 
• Thames Valley Police 
• Berkshire Health Foundation Trust (BHFT) 
• Healthwatch Reading 
• Reading Families Forum 
• Talkback CAMEO 

• Liaison and Diversion Service 
• Probation Service 
• Youth Offending Service 
• The Department for Work and Pensions 

(DWP) 
• Job Centre 
• New Directions  
• Other Employments related organisations  
• Special United group 
• Reading Autistic Families Together (RAFT) 
• Compass Recovery College - Autistic adults 
• Reading Families Forum - Attendees 
• Autism Berkshire - Parents/Carers 
• Engine Shed Session - Children/Young 

people 
• Parenting Special Children (Auticulate) 

 
 
What is Autism? 
 
Autism is a lifelong difference in brain functioning that affects how people perceive, communicate, 
and interact with and experience the world around them and others.1 It is recognised as a 
difference, not a medical condition requiring a “cure”.2 Autism is not a learning disability, although 
various reports indicate that approximately 4 in 10 autistic people have a learning disability3 4. 
Within this strategy, we also talk about neurodiversity. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1 National Autistic Society (2020). What is Autism? [online] Autism.org.uk. Available at: https://www.autism.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/what-is-autism.  
2 NHS (2019). What Is autism? [online] NHS. Available at: https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/autism/what-is-autism/ [Accessed Dec. 2021]. 
3 NICE (2018). Context | Learning disabilities and behaviour that challenges: service design and delivery | Guidance |[online] Available at: 
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng93/chapter/Context. 
4 Public Health England (2016). Learning Disabilities Observatory. People with learning disabilities in England 2015: Main report. 

Neurodiversity is the fact that all human beings vary in the way our brains work.
o Take in information in different ways
o Process it in different ways
o Thus, behave in different ways

The Neurodiversity Paradigm
1. Neurodiversity is naturally occurring
2. No one way of being is better than another
3. Neurodiversity operates like other equality diversity dimensions
4. Strength in diversity itself – collective not individual value – Professor Sue Watson

Page 84

https://www.autism.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/what-is-autism
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/autism/what-is-autism/


 

5 
 
Strategy document  
 
 

There is growing support for the Neurodiversity Paradigm, which frames all neurodivergence 
(such as autism, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder [ADHD] and dyslexia) as a positive and 
creative concept to be embraced rather than regarded as a psychological issue.5 
Autism varies widely and is often referred to as a spectrum condition, because of the range of 
ways it can impact on people and the different level of support they may need across their lives.  
 
Some common challenges experienced by autistic people include: 
• Social communication and social interaction (including verbal and non-verbal 

communications; navigating the social world) 
• Repetitive and restrictive behaviour (coping with unpredictability and change) 
• Over or under-sensitivity to sensory stimuli (reaction to sound, touch, taste, etc.) 
• Highly focussed interests or hobbies (may lead to neglect of other aspects of the person’s 

life) 
• Extreme anxiety (particularly in social situations or when facing change) 
• Meltdowns and shutdowns (can be very intense and exhausting for the person)1 
 
Some unique talents and skills that autistic people have include (but not limited to); 
• Having logical and methodical approaches 
• Good problem-solving skills 
• Punctuality and reliability 
• Exceptional attention to detail 
• Creative thinking 
• Strong technical skills (e.g., in IT) with some exceptionally talented and gifted 
 
The causes of autism are unknown. It is common for signs of autism to present themselves from 
a young age. Needs led rather than diagnosis dependent support, with a recognition of 
neurodiversity is vital. 
 
Reading strongly advocates for the importance of neurodiversity, describing autism as a 
difference and not a deficit, seeking to maximise the opportunities for neurodivergent children, 
young people, and adults.6 7 
 
Co-occurring conditions 
Autistic people often have co-occurring conditions, including dyslexia, dyspraxia, epilepsy, 
depression, anxiety, ADHD and behaviours such as difficulty sleeping and self-harm. The 
frequency of co-occurring conditions, means autism is less likely to be diagnosed, leading to 
inequalities in access to health services and care.8 Recent studies have shown that 
approximately 70% of autistic people also meet diagnostic criteria for at least one other (often 
unrecognised) psychiatric disorder that has an impact on daily life. A learning disability occurs in 

 
5 Autism UK (2020). Neurodiversity. [online] Available at: https://autisticuk.org/neurodiversity/ [Accessed Dec. 2021]. 
6 Brighter Futures for Children (2021). A growth approach to autism. [online] Brighter Futures for Children. Available at: 
https://brighterfuturesforchildren.org/professionals/school-standards-services/school-standards-service-a-growth-approach-to-autism/  
7 NICE (2011). Context | Autism spectrum disorder in under 19s: recognition, referral and diagnosis | Guidance | NICE. [online] www.nice.org.uk. Available at: 
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg128/chapter/Context.  
8 WHO (2017). Autism Spectrum Disorders. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/autism-spectrum-disorders. 

Page 85

https://autisticuk.org/neurodiversity/
https://brighterfuturesforchildren.org/professionals/school-standards-services/school-standards-service-a-growth-approach-to-autism/
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg128/chapter/Context


 

6 
 
Strategy document  
 
 

approximately 50% of young autistic people.8 
 
Caring and supporting an autistic person can be demanding but also rewarding. Demands on 
families providing ongoing care and support without breaks can be significant. Societal attitudes 
to autism and the level of support provided by local and national authorities are important factors 
determining the quality of life of autistic people.  
 
Support needs 
 
Some autistic people can live independent lives, but others may face additional challenges and 
require extra care and support. Amongst those that do, the type and level of support needed will 
vary considerably. Some autistic people need full time care, others will benefit from a small 
amount of support to help with certain activities or situations. Support aims to enable autistic 
people to live their lives in the way they choose.9 Although a diagnosis of autism is not always 
necessary to access groups and some services, for many people, being diagnosed with autism 
helps to ensure they are able to receive the right support, including adjustments at work or school, 
and helps them to make sense of their experiences and some of the challenges they face.10 This 
strategy aims to ensure actions are implemented that will benefit all autistic people in Reading 
whether they have a diagnosis or not. 

 
Priorities 
 
This All-Age Autism Strategy for Reading and identified priority areas have been informed by the 
All-Age Autism Needs Assessment and what autistic people and their families, carers and those 
working with autistic people have told us.  

 

 
 
 

  

 
9 National Autistic Society. Available at: Varying support needs (autism.org.uk) 
10 National Autistic Society. Available at: Adults (autism.org.uk) 

Page 86

https://www.autism.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/what-is-autism/varying-support-needs
https://www.autism.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/topics/diagnosis/pre-diagnosis/adults


 

7 
 
Strategy document  
 
 

 

 
 
 

Our Ambition 

An understanding and supportive society to empower autistic children, young people and adults 
to live fulfilling lives while fostering culture change towards acceptance of difference which 
reduces barriers. 

What we know nationally 

The national autism strategy puts emphasis on working towards meaningfully improving public 
understanding and acceptance of autism, and ensuring autistic people feel less isolated/lonely 
and feel more included in their communities. The long-term goal is for more public sector services, 
businesses, and organisations to be more autism inclusive. 
 
What we know in Reading  

Ensuring that autistic people of all ages can enjoy fulfilling lives in Reading depends on improving 
awareness, understanding and acceptance across a wide range of services and within the local 
area as a whole. Children’s centres, schools, youth services, GPs and other health services, and 
voluntary and community organisations and activities – all play their part in helping families to 
identify the signs of autism and access diagnosis, and with developing strategies to support 
autistic people and ensuring that they can access support and opportunities. Universal services 
also play a key role for autistic adults. Emergency services, transport providers, health services 
such as hospitals, leisure services and other statutory services like the Job Centre must make 
reasonable adjustments to ensure that autistic people can access and benefit from their services.  
 
Within Reading’s Brighter Futures for Children’s Autism Advisory Service, families that receive a 
diagnosis of Autism for their child are supported. The Autism Advisor works with various staff and 
organisations to raise awareness, understanding and support autistic people and their families. 
Training uptake is monitored and recorded. Specific training is provided to staff who carry out 
statutory assessments on how to make adjustments in their approach and communication for 
autistic people.  
This training is available to staff in Adult Social Care, Children and Young People’s Social Care, 
the Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS), and the NHS Neurodisability Team. 
Training and awareness delivery can take place through Family Involvements, Seminars, Staff 
Consultations, Home Visits, Virtual Visits and Parent Training through the Living with Autism 6-
week course. 
 
Autism training in schools varies depending on each individual school. The Reading Autism 
Education Trust (AET) training hub has been recently established which all schools can now 
access. This will ensure all schools have access to the same training to ensure consistency 
across Reading. Schools will be asked to embed the AET standards & competencies to help 
ensure a cultural of change is encourage. 
 
Royal Berkshire Hospital has been accepted by National Autistic Society as a pilot site for Oliver 
McGowan Mandatory training. A training programme of Positive Behavioural Support for people 
with learning disability and or autism and behaviour that challenges is being rolled out to key staff 
in health, social care, education, support providers, the voluntary sector and family carers during 
21/22. 
 

          PRIORITY 1 – IMPROVING AWARENESS, UNDERSTANDING AND ACCEPTANCE OF 
     AUTISM WITHIN SOCIETY

Page 87



 

8 
 
Strategy document  
 
 

Although various training has been developed and delivered, there is a need to address gaps 
and for a comprehensive multi-agency autism training plan, raising awareness and facilitating 
access especially for seldom heard autistic groups. 
 
What is important to Reading people 

Through our engagement with autistic people, parent carers and supporting services and 
professionals across Reading, key areas highlighted included: 

Education 
• Behaviour within schools can be misunderstood resulting in inappropriate disciplinary action.  
• Training is needed for both teachers and other children on autism. 
• Build upon existing training resources such as Autism Education Trust (AET) 
• Differing interpretations of meeting need, understanding of autism, is still low 

Social Experience 
• Bullying and exclusion from social events is a common significant problem for autistic 

children. 
• There needs to be more inclusion and training for sports clubs  
• Better awareness of what autism is and environmental/sensory impact on autistic people 

 
Employment 

• Better understanding, awareness, and acceptance of autism by employers and guidelines 
around autism would be beneficial 

• Reasonable adjustments for autistic employees need to be improved 
• There can be a lack of support or employment assistance those over 25 years 
• There needs to be self-esteem building to get into the workplace 

 
Pre and Post Diagnosis Support 

• Need for ongoing improved understanding and awareness of autism within the Education 
sector (building on the AET training available to schools) 

• Some parents find it easier to advocate for their children than others. 
• There needs to be more general awareness, to help break social isolation 
• Some people felt that post diagnosis support is not clear and there is limited information 

between referral and assessment for autism. 
 

Transport 
• Training for transport staff, and better awareness of autism is key to improving services 
• Autism awareness has gone up significantly, but resources have gone down significantly. 
• Support to navigate information, advice and guidance on a wide range of topics 
• Many autistic people are not aware of the services available to them. 
• Positive feedback received for local services provided by the Voluntary Community Sector. 

 
Training 
• Autism awareness raising sessions to support autistic people for: healthcare and education 

professionals, businesses, employers, statutory professions 
• Training for social care teams about parent carer needs assessments, disability legislation 

and clear pathways to support parents experiencing aggression or destructive behaviour from 
their autistic child. Families want their concerns and the impact it has on them acknowledged, 
honesty, and a clear system in place to support them, drawing on best practice. 

• All professionals to ensure families have the SEND guide and know about the Local Offer and 
parent carer needs assessments 

• Criteria for Community Team for People with Learning Disabilities (CTPLD) and children’s 
social care are updated and publicised with parents and professionals. 

Page 88



 

9 
 
Strategy document  
 
 

 
More training/awareness raising/refresher courses would be welcomed, with an 
acknowledgement that hands on experience and learning to see autistic people as “individuals 
and not a series of conditions” are key. Training is often much more effective when delivered/co-
delivered by experts by experience. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

WHAT WE AIM TO DO AS A PARTNERSHIP 

Planning 
• Expand Autism Board to improve representation (autistic children, young people and adults, 

with lived experience of being diagnosed with autism and from diverse backgrounds, work 
and training providers, criminal justice diversion services, and more voluntary sector 
partners). 

• Create opportunities for more regular and informal engagement (coffee mornings, autism 
forums) 

• Review pathways to ensure these recognise specific needs of older autistic adults, women 
with autism, autistic people from ethnically diverse backgrounds. 

 
Awareness and Training 
• Develop a comprehensive multi-agency training plan to ensure early years, educational 

settings and more public sector services, businesses, and organisations including the private 
sector become more autism inclusive within Reading and for all to be aware of safeguarding, 
a trauma informed approach & have a person-centred approach and understanding of need. 
(Including for staff in courts and probation services involving registered intermediaries where 
relevant). 

• Address employment by improving understanding and guidelines for employers, including 
reasonable adjustments (applying anticipatory reasonable adjustments duty – Equality Act 
2010). 

• Improve public understanding of autism and inclusion across Reading Borough Council and 
Brighter Futures for Children. 

• Develop and test an autism public understanding and acceptance initiative, working with 
autistic people, their families, and the voluntary sector. 

• Use multiple methods of raising awareness of existing pre assessment and post diagnosis 
support provision and making it clear and easy to find including addressing language and 
cultural barriers for underrepresented groups, to aid proactive identification of people awaiting 
assessment, crisis prevention and prevention of avoidable admissions into inpatient mental 

“Better 
awareness of 
Autism and 

training the staff 
on how to 

help/support”

“Further support & 
training of where to go 
for support, process of 

diagnosis, how to 
support the 

family…“children with 
autism, …those with 
poor communication 

skills”

“Training in 
supporting their 
mental health & 
knowing what is 

available… help for 
them (both in 

mental health and 
generally)”

“improve capacity 
to support 

through Autism 
Education Trust 

(AET) hub”

“…how we can 
enable “advisors” 
to be available to 

do sustained 
systemic work with 

school leaders”

Page 89



 

10 
 
Strategy document  
 
 

health settings, making it easier to find and engage with the appropriate support, offered 
throughout the life course. 
 

 

 
 

Our Ambition 

Schools, staff, students to have a good understanding, awareness and respect of autism and for 
all autistic people to have equal access to life chances. 

 
What we know nationally 

• 6 in 10 young people, and 7 in 10 parents, say that the main thing that would make school 
better for them is having a teacher who understands autism. 

• Fewer than 5 in 10 teachers said they are confident about supporting an autistic child.  
• Autistic children are twice as likely to be excluded from school.  

 

What we know in Reading 

Many autistic young people have reported being bullied and/or isolated from their peers and 
struggling for schools and colleges to take this seriously. Many have reported anxiety preventing 
them from attending school or attending full-time. 

• A joint inspection of Reading by Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission judged Reading’s 
SEND local offer to be amongst the strengths of the partnership, identifying that families had 
widespread awareness of the online resource and that the local offer team were effective in 
following up contacts to ensure needs were met. The Local Offer team have also won a 
national award.  

• About 2% of children in mainstream primary and secondary schools in Reading have had 
autism identified as a primary need, compared to a national rate of 1.44%. The average 
number of autistic children attending non-selective secondary schools in Reading is 19, with 
up to 30 attending the largest schools, and 7 autistic children attending each primary school 
in Reading, including up to 14 children in the largest primary schools. This proportion has 
increased over the last five years. Some local experts believe that schools with a good 
reputation for supporting autistic children may be more attractive to families, so a higher 
number of autistic pupils than average may attend those schools.  

• Most autistic children are educated in mainstream schools. Numbers of autistic children in 
mainstream schools has increased over the last five years and are expected to continue to 
increase. Although this in part reflects that the total number of pupils in schools has also 
increased, autism prevalence in the under 25 population in Reading also increased from 
around 7 per 1,000 in 2017 to 9 per 1,000 in 2020 

• Numbers of Reading EHCPs where autism is recorded as the primary need have increased 
and have consistently represented around 35% of all EHCPs each year; slightly higher than 
nationally (27% of children with EHCPs in 2017).  

• 2,725 EHCPs were funded between 2017 and 2022. Reading has a higher rate of EHCPs 
than the national average and its statistical neighbours. 

• Percentage of all children in Reading who received a permanent exclusion fell from 0.153% 
in 2016/17 to 0.06% in 2019/20 (15 exclusions in a school year), now in line with national 
averages and Reading’s statistical neighbours (higher than the South-east average). 

                     PRIORITY 2 – IMPROVING SUPPORT AND ACCESS TO EARLY YEARS, EDUCATION, SUPPORTING
                      POSITIVE TRANSITIONS AND PREPARING FOR ADULTHOOD

Page 90

https://brighterfuturesforchildren.org/about/policies-publications-and-reports/ofsted-cqc-send-inspection/#:~:text=Joint%20local%20area%20SEND%20inspection%20in%20Reading%20Between,out%20in%20the%20Children%20and%20Families%20Act%202014.


 

11 
 
Strategy document  
 
 

• There are currently 402 places at Reading schools with special provision. These include 301 
places in dedicated special schools. Some schools support autistic children well, but this is 
not consistent across schools. 

 

What is important to Reading people 

Education and School life 

• Ongoing improved understanding and awareness of autism within the education (building on 
the AET training available to schools) including applying a trauma informed approach to 
support. 

• Some schools support autistic children well, but this is not consistent across schools. 
• Insufficient support and signposting after completing school or to enter into employment 
• Bullying within schools is common and can result in autistic children missing school 

 
‘I’m of the generation where ADHD/ASD wasn’t a thing – It was just naughty children, so I never 
got any help.’, and ‘depressing - I didn’t enjoy it, I was always being bullied’. 

‘My school never recognised my issues and dismissed me when I was struggling. I was told to 
‘stop being anxious’ constantly.’ 

‘My experiences at school will always have an impact on me throughout my life.’ 

 

Several autistic people shared similar experiences of “bullying” and being “pulled out of school” 
due to mental health, “pressure of school as well as how they were treated by some of their 
teachers”. Instead of being offered to “tell what you can do”, they were “always told instead what 
they cannot do”, ‘making finding a job harder”. 

• Professionals expressed that “early identification and support of Education and Health Care 
Plan (EHCP) in place before entry to school would support children to thrive”.   

• Statutory services such as “teachers, social services, medics, counsellors, the police” and 
Employers… “all need to learn about autism without intellectual disability” 

• “Mental health support needs urgent attention” for autistic people. 
• “More financial support for disabled autistic people” 
• Parent carers reported ‘access to special needs school can be improved’ and ‘need 

universally accessible public services (starting with a suitable education for my child), and 
professionals who discharge their statutory duties according to the law. 

 
 

“Restart some of the 
activities…that used to 
happen before Covid19 

so that parents get a 
chance to meet similar 
carers/parents and can 
seek/get support/help”

“Clearer information 
on where to find 

support”

“it would help schools 
to get advice about 

reasonable adjustment 
and specific supports at 

the same time as 
parents because every 

autistic child is 
different.”

“I didn’t finish 
school due to the 

bullying I 
endured.”

“toughing it out…manage 
the day-to-day struggle of 

being in a large 
environment without 

having someone to talk to 
about how difficult being 

in a large class was.”

Page 91



 

12 

Priority 2b – Supporting Transition and Preparation for Adulthood 
What we know nationally 

Guidance and best practice  
 
NICE guidance on transition from children’s to adult services covers the period before, during 
and after a young person moves from children’s to adults’ health or social care services, and 
how this transition should be managed and services work together to support a good transition. 
The guidance recommends that transitions should take place not by a rigid age threshold, but 
at a time of relative stability for the young person. This is also supported by the NHS Long Term 
Plan that commits to offering person centred and age-appropriate care for health needs, rather 
than basing transitions solely upon age. 
Supporting smooth transition to adult services for young people going through the diagnostic 
pathway and ensuring data collection and audit of the pathway takes place (CG128)7 is a key 
guideline. 
 
Transition to adult services (dependent on individual need) 
• Provide information about adult services to the young person and their parents/carers, 

including their right to a social care assessment at 18 years of age 
• Involve the young person in discussing and planning 
• Train staff in autism awareness and skills in managing autism including the importance of 

key transition points, such as changing schools or health or social care services 
• For those who are 16 years and older with complex and severe needs, a care programme 

approach (CPA) is recommended as an aid to transfer between services 
 
A recent study reported that young autistic ethnic minority groups from lower income 
backgrounds were less likely to receive health care transition services, participate in transition 
planning meetings, enrol in postsecondary education, find good employment after school or live 
independently compared to their autistic Caucasian higher income counterparts. 
 
What we know in Reading 
Moving on to further education, training or work is an important time for autistic young people. 
While there are several options available in Reading, person-centred support is important to 
help autistic young people to find the right opportunity. More internships, apprenticeships and 
meaningful work experience for young people would enhance prospects for autistic people. 
Within Reading, Children’s Transitions to Adult Social Care services is outlined in the Preparing 
for Adulthood Policy (2019) which aims to ensure that young people and adults have appropriate 
support as they move into adulthood, and there are no gaps in the delivery of services. The 
strategy complements the Preparing for Adult Pathway. The Preparing for Adulthood Panel has 
responsibility for co-ordinating identification and monitoring of the children and young people 
who may or will require services as they transition into adulthood. Reading Mencap provide the 
Preparing for Adulthood service funded by Reading Borough Council that support young people 
and adults (16-25) and their families in preparing for adulthood. A Transitions Family Adviser 
offers an independent, outreach, information, advice and support service to guide young people 
and their families through the complexities of becoming an adult, to manage the changes in 
social care, benefits, housing, health, education, employment and financial management. 
As of February 2022: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• 37% of young people open to Preparing for Adulthood (PFA) have a 
primary or secondary diagnosis of Autism 

• 33 % of young people open to Preparing for Adulthood (PFA) have a 
diagnosis of a learning disability and Autism 

Page 92

https://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/transition-from-childrens-to-adults-services#path=view%3A/pathways/transition-from-childrens-to-adults-services/transition-planning-for-young-people-moving-from-childrens-to-adult-services.xml&content=view-index
https://search3.openobjects.com/mediamanager/reading/enterprise/files/preparing_for_adulthood_policy_2019-updated_by_bffc_-_june_2021_1.pdf
https://search3.openobjects.com/mediamanager/reading/enterprise/files/preparing_for_adulthood_policy_2019-updated_by_bffc_-_june_2021_1.pdf


 

13 
 
 
 

Youth Offending Service (YOS) - Young people transitioning from YOS will involve Adult 
Probation Services from age 17. Dependent on needs, the transfer may occur at age 18 but 
could be later. 
Healthcare transitions - Within Berkshire Healthcare Children, Young People and Family 
Services, for young people with long term health conditions, transitions should begin at the age 
of 14, with the transition usually occurring between the ages of 16 and 19. The child or young 
person and their families should receive the following to support with their transition to adult care 
services11: 

• A named transition co-ordinator where appropriate 
• Received information on the adult service(s) they’re transitioning to 
• Completed a transition health care plan and received a discharge summary 
 
WHAT WE AIM TO DO AS A PARTNERSHIP 

Culture change  
• Tackle bullying within schools, isolation, and inappropriate exclusions.  
• As well as awareness raising in schools, additional measures to be implemented including 

zero tolerance policies for bullying, autistic champions in schools, and regular whole school 
and class discussions. 

• Increase autism support in schools including access to support from Occupational 
Therapist/Speech and language therapists 

• Ensure schools are reminded of the support available that they share with parents 
(resources shared to use inclusive language). 

• Ensure person-centred support to help autistic young people to find the right opportunity.   
 
Transitions & Diagnosis 
• Strongly encourage schools share information they receive about local support and activities 

– need to ensure this information is shared with all children/families with additional needs. 
• Ensuring school transport is appropriate for autistic children through training for drivers and 

escorts to know the needs of the autistic children and how best to communicate with them 
to provide better assistance. We will liaise with relevant Transport teams to achieve this. 

• Support autistic children and young people to ensure better outcomes throughout their 
education by schools making reasonable adjustments and a commitment to address bullying 
towards autistic children. 

• Increase support and signposting after completing school e.g., to enter employment (more 
choice, employment opportunities, work experience etc). 

• Put in place effective planning for adulthood and social care after turning 18 and when 
finishing school or college, if later. 

• Improve transitions planning for all (education/social care/health) children and adult services 
– more work to be done so Young People and family are provided with robust information to 
support. 

• Supporting people into adulthood through volunteering opportunities 
• Create additional internships, apprenticeships and meaningful work experience for young 

people and adults which enhance prospects for autistic people. 
• Supporting smooth transition to adult services for young people including support for adults 

where needed. 
• Ensuring data collection and audit of the diagnosis pathway takes place8 
  

 
11 Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (2022). Transition to Adult Services | Children Young People and Families Online Resource. Children 
Young People and Families Online Resource. Available at: https://www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk/5940.  

Page 93

https://www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk/5940


 

14 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Our Ambition 

Through understanding, awareness and acceptance of autism, autistic people can become 
integrated as part of society and gain employment and confidence. Including maximising life 
chances and opportunities and empowering autistic people to meet their potential. 
 
What we know nationally 
 
Training and Employment  

• The National Autism Strategy, Equality Act 2010, Care Act 2014, Care and Families Act 
2014 and the NHS Long Term Plan 2019 emphasise the importance of facilitating access to 
education, training and employment opportunities and sustained support, including skills 
development to empower people to independence wherever possible.  

• Approximately 10-15% of autistic adults nationally are in full-time employment and overall, 
22% of autistic adults (16-64 years) are in employment (any form).  

• Disabled people with autism (21.7%) were among those disabled people with lowest 
employment rate and compared to 81% of non-disabled people, showing a significant 
employment gap for autistic people. 
  

What we know in Reading 

• Barriers for autistic adults wanting to be in employment include absence of effective 
transition from education; absence of reasonable adjustments at interview and in 
workplaces; unsuitable HR practices and recruitment methods; lack of employer awareness 
and difficulties accessing support to get into work or when in work.  

• Positive changes are recognised in improved access to services, but further work is required. 
• There are limited employment support options available for people over 25 years 
• The gap between training and employment support needs bridging 
• Remove the current cliff edge when young people enter employment after 18+  
• Support provision for late diagnosis for people already in employment is needed 
• Employers need organisations to go to for support and training  
 
What is important to Reading people 

Training and Employment  
• Many autistic people want to work, are able to and would value support and awareness of 

pathways and available opportunities for employment.  
• Improved understanding, acceptance, and guidelines for employers around autism, 

including reasonable adjustments and support for autistic young people to enter the 
workplace 

• Improved support and employment assistance for those over 25. 
 
 

 

 

 

PRIORITY 3 – SUPPORTING MORE AUTISTIC PEOPLE INTO VOCATIONAL TRAINING AND 
EMPLOYMENT

Some people shared 
that during their 
experience they 
“didn’t know” of 

their condition at the 
time.

Options given were 
“to go to college to 
do GCSEs, get a job 
in a factory or shop, 

or help with 
University 

application forms” 

 “…really worried 
about getting a 

job, about 
interviews and 
where to find a 

job.”

 ”

“Access to Work support 
and some reasonable 
adjustments are not 

enough”” general public” 
needs to be “sufficiently 

educated about autism and 
its impact on our health 

and everyday functioning” 
to dispel “misconceptions”

“flexible supported 
independent living 

that can provide 
support specifically 

where needed 
while allowing as 

much 
independence as 

possible”

”

Page 94



 

15 
 
 
 

WHAT WE AIM TO DO AS A PARTNERSHIP 

• Increase volunteering opportunities  
• Identify the strengths and needs of neurodivergent CYO and adults and support them to 

make good progress and have good outcomes. 
• Improve options for young people to increase current opportunities 
• Develop a clear pathway through, school, from school, in further and higher education and 

into vocational training and work opportunities through a coproduced approach with autistic 
people. 

• Further develop and promote Elevate project for autistic young adults 
• We will enable and address specific needs of autistic adults through Reading’s Economic 

COVID Recovery Plan 
• Establish peer mentorship/championship training 
• Increase understanding of barriers faced with the benefits system and support to overcome 

these 
• Support to get into employment and during employment 
• Work with partners and local employers to increase employment opportunities and job 

support for all autistic adults of working age.  
• Improve understanding and guidelines for employers, including reasonable adjustments 

both during recruitment and in employment. 
• Improve support & employment assistance for those over 25 
• Support for autistic young people to enter the workplace 
• Organisational members of the Autism Board will seek and promote their recognition as 

employers of people with disabilities, leading by example when approaching commercial/ 
industry partners. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
Our ambition 
 
Strengthening understanding, recognition, and support to tackle health inequalities experienced 
by autistic people and to make life and health outcomes better for them. We will continue working 
across the system to achieve a culture shift moving towards needs-led rather than diagnosis 
dependent support and with a recognition of neurodiversity. We will have demonstrated 
improvements in reducing assessment and diagnosis times and support to ensure help is 
accessed based on need, as early as possible, promoting acceptance of neurodiversity, 
strength-based approaches, and shared language. 
 
What we know nationally  
 
Autism inequalities and barriers to support 

• Inequalities experienced by autistic people include reduced access to public services and 
spaces, the gap in employment opportunities, poorer health outcomes, increased likelihood 
to report lower quality of life and social isolation. 

• Contributory factors to inequalities in health include challenging communication in 
inaccessible environments, reduced likelihood to understand signs of poor-health, barriers 

PRIORITY 4 – BETTER LIVES FOR AUTISTIC PEOPLE – TACKLING HEALTH AND CARE 
INEQUALITIES FOR AUTISTIC PEOPLE, BUILDING THE RIGHT SUPPORT IN THE 
COMMUNITY AND SUPPORTING PEOPLE IN INPATIENT CARE

Page 95



 

16 
 
 
 

to NHS service access when needed, uncertainty which brings on anxiety, sensory 
variances, different responses to pain and difficulty identifying own emotions. 

• Early identification, improvements in diagnostic pathways for all ages and reductions in 
assessment waiting times are key to timely diagnosis and appropriate access to support. 
This enables autistic people and those supporting them to better understand their needs. 

• Many children are diagnosed late; girls are particularly affected as signs of autism are 
frequently not recognised, resulting in delays in diagnosis until adolescence or adulthood. 

• While the diagnosis of adult autism has improved over the years, in Reading adults have to 
wait years for a diagnosis rather than the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 
(NICE) recommended 13 weeks between referral and first assessment. 

• There is a gender gap in the prevalence of autism, with higher prevalence reported in males 
than females which may result from underdiagnosis of autism in females.  

• Autistic people have a lower life expectancy (16-year gap) and are more likely to require 
hospital care or use emergency services than non-autistic people. 

• Improving health and care staff’s understanding of autism is crucial in enabling progress on 
reducing health inequalities for autistic people.  

• It is suspected that ‘detection bias’ relating to socioeconomic status means diagnosis may 
be less likely in children from lower socioeconomic status households and with parents with 
lower educational attainment levels. 

• Racial, ethnic, and socioeconomic disparities associated with autism exist throughout many 
service areas including access to early assessment, diagnosis, and therapeutic 
interventions.  

• To tackle the health and care inequalities autistic people face, the government passed the 
Health and Care Act 2022, which included the Oliver McGowan Mandatory Training in 
Learning Disability and Autism, which will educate and train health and social care staff, at 
the right level for their role, to provide better health and social care outcomes for people with 
a learning disability and autistic people.  

 
• What we know in Reading 
• Diagnosis 
• In Reading we have implemented a Needs-led, rather than Diagnosis Led approach so 

that support in schools can be put in place before diagnosis. 
• The Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (BHFT) Autism Assessment team based 

at University of Reading are responsible for diagnosis of children and young people under 
17 and a half years. Unfortunately, due to strong demand, the waiting times are over 2 years, 
well in excess of the 13 weeks NICE guidelines  

• Nationally £13 million is being invested in reducing waiting times for all, and Berkshire West 
CCG has received extra funding to recruit more staff to be able to offer more assessment to 
children and young people to reduce waiting times for assessment. 

• The Neuropsychology ASD Team from BHFT based in Erleigh Road, are responsible for 
adult diagnosis. Unfortunately, due to strong demand, the waiting times for an adult 
diagnosis are approximately 4 years, well in excess of the 13 weeks NICE guidelines. 

• In Berkshire autism assessment referrals for children and young people, increased from 
1209 in 2016/17 to 2045 in 2021/22, a 69% increase. More resources have been 
commissioned, including a private online provider to reduce waiting times but these have 
remained stubbornly high. 

• For the adults diagnostic pathway, there has been an increase in the number of people 
referred for a diagnosis but, there has been no increase in resources resulting in increasing 
waiting times. 

• Due to the long waits, Berkshire West CCG commissioned the Pre and Post Autism and 
ADHD Service for 0 to 25 in 2019. The service was co-produced with partners from health, 
education and social care plus Reading Families Forum and the voluntary sector. Autism 
Berkshire, with Parenting Special Children won the tender and started delivery in 2020. 

Page 96



 

17 
 
 
 

• The new Berkshire West CCG NHS Autism and ADHD Support service has been very 
successful. In 2021 Autism Berkshire supported over 500 families, with evidenced based 
graduated support from Helpline calls, one to one consultations, short courses and long 
courses. The Teen Life course for parents of young people from year 6 to 11 has proved to 
be particularly popular with parents as previously there was little support aimed at parents 
of teenagers. 

• Half of the families supported by Autism Berkshire are on the waiting list and 40% of the 
children and young people supported are girls. 

• For families of children who receive a diagnosis, support is available from Reading’s 
Brighter Futures for Children Autism Advisor. The service is not available to families on the 
waiting list. 

• The BHFT Autism Assessment Team (AAT) send referral packs providing information on 
all sources of family support to parents, once a child is added to the waiting list for 
assessment, to ensure families access this as soon as possible including provision of a 
letter for school to emphasise need for needs–led support. This includes information 
about the Berkshire West Autism and ADHD Support Service provided by Autism Berkshire. 
There are Comprehensive online resource provision with help and advice on a wide 
range of developmental, emotional/mental health concerns.12  

• BHFT AAT also run the SHARoN online support network (Support, Hope and Resources 
online Network) for parents of children and young people waiting for an assessment, or with 
a diagnosis. The service is moderated by professionals, including the voluntary sector and 
available online 24 hours a day to parents. 

• BHFT deliver co-produced training courses such as the Psychological Perspectives in 
Education and Primary care (PPEPcare) which is commissioned by the CCG for delivery 
to health, education, social care and other agencies which equips settings to provide needs-
led support.  

• Many parents and adults are frustrated by the long waits and seek a private diagnosis. 
• Through the engagement process for this strategy, we found that some parents who were 

waiting for an assessment or who had received an autism diagnosis for their child, were not 
aware of the Berkshire West CCG NHS Autism and ADHD Support Service, nor the 
Local Offer and Family Information Service. 

 
Post Diagnostic support 
 
• The BHFT Autism Assessment Team offer a diagnosis only service. 
• Post diagnosis support is available from the Berkshire West CCG NHS Autism and ADHD 

Support Service provided by Autism Berkshire, a local charity set up in 1990 by families of 
autistic children and those with challenging behaviour. All staff have lived experience and 
professional training and qualifications in family support and autism. Research has shown 
that the most effective support for families is peer led support such as the Autism Berkshire 
service. 

• Currently there is no Positive Behaviour Team to support parents whose autistic children 
have violent and challenging behaviour. It has been agreed this is a gap in services, and the 
local NHS commissioners, Berkshire West CCG had run a commissioning process in Spring 
2022, but not awarded a contract. 

• For adults the Neuropsychology ASD Team from Berkshire Health NHS Foundation Trust 
runs a post-diagnosis course ‘Being Me’ to help newly diagnosed adults understand autism 
and how it impacts their life. 

• Reading Mencap run an Information and Advice Service which includes support around 
health and how to access the Annual Health Check for people aged 14 and older with a 
Learning Disability and those with Autism and a Learning Disability. 

 
12 Mental and Emotional Health | Children Young People and Families Online Resource (berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk) 

Page 97

https://cypf.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk/our-services/other-services/services-for-professionals-ppepcare-training/
https://cypf.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk/our-services/other-services/services-for-professionals-ppepcare-training/
https://cypf.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk/mental-and-emotional-health/


 

18 
 
 
 

• BHFT run the Community Team for Learning Disability (CTPLD), many adults referred to 
them have autism as well as a learning disability. The team includes nurses, OTs, Physio, 
Psychiatrists, Psychologists Dieticians, Speech and language therapists. They work in 
partnership with social workers to make sure people with a Learning Disability and Autism 
get the best support possible.  
 

Physical and mental healthcare  
 
• The Royal Berkshire Hospital employs two Learning Disability nurses who are highly trained 

in autism and are available to anyone who has a Learning Disability or Autism and is visiting 
the hospital as an outpatient or staying as an inpatient. 

• Following feedback from people with a Learning Disability and Autism, and their parents and 
carers, the Royal Berkshire Hospital implemented a Bleep system to reduce the stress of 
waiting for outpatient appointments.13 

• The Royal Berkshire Hospital also has a series of Easy Read leaflet for patients with 
Learning Disability and Autism available on their website.14 

• Many of Reading’s GP have included details of the Berkshire West Autism and ADHD 
Support Service on their website under the Wellbeing section.15 

• Berkshire West has a Learning Disability Mortality Review, LeDeR Steering Group, which 
carries out a number of projects, including collating and sharing anonymised information 
about the deaths of people with learning disabilities, including those with LD and autism so 
that common themes, learning points and recommendations can be identified and taken 
forward into policy and practice improvements, to try to reduce the early mortality of people 
with a Learning Disability and those with Autism with Learning disability . 

• A training programme of Positive Behavioural Support for people with learning disability and 
or autism and behaviour that challenges is being rolled out to key staff in health, social care, 
education, support providers, the voluntary sector and family carers during 21/22. 

• BHFT is implementing a Neurodiversity strategy to make all BHFT services, everything from 
health visiting and school nursing to Integrated Pain and Spinal Management and 
continence service, accessible for people with a learning disability and/ or autism.16 

 
What is important to Reading people 

• Better awareness of what autism is and the environmental/sensory impact on autistic people 
within healthcare settings. 

• Assessment waiting times for children, young people and adults are too long and need to be 
reduced. 

• Waiting times for children and young people who have anxiety and are out of school are too 
long and need to be reduced. 

• Access to appropriate mental health services that understand autism and can make 
reasonable adjustments need to be improved and a priority. 

• Specialist support and pathways needed to address complex health concerns 
• Training for hospital staff and GPs about autism, mental health and in responding to autistic 

adults and children including what other support services are available in the community. 
• Having continuity of care from their GP. 
• Implementing reasonable adjustments for health appointments including vaccinations is 

important. 
 
 

 
13 Your information and what we use it for (royalberkshire.nhs.uk) this should say Use the Bleep 
14 Disabled Patients | Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust contains a list of Easy Read leaflets for LDA patients   
15 Autism | Balmore Park Surgery 
16 Our Neurodiversity Strategy | Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 

Page 98

https://www.royalberkshire.nhs.uk/media/qd5gg220/use_bleep_leaflet_09.pdf
https://www.royalberkshire.nhs.uk/patients-and-visitors/disabled-patients/
https://www.balmoreparksurgery.co.uk/digitalpractice/wellbeing-centre/autism/
https://www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk/news/news-archive/our-neurodiversity-strategy/


 

19 
 
 
 

WHAT WE WILL TO DO AS A PARTNERSHIP 
• Continue to work to reduce waiting times for assessment for children and young people. The 

project will continue to be monitored by the Berkshire Health Foundation Trust board. 
• To tackle morbidity and preventable death in individuals with autism it is of utmost 

importance to provide regular physical health checks and to maintain high level of clinical 
suspicion towards physical health problems in autism.17 

• Work at addressing issues related to adult assessments in order to bring the waiting times 
down. 

• Work towards addressing the lack of a Positive Behaviour Service in order to get the service 
commissioned 

• All organisations will refer all parents needing pre-assessment or post-diagnosis support to 
the Berkshire West CCG NHS Autism and ADHD support service, as some parents, although 
sent a referral pack by the AAT, report not knowing about the support available either, whilst 
they are waiting to be assessed, or after diagnosis.  

• All health and care organisations shall comply with their statutory duty under the Health and 
Care Act 2022 to ensure that all staff complete their Oliver McGowan Mandatory training 
in Learning Disability and Autism, so staff feel confident in supporting the individual needs 
of children, young people and adults with a learning disability and/ or autism. 

• We will focus on ensuring there are no barriers to accessing health services for people with 
a learning disability and/or autism, including access to age 14+ Annual Health Checks for 
those with autism and Learning Disability. The care they receive will be provided in a suitable 
environment, by people who understand their needs, with suitable adjustments made when 
needed for them to receive excellent care. 

• Through RBC commissioning, we will aim to support organisations to provide information 
advice and guidance, and activities to reduce loneliness and isolation to prevent help prevent 
mental ill health in people with learning disability and/or autism. 

 
Building the Right Support in the Community and Supporting People in Inpatient Care 

Our Ambition 

For community support and services to reflect what autistic people and their families say they 
need. 
 
What we know nationally 

Play-based strategies to increase joint attention, engagement and communication including and 
group based social learning programmes focused on improving social interaction, or individual 
delivered for people who find groups difficult are encouraged18 Interventions focused on life 
skills/activities of daily living e.g., leisure activity programmes are also recommended. 

Transport  
• The National Autism Strategy highlights transport as a key enabler in helping autistic people 

become active members of society, through access to employment, leisure, and community 
activities.  

• Many autistic people favour driving, walking and cycling as alternatives to using public 
transport which can sometimes be noisy, crowded and an uncomfortable experience. 
 

 
17 Sala et al (2020) 
18 https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg170 

Page 99



 

20 
 
 
 

Inpatient health settings 

• Autism prevalence within adult inpatient mental health settings autism prevalence is 
estimated to be 2.4-9.9% 19 while autistic people account for 1 in 100 people. 
 

What we know in Reading 

Support groups 

There are groups that support autistic children, young people and adults through social and 
leisure activities, or by helping autistic people to access education and employment. Some 
services providing support to autistic people in Reading expressed their experience of some 
services relying on a crisis response for people of all ages. However, CAMHS, Anxiety and 
depression as well as the MHSTs, offer counselling and other support for autistic people. Quality 
support around education, health (mental health) and social care have an important role. They 
emphasise the need for timely, accessible support. 
 
Transport  

• The Reading Transport Strategy 2036 outlines some actions that can be applied to an 
‘autism-inclusive’ approach for this autism strategy. 

• Reading has a vibrant transport system and an award-winning transport company Reading 
Buses, owned by the Borough Council. Reading Buses are ranked as one of the most 
accessible in Europe, with colour coded buses and maps to help people easily navigate bus 
routes. Reading Buses are committed to accessibility. All buses are equipped with 
wheelchair ramps, high contrast strips on the floor and the seats, braille on the bell pushes, 
next stop announcements and next stop video signs, route maps on the bus. There is a bus 
app with timetables, maps and ticketing available. It also has a bus tracker, useful for when 
people are learning to travel independently. 

• All bus drivers take part in disability training as part of their Certificate of Professional 
Competency and Reading Buses have worked closely with local charities such as Autism 
Berkshire, to implement a driver training course to learn about the needs of autistic people.  

• Reading Station, managed by Network Rail, offers an assistance service to passengers with 
additional needs, including autistic people. A new travel lounge at the station opened in July 
2021 for ‘Passengers with additional needs. Station users can also pre-book journey 
assistance with all their needs considered, including a Quiet carriage, changes and 
connections that involve other train companies. 

• BFfC offer School Transport contracts to companies that have applied to go on the 
framework and trained escorts are provided as required.  

• Readibus is the local community transport provider. Readibus is a Dial-A-Ride bus service 
is for people of all ages who can’t make use of the mainstream bus services offered in the 
area. This includes autistic people who have high anxiety or sensory issues. Readibus was 
judged in the 'Community Transport Provider of the Year' category at the Community 
Transport Awards in November 2021 as one of the top three community transport services 
in the UK for its service provision during the pandemic, and the best in England. 

• Readibus is the specialist service used for School Transport, mostly for wheelchair users 
but provides 6 buses for the Avenue School – and an ambulance for the most complex needs 
pupils.   

 
 
 
 

 
19 Tromans S, Chester V, Kiani R, Alexander R, Brugha T. (2018) The Prevalence of Autism Spectrum Disorders in Adult Psychiatric Inpatients: A 
Systematic Review. Clin Pract Epidemiol Ment Health. 14:177-187.  

Page 100



 

21 
 
 
 

What is important to Reading people 

Local (community) services  
• Need a range of activities covering the full spectrum including those without significant 

support needs who live more independently. 
 

Transport 
• School transport is not always appropriate for autistic children. 
• Suggestions on what needs to be done to improve on the experience of using transport 

services, included: 
 
o “better cycling integration” o “temporary blue badge scheme” 

o “joined up national transport strategy” 
o “additional support of getting driving licence for people with anxiety and sensory 

difficulties” 
 

Social Experience 
• There is a limited range of activities for autistic children, young people and adults. 
• Many of the activities that are for young people are very good but limited and often they 

reach capacity very quickly e.g., Make Sense Theatre, Chance to dance. 
• Young people have expressed they’re not interested in competitive activities that require 

performing - saying they want to spend time with other autistic children. 
• Activities like Holiday Clubs are difficult to access due to “not enough support personnel 

available”.  Families where both parents are working find the situation “hard”.   
 

A gap in provision was identified for autistic adults who have received a late diagnosis “and who 
have different support needs to those who have grown up knowing why they are different” or 
who are “without learning disabilities”.  Local services for autistic adults who have “worked” or 
“lived independently” are reported “non-existent”.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

“Reliable online 
info about opening 
times, busy times, 

and mask 
requirements. No 
need to phone.”

“Consistent drivers 
who show up on time, 

every time. Drivers 
who know the needs 
of the child and are 
trained in how to 

communicate with 
them”

“some good holiday 
clubs available for 
certain ages and 

ability”

“There should be more 
group/social activities as 

most of them (autistic 
people) needs contact 

with peers…and 
accessing one to one 
support that may be 

needed to access local 
clubs”

“More SEN purpose-
built play areas…, 
with secure, tall 
fencing, natural 

sensory areas and 
sensory gardens, clear 
signage with symbols 
such as those made 

with InPrint”

Page 101



 

22 
 
 
 

 
WHAT WE WILL AIM TO DO AS A PARTNERSHIP 
Support groups, services & Training 
 
We will: 
• Increase availability of activities (across all ages), social opportunities and social enterprise 

projects run by local people with lived experience including online community options and 
opportunities outside of core business hours for autistic people 

• Provide training to adapt holiday clubs to be more inclusive and suit the needs of the autistic 
person 

• Look at funding streams for Autism Advisory service to employ additional Autism Advisors. 
• Encourage cafes/shops to clearly indicate to their customers that they can support people 

who are neurodivergent and how they should let their staff know that adjustments are 
required. 

• Implement a Zero tolerance for bullying and prevent inappropriate exclusion from social 
events 

• Create groups for adults especially social clubs for diverse interests in spaces appropriate 
for autistic people due to noise and sensory stimulation (i.e., light, noise, volume of music) 

• Make provision for autistic adults who received a late diagnosis and have different support 
needs to those who have had earlier diagnosis or who are without learning disabilities – an 
identified gap.   

• Support Local services for autistic adults who have “worked” or “lived independently.” 
 
Local Services 
 
We will: 
• Provide a range of activities covering the full spectrum including for autistic people with less 

complex needs, as most autistic people need contact with peers, access to one-to-one 
support and/or local clubs.   

• Make needed adjustments needed for everyday services to increase accessibility to autistic 
people. 

• Invest into activities and services adapted/adjusted to meet the needs of autistic people and 
to minimise sensory impact. 
 

Transport 
 
We will: 
• Provide training for bus drivers, taxi drivers and escorts to know the needs of the autistic 

person and are trained in how to best to meet these needs and communicate with them. 
• Provide additional support of getting driving licence for people with anxiety and sensory 

difficulties. 
 
Health 
 
We will: 
• Take action to tackle the over representation of autistic young people in mental health beds. 
• Using Root Cause Analysis as part of the CTR/CETR process to address the expected high 

prevalence of autistic adults in inpatient mental health settings. 
  

Page 102



 

23 
 
 
 

 
 
  
 
 
 
Our Ambition 

A culture that promotes neurodiversity and creates environments that meet the needs of autistic 
people and empowers everyone to reach their potential. Environmental respect, integrating 
rather than segregating and improving autistic lives in Reading. 
 
We embed a greater understanding of how neurodivergent people experience the built 
environment in different ways, and how choices made within streets and spaces may affect 
people differently, for instance in terms of colours, materials, patterns and levels of visual clutter.   
 
What we know nationally 

The National Strategy for Autistic Adults, Young People and Children: 2021-26Error! Bookmark 
not defined. prioritises housing as an area for improvement, to be achieved through activities 
including: 

• Support for keyworkers for children and young people with complex needs in inpatient 
mental health settings, and those at risk of being admitted to these settings.  

• Increasing the provision of supported housing, enabling more people to access adaptations 
to their homes and reforming the social care system so it is fit for purpose. 

• 10% of the homes built via the new Affordable Homes Programme will be supported housing 
by 2026. 

• Work with the National Body for Home Improvement Agencies to offer support to local 
authority DFG teams and work with autism charities to raise autistic people’s awareness of 
how the DFG can support autistic people. 

 
There is no one size fits all solution for housing for autistic people. This should be based on 
individual needs20. In an absence of a needs-led approach and appropriate support, autistic 
people may be faced with specific difficulties, and a higher risk of homelessness. Lessening 
barriers within the housing sector is of utmost importance to improve independence, wellbeing 
and quality of life. 
NHS England’s ‘Building the right home’ emphasises that alongside physical adaptations within 
homes, geographical considerations should be made, particularly where there are sensory 
needs, e.g., housing away from noisy streets, bright lights and considering triggers which could 
exist in the surrounding area20. Needs of the autistic person that may be linked to the proximity 
of established sources of support.  
 

What we know in Reading 

Locally, the number of autistic people that live within social housing is unknown, as it is not 
routinely monitored within the housing allocation and sign-up process. There is no specific 
pathway for autistic people within the housing system, rather, individual needs are considered 
throughout the process and support referrals made or adaptations may be made to homes. 
Considerations such as whether it is suitable for children to share bedrooms and space allocated 
accordingly, may be one such consideration. The Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) is available 

 
20 NHS England, LGA and ADASS (2016). Building the right home: Guidance for commissioners of health and care services for children, young 
people and adults with learning disabilities and/or autism who display behaviour that challenges. Available at: NHS England report template 
cobranded-supporting partners 

PRIORITY 5 – HOUSING AND INDEPENDENT LIVING

Page 103

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/jenrick-unveils-huge-12-billion-boost-for-affordable-homes#:~:text=A%20new%20%C2%A311.5%20billion,private%20investment%20in%20affordable%20housing.
https://www.england.nhs.uk/learningdisabilities/wp-content/uploads/sites/34/2015/11/building-right-home-guidance-housing.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/learningdisabilities/wp-content/uploads/sites/34/2015/11/building-right-home-guidance-housing.pdf


 

24 
 
 
 

for Homeowners, Private Tenants or Housing Association Tenants for adaptations to the home 
with the aim of making adaptations to live more independently. Within Reading, the DFG has 
been utilised to make adaptations for autistic people.  
The homelessness service reports low numbers of autistic people presenting in need to the 
service, however, some individuals are placed in emergency accommodation such as bed and 
breakfasts due to lack of alternative temporary accommodation. This accommodation is often 
unsuitable for autistic people’s needs and can result in disruptive behaviour and exacerbate 
vulnerabilities.   

• Housing services within RBC do not have access to support in relation to autistic people that 
approach for homelessness assistance that don’t meet the criteria for adult social care.  

• Lack of emergency housing options within adult social care and not meeting social care 
thresholds, may result in autistic people being placed in inappropriate accommodation 
unsuitable for needs.  

• General needs accommodation is not always suitable for all autistic people due to the 
responsibilities that come with managing a tenancy, there are risks that the pressure of living 
independently can lead to chaotic lifestyles potentially resulting in rent arrears, eviction and 
homelessness. 

• Training for front-line housing staff is needed to better understand autistic people’s needs.  
• Clarity is needed on where autism sits within the adult social care and housing pathways 
• Adult social care delivering safe accommodation options that are available for those with 

specific needs through a safe, easily accessible emergency account would be highly 
beneficial. 

 
What is important to Reading people 

Families and young people tell us that it is difficult to find information about what options are 
available and to obtain reliable support for a young person and adult in accommodation away 
from their family carers. Many parent carers provide an enormous amount of support to keep 
their autistic adult healthy and safe, sometimes at a cost to their physical and emotional health. 
We asked autistic people and their families what is important to them about housing and what 
good housing should look like. Some of the responses are detailed below: 

• The importance of feeling safe within their home - ‘I don’t want to move out of my parent’s 
house, I like being there. I feel comfortable’.  

• Maintaining their environment - ‘I like everything to stay the same and I don’t want to move.’  
• An ideal home was described as being “tidy”, with a “garden, lots of rooms and no noise 

from neighbours”, in a “quiet and safe area” with “easy access to shops (with small 
wheelchair access) and green spaces” or “basic necessities”.  The home would be in easy 
reach of support such as ‘housing officer’, ‘parents.’ “On a main bus route” for regular bus 
schedules. 

• For someone who needs “help with household chores”, “supported living would be ideal” or 
“moving to a retirement place early”. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

“having the right 
information about 

moving and 
what’s involved”

“When my last tenancy 
ended I sought housing 
help and I had no choice 
but to go into renting an 
expensive property that 
I struggle to afford as a 

part time working single 
parent family with 

special needs.”

“friendly point of 
contact… for repairs, 

money 
management”

“Somewhere 
comfortable and 

safe”

“family moved into 
council housing with an 

autistic child…people 
complained about noise, 

the child had sensory 
needs and shouldn’t 
have been place in a 

flat.”

Page 104



 

25 
 
 
 

 
 
WHAT WE WILL TO DO AS A PARTNERSHIP 
 
Planning  
• Take account of best practice guidance in developing policies for the built environment 

including the Local Plan Review and Public Realm Strategy. 
 

Accommodation 
• Improve data to help inform future commissioning of adapted / specialist housing through 

joint action 
• Involve local partners to ensure autistic adults supported to access suitable accommodation  
• Include housing-related staff and providers in autism training plans 
• Address the specific needs of autistic adults in future housing and homelessness strategies 
• Make better use of existing specialist housing  
• Ensure there is clearer identification by BFfC of the requirements for children within their 

current homes so that adaptations may be considered. 
 
Independent Living 
• Improve transitions planning to support independent living 
• Analyse need, and implement needs led housing provision for autistic people 
• Develop a clear shared strategy for provision of supported accommodation for autistic adults 
• Plan to increase investment in aids, adaptations and new technologies which support 

independent living. 
• Develop innovative models of accommodation with agile care and support options including 

reablement. 
 

Training 
• Increase the number of trained support workers to run activities in the community 
• Work towards increasing availability of activities across all ages. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 105



 

26 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Our ambition 
• Greater awareness of the impact of autism on risk and need for autistic people involved with 

the Criminal Justice System (CJS). 
 
What we know nationally 

There is evidence that autistic people often have challenging, poor experiences when they 
encounter the CJS. Reasons cited include a lack of awareness, confidence and understanding 
amongst CJS staff and challenges surrounding adjustments required for autistic people to 
engage in processes.21 It is the responsibility of local authorities under the Care Act, to assess 
all resident’s needs, inclusive of those in prisons and ensuring that adequate support systems 
are in place for them. The National Autistic Society states that autistic people are more likely to 
be witnesses and victims of crime than offenders. 
 
Certain features of autism may predispose young people to offend or be victims of crime, 
including social naivety, misinterpretation of social cues and poor empathy. Most evidence 
indicates overrepresentation of autistic people within the CJS, in particular the publication 
Nobody made the connection: The prevalence of neurodisability in young people who offend by 
the Children’s Commissioner, identified a study which reported the prevalence of autism within 
youth custody, and suggested an incidence rate of 15% compared to the estimated 0.6 to 1.2% 
of autism diagnosis in the general population. 
 
 
What we know in Reading 

• Reading has a Police Station, but the custody suite is located at Loddon Valley Police Station. 
Reading has a Magistrates and Crown Courts and a Probation office, but no prisons or Young 
Offenders Institutes. 

• The CJS is not required to record autism as a condition. Where data was available, a limited 
analysis of the prevalence of autistic people in Reading was possible.   

• Where a person has an autism diagnosis, there are challenges within the different information 
systems used by Police, Courts, Prison and Probation to transfer the information appropriately. 

• In Reading we have the Liaison & Diversion (L&D) service based at Reading courts and at 
custody at Loddon Valley, that aims to identify people when they first encounter the CJS if 
arrested or charge, who may need additional support due to mental health, disability, substance 
misuse or other vulnerability. The service can assess needs, inform criminal justice decision-
making and aid in people accessing the appropriate health and social care support as they 
move through the CJS, and enable people to be diverted away from the CJS into a more 
appropriate setting, if required. 

• Health partners highlighted a lack of appropriate provision within the community post secure 
system, although the Ministry of Justice is undertaking a tender process in Spring 2022 for an 
autism support service. 

 
21 S.B. Helverschou, K. Steindal, J.A. Nøttestad, P. Howlin. Personal experiences of the Criminal Justice System by individuals with autism spectrum disorders. 
Autism, 22 (4) (2018), pp. 460-468, 10.1177/1362361316685554 

PRIORITY 6 – KEEPING SAFE AND IMPROVING SUPPORT WITHIN THE CRIMINAL AND 
            YOUTH JUSTICE SYSTEM    

Page 106

https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Nobody-made-the-connection.pdf


 

27 
 
 
 

• Families are advised by both Children’s Social Care and CAMHS to contact the Police if their 
autistic child or young person are aggressive to them and they do not feel safe. However, 
parents have not wanted to call the Police, and when they have done some parents have 
reported it has not been helpful. 

• Currently there is no Positive Behaviour Team to support parents whose autistic children have 
violent and challenging behaviour. It has been agreed this is a gap in services, and the local 
NHS commissioners, Berkshire West CCG had run a commissioning process in Spring 2022, 
but not awarded a contract. 

• Reading has a multi-agency partnership to improve outcomes for children, the One Reading 
partnership includes Thames Valley Police, Reading Borough Council, Brighter Futures for 
Children, Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust, and Reading Voluntary Action. They have 
produced the One Reading Young People and Extra Familial Harm Strategy 2021/22 to 23/24 
which sets out how the partnership will work together across agencies and with young people 
and communities to prevent and respond to extra familial harm and keep young people safe in 
their communities. 

• Autism Berkshire launched the Berkshire Autism Alert card in 2010 as a quick and easy way 
for someone to identify that they were autistic, and over 2000 cards were issued. In 2020, the 
scheme was updated to include a new online application process and the ability to share 
information with Thames Valley Police if the individual wished to. In 2021, the card was updated 
to the Thames Valley Autism Alert card to cover Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Milton 
Keynes as well as Berkshire, and there are now more than 700 of the new cards in circulation 
including 200 issued to Reading residents during the 2021-22 financial year. Autism Berkshire 
has a data sharing agreement with Thames Valley Police and is supported by the Thames 
Valley Police and Crime Commissioner. 
 
What is important to Reading people 

• To prevent offending and support rehabilitation and inappropriate involvement with the CJS, 
early identification and support to prevent entry into the CJS is vital.  

• Ongoing use of and awareness raising of the Thames Valley Autism Alert Cards to appropriate 
services is encouraged. 

• It is acknowledged that within the CJS the system is improving surrounding autism, as there is 
greater recognition, less stigma and better access to care, compared to some years ago.  
 

 
Case Study 1: Youth Criminal Justice Liaison and Diversion Service 

Molly Scott, Assistant Psychologist 
 
Reason for Referral 
 
Jay was referred to the Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust’s Youth Criminal Justice Liaison and Diversion 
Service (YCJL&D) by a Forensic Paramedic who saw him in custody when he was arrested for being concerned in the 
supply of Class A drugs. He was ‘Released Under Investigation’ for this matter.  
The YCJL&D service completed an assessment with Jay and his mother at the family home. The assessment indicated 
that Jay experienced difficulties with low mood and substance misuse. He was not engaged in Education or Training 
(NEET) and was not participating in any regular enjoyable activities. In addition, his mother was very open about 
experiencing low mood herself, chronic pain and the family were experiencing financial strain. Jay’s Mother was not in 
receipt of Personal Independence Payments (PIP) or Employment Support Allowance (ESA). Jay was not in receipt of 
Carers Allowance, despite providing a significant caring role for his mother. Due to a mistake made by the Housing 
Association, the family were left with limited means to purchase food. Jay enjoyed football and was motivated to engage 
in education or training. Jay and his mother benefit from a close relationship and she demonstrated a sensitive 
understanding of his needs.  
 

Page 107



 

28 
 
 
 

The YCJL&D service supported Jay’s mother to complete a self-referral for Talking Therapies.  Over coming weeks, the 
YCJL&D Assistant Psychologist (AP) completed referrals to the Specialist Mental Health Team and ‘Source’, which is 
the youth Drug and Alcohol Service provide by the local Council. Also, a referral was made for Jay to attend an Education 
Provision within a local sports club. Support was additionally given to assist Jay’s Mother to apply for PIP and ESA. 
Whilst Jay’s Mother was awaiting an appointment for a PIP face-to-face interview, we referred the family to the local 
food bank who delivered weekly parcels of food and toiletries.  
 
Outcomes 
 
When the mental health referral was triaged, it was recommended that Jay was supported by a clinician from Source as 
it was felt that his mental health needs were secondary to his issues with substance misuse. In the weeks leading up to 
his first appointment, our Assistant Psychologist provided weekly individual sessions to Jay to provide short-term 
psychological support focussed on psychoeducation about mood and stress, sleep hygiene and scheduling enjoyable 
activities. Jay engaged well with the clinician from Source and they completed the appropriate work to support him in 
reducing his drug use.   
 
The referral for Jay to attend an Education Provision within a local sports club was accepted. He attended the 12 week 
course and completed it, receiving his qualifications and inviting the YCJL&D service along to his graduation. 
Jay’s mother’s PIP application was accepted and she was back paid for 3 months. We then supported Jay in applying 
for Young Carer’s benefits, which were also accepted and he too was back paid for 3 months.   
Jay’s Mother attended Talking Therapies and found the support offered by them very useful.   
 
YCJL&D had contact with Jay 10 months after the case was closed to the service, and Jay tells us that he is working 
night shifts at a local fast food restaurant and completing a plumbing apprenticeship with the local college. He reports 
that he and his mother are doing really well and he has had no contact with the police since.  
 
We asked Jay and his mother a few questions on their experience with YCJL&D:  
 
1) What have you found most useful about the Youth Criminal Justice Liaison and Diversion Service  

“Everything!” Jay and his mother report that the YCJL&D service have been the only “people that have listened” to 
them properly. Jay’s mother reported “the amount of pressure that you’ve taken off me is immense”. Jay reported 
that he is pleased to be engaged with an education sports programme. Jay was glad that we could help his mother 
with the more practical help, such as letters, benefits and phone calls as he feels he doesn’t understand it all. 

2) What do you think would be different if the YCJL&D did not have an input? 
Jay’s mother said that they’d be ‘homeless’ due to the fact that they would have kept on struggling with their 
relationship, they felt that Jay would have carried on getting arrested as well. Jay’s mother reported “We’re off the 
merry-go-round and it’s stopped”, she reports that the merry go round is negative and they finally have some 
positives in their lives. 
 

Jay and his mother took part in the making of a short film that tells their journey with the Youth Criminal Justice Liaison 
and Diversion Service. 
With reassurance that only proportionate information from his clinical assessment would be shared together with his 
progress in the form of a report, consent was given by Jay and his mother to share information with criminal justice 
decision makers. Jay was invited in for a voluntary interview with the police for the offence. In recognition of the work 
that he completed, and the progress made, he was given a caution for possession of Class A drugs. 

 
 
WHAT WE AIM TO DO AS A PARTNERSHIP 

• Support Autism Berkshire in the continued roll out of the Thames Valley Autism Alert card. 
• By supporting this collaboration work with Thames Valley Police and Autism Berkshire, officers 

will be better equipped, so that any interactions should be more positive for all concerned. 
• Work with a partners so there is a much wider understanding of “county lines “, “mate crime” 

and “cuckooing” within all sectors and the wider community and provide a multi-agency 
response to the victim. The One Reading Young People and Extra Familial Harm Strategy 
2021/22 to 23/24 covers these types of crime. 

• The crime type itself will be better understood by partners and the community and the support 
package provided will be tailored to the needs of the victim to prevent and protect going forward. 

Page 108



 

29 
 
 
 

• Work with partners to better understand the representation and needs of Autistic people within 
the CJ system. And ensure they are aware of and using the registered intermediary where 
appropriate. 

• By effectively understanding the demand we will be better placed to provide support where 
appropriate.  

• Universal use of a consistent screening tool within the CJS is needed along with an information 
sharing protocol for information sharing between services.   
 
For autistic young people and adult to keep safe, we will: 

• Through our commissioning, we will aim to support organisations to provide information advice 
and guidance, and activities to reduce loneliness and isolation. 

• Support people who are vulnerable, including teaching anti-victimisation and personal safety 
skills.  

• Support autistic people with paid employment and fixed activity routines, that they feel safe and 
confident doing, thus minimising the risk of vulnerabilities being exploited by others  

• Mainstream services/local organisations to work in partnership with Prevent/Channel to identify 
those at risk of being drawn into extremism, assess and offer appropriate support plans to suit 
individual’s needs. 
 

 

 
 

 

 
Our Ambition 

Understanding and tailored support and communication so that autistic people, and their families 
and carers of children, young people and adults are enabled to live their healthiest lives to the 
fullest, throughout their life span.  
 
What we know nationally 

Families and carers of autistic people are often key to people being able to live independently 
in community settings. However, supporting another person, often for many years, can place a 
great deal of strain on the carer, especially if the person with autism does not want outside 
support, or struggle to engage with services or new people.  
 
Caring for an autistic person can be rewarding but also demanding, both mentally and physically, 
and often isolating. Carers can benefit from training to help them better understand autism, 
support to plan for the future, peer support and opportunities to take breaks from caring.  
 
National picture 

There are an estimated 3 million family members and carers of autistic people in the UK22  

 
22 Local Government Association (LGA) (2022). Support for autistic people | Local Government Association. [online] www.local.gov.uk. 
Available at: https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/sector-support-offer/care-and-health-improvement/autistic-and-learning-
disabilities/autistic#:~:text=It%20is%20estimated%20that%20there.  

PRIORITY 7 – IMPROVING SUPPORT FOR FAMILIES AND CARERS OF AUTISTIC PEOPLE

Page 109

https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/sector-support-offer/care-and-health-improvement/autistic-and-learning-disabilities/autistic#:~:text=It%20is%20estimated%20that%20there
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/sector-support-offer/care-and-health-improvement/autistic-and-learning-disabilities/autistic#:~:text=It%20is%20estimated%20that%20there


 

30 
 
 
 

Some autistic people will need very little or no support in their everyday lives while others need 
high levels of care, such as 24-hour support in residential care. The National Strategy for autistic 
children, young people and adults aims at putting in place effective measures to ‘make a 
difference to autistic people and their families’ lives’ and for their life to be ‘fundamentally better.’ 
The Government has also pledged to provide support to facilitate engagement, including 
supporting Parent Carer Forums, to strengthen the engagement of parents and young people in 
the Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) system, the Transforming Care for 
Children and Young People accelerator programme, and a review of advocacy for families and 
carers to be able to speak up about the experiences of their loved ones. 
 
The Care Act 2014 has given carers of adults the same rights as those they care for – the right 
to a carer’s assessment and support plan if they have eligible needs and a personal budget, as 
well as information, advice and guidance on support available or that they are entitled to (e.g., 
carer’s breaks) and how to access this. In Reading this can be provided through social care or 
the Reading Carers Hub. Under the Children and Families Act 2014, the Council has a duty to 
assess parent carers on the appearance of need or where an assessment is requested by the 
parent. The assessment covers the health and wellbeing of the parent carer and the need to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of the person cared for. The Council must be satisfied that 
the child and their family come within the scope of the Children’s Act 1989.23   
 
What we know in Reading 
  

• Parents and carers need to be supported and feel supported at the outset even whilst a 
child, young person or adult is waiting for an assessment as the waiting lists in Reading 
are significantly longer than the 13-week NICE guideline.  

• Reading has a wide range of voluntary groups/organisations that offer support for autistic 
people with or without a learning disability, and their families. Details are on the Reading 
Services Guide and the Local Offer. 

• The Berkshire West Autism and ADHD Support Service has been commissioned by 
Berkshire West CCG and co-produced by stakeholders in health, education, social care 
and the voluntary sector. It is run by Autism Berkshire and delivers autism support for 
families and carers whilst they wait for their child or young person to be assessed or after 
diagnosis (see Priority 4) 

• The Autism Berkshire service encompasses advice, support and workshops for families, 
of children and young people aged 5 to 25 who may or may not have Autism or ADHD 
or are waiting for assessment. Advice & strategies cover topics including child 
development, speech, play, food issues, toileting, sleep, supporting behaviour, sensory 
issues, puberty and supporting anxiety. Autism Berkshire also support parents in 
navigating the school and social care system.  
 

The service includes a Helpline, one to one consultations and workshops: 
• Home Visits – an in-depth one-to-one discussion online or face-to-face (where possible) 

with parents and carers 
• Autism advice workshops: online workshops lasting 2 hours Understanding More About 

Autism; Sensory Differences plus Plan and Q and A session; and Supporting Behaviour 
plus Plan and Q and A session, parents can attend one or all three 

• Teen Life, a National Autistic Society 6 week course for parents and carers of autistic 
children aged 10 to 16. Includes a workbook which parents can refer back to after the 
course. 

 
23 National Autistic Society (2020b). Carers assessments in England. [online] www.autism.org.uk. Available at: https://www.autism.org.uk/advice-and-
guidance/topics/social-care/social-care-england-carers/carers-assessments.  

Page 110

https://www.autismberkshire.org.uk/home-visiting-service/
https://www.autismberkshire.org.uk/workshops-parents-carers/
https://www.autismberkshire.org.uk/teen-life/
https://www.autism.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/topics/social-care/social-care-england-carers/carers-assessments
https://www.autism.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/topics/social-care/social-care-england-carers/carers-assessments


 

31 
 
 
 

• Additional workshops/webinars for parents and carers cover: Autism and Girls, with 
autism advocate Carly Jones MBE, Emotional Regulation, Food Refusal, Sleep Difficulties, 
Transitions to Adulthood 

 
Support for children and young people includes: 

• Tailored interventions, based on individual need, for children aged 5 to 7 
• Social interaction skills groups for children/young people 8-16, to develop confidence 

and emotional wellbeing (run by Parenting Special Children) 
• SocialEyes, a NAS course for autistic 17 to 25-year-olds, looking at further social 

interaction skills and strategies to boost wellbeing and independence. 
• Parents can self-refer to the Autism Berkshire service using an online form  Berkshire West 

Autism & ADHD Support Service referral form for parents, carers and autistic young people 
- Autism Berkshire this includes consent to store their data and to receive the newsletter. 

• Professions can refer families Berkshire West Autism & ADHD Support Service referral 
form for professionals - Autism Berkshire Both referral forms are secure and comply with 
the NHS Data Protection and Security Toolkit. 

• Short breaks are opportunities for children and young people with disabilities to spend 
time away from their families and carers, socialise with peers and have fun as well as 
provide opportunities for families and carers to have a break from caring responsibilities.  

• Brighter Futures for Children commission a range of Short Breaks. These are advertised 
via the Local Offer24 and are either free or subsidised. Currently we have a performing 
arts, dance, football, Lego and independence Short Breaks running. 

• The Local Offer also listed other activities for children with SEND including autism. Parents 
can use the Local Offer website or phone to speak to one of the very knowledgeable staff. 

• The Local Offer staff can help families with individual queries, for example finding a SEND 
childminder or a Short Break for a child with a special interest. 

• For children who have been assessed by a qualified social worker in line with Section 17 
Children Act 1989 as being eligible for services as Child in Need may be eligible for an 
overnight residential Short Break service at Cressingham. This is for no more than 75 nights 
per year away from their families.  The referral route to this service is via Brighter Futures 
for Children Single Point of Access (available online).  

• For children who have been assessed by qualified social workers to need more than 75 
nights per year of care away from their parents may be eligible for shared care at Pinecroft 
residential accommodation. The children are resident without their parents and have 
weekly and regular nights at Pinecroft to enable parents and siblings to have a break. 
Cressingham and Pinecroft are regulated childcare provisions and are managed by 
Brighter Futures for Children and regularly inspected by OFSTED with Cressingham rated 
Outstanding and Pinecroft Good at the last inspections in 2021. 

• Pinecroft has been remodelled with a new sensory room and outside space. An Open Day 
was held in Spring 2022 and well attended by families and professionals. 

• RBC’s Adult Social Care team run a Preparing for Adulthood Team to support families when 
their child moves from children’s to adult services. See section 2. 

• Reading Mencap runs a highly regarded Family Adviser service providing information, 
advice and guidance, to support adults with Learning Disability and Autism, and their 
families, including advice about daily living, helping maintain a tenancy, health appointments 
and access to statutory services, including benefits. RM employ a specialist Transition 
Family Adviser. 

• Reading Mencap runs day services and clubs for people with a Learning Disability, or a 
Learning Disability and Autism to reduce loneliness and isolation and improve mental 
wellbeing, and provide respite for carers. 

 

 
24 Special Educational Needs & Disabilities - Reading's Local Offer | Reading Services Guide SEND Local Offer page 

Page 111

https://www.autismberkshire.org.uk/workshops-parents-carers/
https://www.autismberkshire.org.uk/parenting-special-children-workshops-and-courses-for-the-berkshire-west-autism-and-adhd-support-service/
https://www.autismberkshire.org.uk/community-learning-for-autistic-adults/
https://www.autismberkshire.org.uk/berkshire-west-autism-adhd-support-service-referral-form-for-parents-carers-and-autistic-young-people/
https://www.autismberkshire.org.uk/berkshire-west-autism-adhd-support-service-referral-form-for-parents-carers-and-autistic-young-people/
https://www.autismberkshire.org.uk/berkshire-west-autism-adhd-support-service-referral-form-for-parents-carers-and-autistic-young-people/
https://www.autismberkshire.org.uk/berkshire-west-autism-adhd-support-service-referral-form-for-professionals/
https://www.autismberkshire.org.uk/berkshire-west-autism-adhd-support-service-referral-form-for-professionals/
https://servicesguide.reading.gov.uk/kb5/reading/directory/family.page?familychannel=3


 

32 
 
 
 

• The Whitley Wood respite service is available to learning disability and autistic adults and 
is run by Reading Borough Council. It was rated Good at its last inspection by the CQC in 
2017. 

• Tuvida Carers Hub is commissioned by Reading Borough Council and BFfC to provide 
support to adult carers, including information, advice and guidance, respite breaks or crisis 
support with the Carers Break service.  

• Parents and family carers can access the Reading Carers Card, allowing carers to be 
identified at various local outlets for easier access and targeted support.  

• Carers can request a carer’s assessment of their needs to identify areas where they need 
additional support or explore opportunities to improve their health and wellbeing. This could 
be through allocation of a personal budget specifically for the carer to use for an activity of 
their choice.   

• Reading Families Forum (RFF) is funded by government grant and is an independent 
charity run by and for families of disabled children and young adults aged 0 – 25 years. RFF 
are part of the National Network of Parent Carer Forums. They work to ensure that local 
parent carers and young people with all additional needs co-produce local services that they 
use. Co-production means that families are at the heart of discussions, giving their views 
and experiences about what is needed and setting priorities.  

• COVID-19 measures taken to reduce the spread of the virus have limited access to many 
services, including respite care. These services are now re-opening, but many carers have 
gone without a break for many months and are in great need of time off to recuperate.  

 
What is important to Reading people 

We spoke to Reading parents and carers and found that less than 10% of respondents felt 
supported by statutory health, care services and voluntary community sector services in their 
caring role. 

Some needs identified included the below: 

• Facilitate access to breaks for families and carers  
• Better child-care provision and activities during half-term and school holidays or weekend 

clubs needed for primary school age children 
• Improve communication to keep parents informed of progress or additional services 

available 

WHAT WE AIM TO DO AS A PARTNERSHIP 

• Through our commissioning, we will aim to support organisations to provide information 
advice, guidance, and activities to reduce loneliness and isolation. 

• Through commissioning of the new carers service later in 2022, we will support carers and 
families to access carers assessments, information, advice and guidance, respite and crisis 
support and more easily. 

• To support carer better, all organisations will refer all parents needing pre-assessment or 
post-diagnosis support to the Berkshire West CCG NHS Autism and ADHD support service, 
as some parents, although sent a referral pack by the AAT, report not knowing about the 
support available either, whilst they are waiting to be assessed, or after diagnosis.  

• To support carers better, all organisations will refer all parents to the Local Offer, so they 
can access information and signposting, as some parents are reporting that they are 
unaware of the service. 

• Brighter Futures for Children, Adult Social Care, the Local Offer, Reading Services Guide, 
and Autism Berkshire and Reading Mencap will promote the Ordinarily available, and 
specialist autism and learning disability services to families and carers. 

Page 112



 

33 
 
 
 

• Brighter Futures for Children will review the provision of Short Breaks to ensure it meets the 
needs of families. 
 
 

Delivering our future priorities 
 
Reading’s multi-agency Autism Board must be supported to ensure that key work and insights 
contribute to timely, appropriate provision of services and resource for Reading’s population of 
autistic people and those that support them. 
 
Local Governance and Monitoring Arrangements  
Progress made against the priorities, associated actions and any commissioning intentions set 
out in this strategy will be formally reported to and monitored by:  

▪ Autism Board 
▪ Health and Wellbeing Board  

Using existing networks and partnerships the work included in this strategy’s implementation 
plans will be communicated and updates provided to: 

• Autism Board 
• SEND Standards Board 
• Health and Wellbeing Board  
• Community Safety Partnership  

• Transitional Care Partnership 
• Learning Disability Partnership Board  
• Mental Health Forum 
• MH/LDA ICP Board and CYP ICP 

Board 
 
The Autism Partnership Board - will lead on co-ordinating the implementation of the strategy 
through developing implementation plans and measures of success to support priorities across 
partners to achieve the planned outcomes, provide answerable leadership in partnership with 
all partners with the duty, knowledge and desire to improve the lives of autistic people and their 
families and carers. This board will consist of key stakeholders from across the system including 
autistic people and family representatives. The board will further define monitoring 
arrangements. 

This strategy and implementation plans are live documents which will be used to monitor 
progress and work with partners to drive positive outcomes for autistic people and their families. 
A significant joint effort will be needed. As live working documents, the implementation plans 
will be updated to reflect any changes to need and develop as the strategy progresses.  

 

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Appendix 2 - Reading All-Age Autism Action Plan  

Year 1 2022/23 
 

Priority 1: Improving awareness, understanding and 
acceptance of autism 

Lead (s): Autism Partnership Board 

  
Action Measure of Success / 

Outcome 
By When By Whom 

Develop a training programme 
to raise awareness of Autism 
across public and private 
agencies 
 

Training programme in 
place and is accessed 
by partners 

Feb 2023 Autism Partnership 
Board 

Develop a programme of 
awareness events, promotional 
activities for World Autism 
Awareness Week (29th Mar – 4 
Apr 2023) 
 

All partnership to offer a 
range of public 
promotional and 
awareness events 

Mar 2023 Autism Partnership 
Board 

Develop an Autism Web 
page/site  
 

Web page developed 
Promotion of all 
providers/ activities/ 
information on Autism 

Mar 2023 Chair of Autism 
Partnership Board 

 
 
Priority 2:  Improving support and access to early 
years, education and supporting positive transitions 
and preparing for adulthood 

Lead (s): BFFC & Adult Social Care 

  
Action Measure of Success 

/ Outcome 
By When By Whom 

Communication between Early 
Years and SEND Team to 
highlight number of expected 
children with Autism & Complex 
needs to be coming up into 
school.  

SEND team able to 
place plan 
appropriately for 
children with Autism 
and Complex needs.  
 

Ongoing  
 
 

BFFC Early Years & 
SEND Team 

AET Training; Attention Autism & 
Intensive Interaction Training 
available within the Early Years 
programme  
 

Each programme ran 
yearly with uptake of 
30 people attendance.  
 

Ongoing – Yearly  
 

BFFC Early Years & 
SEND Team  

Early Years to Primary Transition 
Workstream – see attached  
 

Actions completed 
from paper – less 
number of children 
requiring to offset 
 

Ongoing – Yearly 
Transition plan  
 

BFFC Early Years & 
SEND Team & 
Mainstream 
Admissions  
 

Prioritising school leavers for EY 
SEND Advisory visit & EYFS 
Prime Support focussing on 2 
year olds.  
 

Increasing number of 
appropriate EHCPs 
applied before school 
start to ensure 
support in place. 

Ongoing BFFC Early Years 
Team 

 
 
  

Page 115



2 
 
 
 

Priority 3. Increasing employment, vocation and 
training opportunities autistic people 
 

Lead (s): BFFC Elevate & New Directions 
College  

  
Action Measure of Success 

/ Outcome 
By When By Whom 

Deliver a high quality careers 
service to young people and their 
families in order to support them 
to access a range of employment 
and training opportunities and 
reduce the number of SEND 
young people being out of 
education, training or 
employment. 
 

Sufficient and 
appropriate support is 
provided for families  
 
Increased 
participation of SEND 
young people in 
education, training 
and employment, 
reduction of young 
people becoming long 
term NEET 

Ongoing BFFC Elevate 

Identify and work with local 
services that provide re-
engagement into employment, 
education or training for 
neurodivergent young people and 
identify gaps in provision to 
improve post 16 outcomes for 
young people. 

Young people to 
develop independent 
skills for working and 
living independently; 
Supporting more 
autistic people into 
vocational training 
and employment 

Ongoing BFFC Elevate & New 
Directions 

New Directions College to offer 
bespoke provision for adults with 
LD/Autism with a focus on 
developing pathways to supported 
employment, volunteering or 
apprenticeships. 
 

Volume of adults with 
LD/Autism accessing 
bespoke programmes 
and progressing to 
supported 
employment. 

Ongoing New Directions 
College 

 

Priority 4. Better lives for autistic people – tackling 
health and care inequalities and building the right 
support in the community and supporting people in 
inpatient care 
 

Lead (s): BOB Integrated Care Board  

  
Action Measure of Success 

/ Outcome 
By When By Whom 

Reduce risk of admission and 
readmission 
Y3 of CETRs / DSR development: 
- Deliver agreed trajectory for 
children and young people (15/1M 
target) and CETR policy 
- Positive Behavioural support in 
place 

Key worker model will 
be Business as Usual 
 
There will be evidence 
of service 
improvements 
Reduction in issues 
and admissions 
through promotion of 
PBS  

April 2023 
 

BOB ICS Place leads  

Better start in life for CYP: 
- Plan in place to monitor & 
support increase in AHCs 

75% CYP >14 years 
receive AHCs 

April 2023 
 

BOB ICS Place Leads 

Reduce wait times for autism 
diagnosis & pre / post diagnostic 
support  

Autism diagnosis 
within 1 year 
 

April 2024 
 

BOB ICS Place leads 
and providers  

Page 116



3 
 
 
 

  Agreed model fully 
implemented across 
BOB 

Transition to adult services  
- 0-25 services designed and 
integrated with SEND & MH LTP 

Improved experience 
of care for CYP & 
families 

April 2023 
 

BOB ICS Place Leads 

Provide training for bus drivers, 
taxi drivers and escorts to know 
the needs of the autistic person 
and are trained in how to best to 
meet these needs and 
communicate with them.  

Training sessions 
provided 

April 2024 Autism Berkshire 

Provide additional support of 
getting driving licence for people 
with anxiety and sensory 
difficulties. 

Information and 
guidance in place 

April 2024 Autism Berkshire 

 
 
Priority 5. Housing and supporting independent living Lead (s): Adult Social Care Commissioning 

  
  
Action Measure of Success 

/ Outcome 
By When By Whom 

Undertaken a needs assessment 
on the number of autistic people 
living within social housing and 
the type of support they require 

Needs assessment 
which helps to inform 
commissioning 
intentions 

April 2023 Adult Social Care 
Commissioning 

Identify and map the different 
types of supported housing 
accommodation available in 
Reading and is it meeting the 
required need 
 

Reconfiguration of 
specifications where 
needs provision is not 
meeting need 

April 2023 Adult Social Care 
Commissioning 
 

Ensure guidance has considered 
on designing for neurodiversity 
(PAS 6463:2022), and ensure 
these policies included in the 
Local Plan Review and Public 
Realm Strategy  

There is increasing 
understanding of how 
neurodivergent people 
experience the built 
environment in 
different ways, and 
how choices made 
within streets and 
spaces may affect 
people differently, for 
instance in terms of 
colours, materials, 
patterns and levels of 
visual clutter.   

Ongoing RBC Planning Policy 

    
Priority 6 Keeping safe and improving support within 
the criminal and youth justice system 

Lead (s): Autism Berkshire 

  
Action Measure of 

Success / 
Outcome 

By When By Whom 

Support Autism Berkshire in the 
continued roll out of the Thames 
Valley Autism Alert card. 

Increased use of the 
card across all 
areas 

Mar 2023 Board 

Support collaboration work with 
Thames Valley Police and Autism 

Autism awareness 
training of all front 

Mar 2023 Board 

Page 117



4 
 
 
 

Berkshire, and the continued roll 
out of the Autism awareness 
training to front line officers  

line officers 
completed. 

 
 
Priority 7: Supporting families and carers of autistic 
people 

Lead (s): Autism Partnership Board 

  
Action Measure of 

Success / 
Outcome 

By When By Whom 

Early Help Service’s at BFfC to 
ensure that all families/carers of 
autistic children are linked with the 
Autism Advisor and local autism 
support services.  

Family Workers will 
refer families to 
autism advisor as 
part of their work  
and this will be 
captured in the EH 
plan and/or case 
notes.  
 

Ongoing – Yearly  
 

BFfC Early Help  

All parent/carers in Reading 
following a child’s autism 
diagnosis have access to BFfC’s 
Autism Advisor. The autism 
advisor can offer advice & 
guidance to parent/carers. Ensure 
families are linked with relevant 
services and will run the Living 
with Autism course for parents 5 
times per year.  
 
 

Living with Autism 
post course 
questionnaires. 
 
Autism Advisors 
yearly summery of 
support offered and 
number of parent 
meetings.  
  

Ongoing – Yearly  
 

BFfC’s Autism 
Advisor 

BFfC reviewing short breaks to 
meet the needs of families and 
consider the strategic interplay 
with SENDS. Overall offer of short 
breaks to family in 
communications with all SENDS 
organisations and via BFfC local 
offer. 

Parents/Carers 
have a clear 
understanding of 
short break 
services. This is 
captured via BFfC 
parent feedbacks. 

Ongoing – Yearly  
 

BFfC Early Help 

Commissioned ASC/BFfC carers 
assessments to the Partnership 
Board. 

Sampling of carers 
assessments and 
services available 
and afterwards from 
BFfC and RBC. 

Ongoing – Yearly  
 

ASC / BFfC 

 

Page 118



1 

Appendix 3 - Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 

For advice on this document please contact Clare Muir on 72119 or email 
Claire.Muir@reading.gov.uk.  

Please contact the Project Management Office at pmo@reading.gov.uk for advice and/or 
support to complete this form from a project perspective. 

 

 

Name of proposal/activity/policy to be assessed:  

Reading’s All Age Autism Strategy 2022 - 2026 

Directorate:    

Directorates of Adult Care and Health Services and Council wide services 

Service: Adult Social Care and Public Health and Wellbeing Team 

Name: Sunny Mehmi 

Job Title: Assistant Director: Adult Social Care 

Date of assessment:11/11/2022 

 

 
 

 

Version History 

 

Version Reason Author Date Approved By 
1.0 Creation Amanda Nyeke 07/06/2022  
2.0 Reviewed Sunny Mehmi 09/06/2022  
3.0 Reviewed Sunny Mehmi 11/10/2022  
4.0 Reviewed Amanda Nyeke 03/11/2022  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 119

mailto:Claire.Muir@reading.gov.uk
mailto:pmo@reading.gov.uk


2 
 
 
 

Scope your proposal 

 

1. What is the aim of your policy or new service/what changes are you proposing? 
 

The proposal is to adopt a Reading All Age Autism Strategy for the period 2022-2026 in 
accordance with The Autism Act 2009 which sets out the requirements for local authorities and 
NHS bodies to work with local partners to improve services and support autistic people. The 
Act put a duty on Government to produce and regularly review an ‘Autism Strategy’ to meet the 
needs of adults with autism in England. Following the publication of the latest “The national 
strategy for autistic children, young people and adults: 2021 to 2026”, Reading has 
started the development of a local autism strategy. This aligns the national priorities in 
conjunction with local demands and needs of those autistic residents in Reading. 

 

Reading’s All Age Autism Strategy 2022-2026 sets out key priorities across Reading and the 
services which serve the Reading autistic population, their families and carers. 

 

The Strategy identifies 7 priorities. These are: 

1. Improving awareness, understanding and acceptance of autism 
2. Improving support and access to early years, education and supporting positive 
transitions and preparing for adulthood 
3. Increasing employment, vocation and training opportunities autistic people  
4. Better lives for autistic people – tackling health and care inequalities and building the 
right support in the community and supporting people in inpatient care 
5. Housing and supporting independent living 
6. Keeping safe and the criminal justice system 
7. Supporting families and carers of autistic people 

 

 

2. Who will benefit from this proposal and how? 
It is intended to be an important strategy in improving the health, wellbeing and wider 
outcomes of Reading autistic people, their families and carers; 

 

3. What outcomes does the change aim to achieve and for whom? 
 

Adopting the 2022-2026 Reading All Age Autism Strategy will give the Autism Partnership 
Board a focus on the 7 identified priorities (see above), and set a framework for ensuring that 
plans to address these are monitored effectively and help to:  

4. Promoting the partnership working and integration of services. 
5. To promote equality, social inclusion and a safe and healthy environment for all 
6. Contributions to Community Safety, Health and Wellbeing of residents with autism. 

Page 120



3 
 
 
 

 

In turn, the commissioning plans over the next four years should also be driven by and reflect 
Reading’s All Age Autism Strategy 2022-2026 priorities.    

The Strategy is aimed at the entire autistic population in Reading including their families and 
carers and adopting it should co-ordinate efforts to outcomes for any resident potentially 
affected by the priority issues.  

The Autism Partnership Board will drive performance forward in the chosen priority areas as set 
out in the Strategy. In addition, the Autism Board will continue to work collaboratively and 
receive reports and monitor strategy action from other local strategic partnerships involved in 
supporting autistic people and improving health and wellbeing. 

Reading’s All Age Autism Strategy 2022 - 2026 acknowledges the risks related to climate 
change but is not designed to address those risks at this point in time. However, the 
implementation plans will endeavour to include detailed actions wherever relevant to address 
those risks and the health implications of climate risks. 

 

7. Who are the main stakeholders and what do they want? 
 

- Current autistic children, young people and adults 

- Carers and family of autistic people  

- Staff and volunteers across care and support providers in the statutory, private and voluntary 
sectors that support autistic people. 

 

 

 

Assess whether an EqIA is Relevant 

How does your proposal relate to eliminating discrimination; advancing equality of opportunity; 
promoting good community relations? 

 

1. Do you have evidence or reason to believe that some (racial, disability, sex, 
gender, sexuality, age and religious belief) groups may be affected differently 
than others?  

2. Make reference to the known demographic profile of the service user group, your 
monitoring information, research, national data/reports etc.  

 

Priority 1 and 4 of the strategy, address raising awareness, acceptance, understanding and 
reducing the health differences between groups based on the data analysis and consultation 
we have undergone to ensure all in the population benefit from the strategic aims. 

 

 

Page 121



4 
 
 
 

3. Is there already public concern about potentially discriminatory practices/impact 
or could there be? Make reference to your complaints, consultation, feedback, 
media reports locally/nationally. 

 

No    

 

 
If the answer is Yes to any of the above, you need to do an Equality Impact Assessment. 

If No you MUST complete this statement. 

An Equality Impact Assessment is not relevant because: 

 

 

Lead Officer 

Sunny Mehmi 

Assistant Director: Adult Social Care 

  

Page 122



5 
 
 
 

Assess the Impact of the Proposal 

Your assessment must include: 

1. Consultation 

2. Collection and Assessment of Data 

3. Judgement about whether the impact is negative or positive 
 

Think about who does and doesn’t use the service? Is the take up representative of the 
community? What do different minority groups think? (You might think your policy, project or 
service is accessible and addressing the needs of these groups, but asking them might give 
you a totally different view). Does it really meet their varied needs? Are some groups less likely 
to get a good service?  

How do your proposals relate to other services - will your proposals have knock on effects on 
other services elsewhere? Are there proposals being made for other services that relate to 
yours and could lead to a cumulative impact?  

 

Example: A local authority takes separate decisions to limit the eligibility criteria for community 
care services; increase charges for respite services; scale back its accessible housing 
programme; and cut concessionary travel.  

Each separate decision may have a significant effect on the lives of disabled residents, and the 
cumulative impact of these decisions may be considerable.  

This combined impact would not be apparent if decisions are considered in isolation. 

 

Consultation 

 
See section 7. Community Engagement and Information 

 
Collect and Assess your Data 

Using information from Census, residents survey data, service monitoring data, satisfaction or 
complaints, feedback, consultation, research, your knowledge and the knowledge of people in 
your team, staff groups etc. describe how the proposal could impact on each group. Include 
both positive and negative impacts.  

(Please delete relevant ticks) 
 

1. Describe how this proposal could impact on racial groups 
2. Is there a negative impact? No  
No negative impact in terms of different racial groups has been identified. 

Where take up of other services is disproportionately low for some racial groups which may 
face particular barriers to access, there will be a focusing of resources on those communities 
as part of the drive to reduce inequalities.  

Page 123



6 
 
 
 

There is an ongoing need to recognise that cultural norms and barriers such as language may 
impact on access to support, and the All Age Autism Strategy should be a tool to address this.  

Responses to the initial engagement raised the importance of ensuring that information and 
advice about health and wellbeing and other key information is accessible to all groups. 

 
 

3. Describe how this proposal could impact on Sex and Gender identity (include 
pregnancy and maternity, marriage, gender re-assignment) 

4. Is there a negative impact? No  
 

No negative impact in terms of gender has been identified. 

 
 

5. Describe how this proposal could impact on Disability 
6. Is there a negative impact? No  
 
No negative impact in terms of disability has been identified. 
 
 

7. Describe how this proposal could impact on Sexual orientation (cover civil 
partnership) 

8. Is there a negative impact? No  
 

No negative impacts on the grounds of sexual orientation have been identified. 
 
 

9. Describe how this proposal could impact on age 
10. Is there a negative impact?  No  
 
No negative impacts on the grounds of age have been identified 
 
 

11. Describe how this proposal could impact on Religious belief 
12. Is there a negative impact?  No  
 

No negative impact in terms of religion or belief has been identified. 

 
 

Make a Decision 

If the impact is negative then you must consider whether you can legally justify it.  If not you must 
set out how you will reduce or eliminate the impact. If you are not sure what the impact will be 

Page 124



7 
 
 
 

you MUST assume that there could be a negative impact. You may have to do further 
consultation or test out your proposal and monitor the impact before full implementation. 

 
No negative impact identified – Go to sign off 
 

 
1. How will you monitor for adverse impact in the future? 
 

The long-term impact of adopting Reading’s All Age Autism Strategy 2022 - 2026 should be a 
reduction in health inequalities and improvement in outcomes for autistic people, their families and 
carers. In order to track progress towards this goal, Action Plans will be developed with progress 
reports made to the Autism Partnership Board and fed into the Health and Well Being Board.  

 

 

 

Lead Officer 

Sunny Mehmi 

Assistant Director: Adult Social Care 

 

 

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD (SAB) ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 UPDATE 
1 

 

 
READING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
REPORT BY (EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FOR SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH) 

 
TO: ADULT SOCIAL CARE, CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND 

EDUCATION COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 18 January 2023 
 

  

TITLE: SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD (SAB) ANNUAL REPORT 
2021/22 UPDATE 
 

LEAD 
COUNCILLOR: 
 

CLLR ENNIS PORTFOLIO: ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

SERVICE: ADULT SOCIAL 
CARE 
 

WARDS: BOROUGH WIDE 

LEAD 
OFFICER: 

JO LAPPIN 
 

TEL:   

JOB TITLE: ASSISTANT 
DIRECTOR 
 

E-MAIL: Joanne.lappin@reading.g
ov.uk 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. The Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) is responsible for leading adult 
safeguarding arrangements and overseeing and coordinating the effectiveness 
of the safeguarding work of member and partner agencies. 

 
1.2. The overarching purpose of a SAB is to safeguard adults with care and support 

needs. It does this by assuring itself that local safeguarding arrangements are in 
place, as defined by the Care Act 2014. Local authorities must demonstrate 
that: 

 
• Safeguarding practice is person-centred and outcome focused. 
• Partners are working collaboratively to prevent abuse and neglect where 

possible. 
• Agencies and individuals give timely and proportionate responses when 

abuse or neglect have occurred. 
• Safeguarding practice is continuously improving. 
• The quality of life of adults in its area is enhanced. 
 

1.3. The approach taken by Reading Borough Council to discharge its duty is 
twofold:   

 
• RBC hosts the strategic partnership arrangement between Reading, West 

Berkshire and Wokingham and operates as the lead organisation, hosting the 
joint Safeguarding Adult Board across the 3 areas. The Board is chaired by 
an Independent Chair.   

Page 127

Agenda Item 11



SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD (SAB) ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 UPDATE 
2 

 

• All safeguarding referrals are now received by the RBC Contact Centre 
(since July 2022). RBC also has a dedicated operational Quality & 
Safeguarding Adults Team who lead the response to safeguarding concerns 
and referrals once they have been screened by the Contact Centre.  

1.4. The Berkshire West Annual Report 2021/22 has been published since approval 
by the Safeguarding Adult Board. The published report is an overarching 
partnership report, appended by individual organisational reports from 
participating partner agencies.   

  
1.5. The full report and Reading Borough Council’s submission to the Berkshire 

West Annual Report 2021/22 are attached for information.  
 
 
2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
2.1 Adults Social Care, Children’s Services and Education Committee (ACE) to 

note the Berkshire West Safeguarding Board Annual Report for 2021/22. 
2.2 RBC’s contribution to the Berkshire West Safeguarding Board Annual 

Report was reviewed by ACE in September 2022.  
 
 
 
3. CONTEXT 
 

Safeguarding continues to be a key priority for RBC and as a core statutory duty 
service have been prioritised and maintained throughout the pandemic, with 
increased volumes in referrals being experienced.   
 
RBC is fully committed to the multi-agency safeguarding arrangements in place and 
operates as a lead partner in the SAB.  
 
 

4. THE PROPOSAL 
 
4.1 Current Position  
 

The SAB priorities for 2021/22 were:  
 
Priority 1: To consider SAB learning regarding self-neglect; to understand what 
more we need to do to ensure that our ways of working with people who are self-
neglecting are consistent and  
 
Priority 2: To consider SAB learning regarding pressure care management and 
understand what the partnership needs to do to ensure that our way of working with 
people at risk of pressure sores is consistently of best practice standard.  
 
Priority 3: To consider SAB learning in regard to organisational safeguarding and 
identify what the partnership needs to do to transform our way of working with 
provider agencies to promote and ensure good quality, safe and consistent 
standards of care.  
 

Page 128



SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD (SAB) ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 UPDATE 
3 

 

Priority 4:  The SAB will continue to carry out the following business as usual tasks 
in order to comply with its statutory obligations.  

 
4.2 The SAB priorities for 2022/23 are:  
 

Priority 1: To expand on learning regarding self-neglect: to offer the partnership 
resources to support them to achieve effective outcomes for individuals that self-
neglect.  
 
Priority 2: To seek assurance that the quality of health and social care services 
delivered in the West of Berkshire or those commissioned out of area for West of 
Berkshire residents is monitored effectively and there is a proportionate response to 
concerns.  
 
Priority 3: The SAB to review it’s Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR) process, in 
order to ensure that it is timely and good value for money.  
 
Priority 4: The SAB will continue to carry out business as usual tasks in order to 
comply with statutory duties.   
 

4.3 Improving the Future of Safeguarding Adults in Reading   
  

The 2022/23 priorities for Reading as a Council in supporting the Board priorities 
are: 

 
• We will seek to manage safeguarding referrals through a single point of contact 

and will utilise the Council’s ‘front door’.  

• We will engage with wider preventative programmes and link with other 
workstreams such as those being led by Public Health to ensure any harm from 
abuse and neglect is prevented.  

• Using the census data to better understand any inequalities in accessing 
safeguarding services, we will meet with groups and partners in the black, Asian 
and minority ethnic communities to raise awareness and understand the barriers 
and reasons for the inequalities. We will then seek to address these barriers.  

• We will progress the interface between quality assurance and safeguarding to 
provide a proactive response to quality concerns. Through a restructure the 
team will become a Quality & Safeguarding Team, responsible for the continuum 
of quality and safeguarding, with an emphasis on preventing harm.  

• We will continue to support partners with their understanding of the thresholds 
for safeguarding referrals and the appropriate pathways and routes for 
addressing the care and support needs of adults.  

• We will ensure that the voices of adults at risk are sought, heard, listened to and 
acted upon and our approach to making safeguarding personal will be 
developed and enhanced along with partners.  

Page 129



SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD (SAB) ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 UPDATE 
4 

 

• We will revisit the safeguarding training pathway for staff employed by Reading 
Borough Council, particularly decision makers and we will audit compliance with 
safeguarding training.  

• We will introduce an audit programme to ensure continuous professional 
practice.  

• We will pay particular attention to understanding the context of risks for young 
people and introduce a transition protocol.  

•  We will ensure all staff are conversant with any new or emerging legislation and 
policy in relation to safeguarding, through the direction of our Principal Social 
Worker.  

• We will seek to undertake a programme of audits to evaluate our practice and 
ensure continuous improvements.  

• We will ensure SAB priority areas are fully embedded. 

  

5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS 
 

5.1 The SAB has set priorities for 2022/2023 to ensure adults at risk of abuse or 
neglect are safeguarded.    

 
5.2 RBC will support the SAB priorities fully and these will also be reflected in the 

Corporate and Service Plans where relevant. Monitoring of the Reading 
priorities will be via a Delivery Plan, overseen by a Safeguarding 
Development Group.  

 
 

6. ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 

6.1 There is no direct impact noted as a result of this report. 
 

 
7. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION 
 

7.1 A priority for the Board is to continue to strengthen communication and 
engagement across groups and communities of West Berkshire, and to 
ensure that plans and actions are informed by the experience of the widest 
range of local people. 

 
 
8. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

8.1 The Local Authority, as a public body, is under a legal duty to comply with the 
public sector equality duties set out in Section 149 of the Equality Act (2010). 
In order to comply with this duty, the Council must positively seek to prevent 
discrimination, and protect and promote the interests of vulnerable groups. 
There is currently no change in the service to the residents proposed, hence 
an Equality Impact Assessment will not be competed at this stage.  

Page 130



SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD (SAB) ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 UPDATE 
5 

 

 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1 The Safeguarding Adults Board has a duty under the Care Act 2014 to 
publish an Annual Report, detailing how effective its work has been. The 
attached reports reflect this legal duty in the form of the Berkshire West 
Safeguarding Annual Report 2021/22 incorporating the Reading Borough 
Council submission.  

 
10.  FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

10.1 The Care Act 2014 provides a power for members of the SAB to contribute 
towards the expenditure incurred for the purposes of its work.  The work 
undertaken by social care and health staff for delivering a safeguarding 
service is provided through their core responsibilities and incorporated into 
the day-to-day responsibilities of all staff. 

 
11.  BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

11.1 West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Partnership Boards Annual Report 
2021/2022 

 
11.2    Reading Borough Council  

           
 

Page 131

https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1650/west-of-berkshire-sab-annual-report-2021-2022-v10.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1650/west-of-berkshire-sab-annual-report-2021-2022-v10.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1650/west-of-berkshire-sab-annual-report-2021-2022-v10.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1645/appendix-f-reading-borough-council-safeguarding-annual-report-2021-22final.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1645/appendix-f-reading-borough-council-safeguarding-annual-report-2021-22final.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 
 

West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Partnership Board 

Annual Report 2021-22 

 

 

 

 

 

  

If you would like this document in a different format or require any of the 

appendices as a word document, contact Lynne.Mason@Reading.gov.uk  

 

Page 133

mailto:Lynne.Mason@Reading.gov.uk


 

2 
 

 

Message from the Independent Chair 

I am delighted to introduce this Annual Report for the West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board 2021/2022. 
This has been my first year as the Independent Chair of this Board and it has been a pleasure to see the 
dedication and commitment of staff from across a range of sectors including the formal, informal, and voluntary 
sector, all committed to providing the very best health and social care possible.  
 
This has not been an easy task; indeed, it has rather been a Herculean task. The impact of the Covid pandemic 
did not cease in 2021/ 2022. We saw a reduction in deaths and serious illness caused by the virus, but the legacy 
of the virus has left us with a health and social care sector stretched at times to the very limit (and occasionally 
beyond all normal limits). Staff have had to deal with high sickness rates and the emotional burden of caring for 
people through the pandemic, and this emotional and physical toll should not be underestimated. 
 
Given this background I am delighted to be able to report that the Board continued to function well during this 
time and this report demonstrates the commitment and work output of its members in their responsibilities to 
ensure that adults receive safe and appropriate health and social services in its area. The Board has 
undertaken several safeguarding reviews and published their various learning points to help improve future 
practice.  We have also held a strategy review day to help refine the priorities of the Board. One of our planned 
intentions is to review and pilot a rapid review process for safeguarding adult reviews. The aim here is to ensure 
that lessons learnt are reported in a timelier way, and in particular to prevent the process of a review dragging 
on for the relatives of a family member whose death is being reviewed. We hope to be able to report on the 
progress and implementation of this action next year. 
 
There are other developments that we are engaging with such as reviewing our communications strategy and 
our engagement with service users and their carers. I trust you will have confidence in the actions and workings 
of the Board within your community that we seek to serve. 
 
Finally, I would like to personally thank the Board staff and Board members, firstly for making me feel so 
welcome as your Chair, but more importantly for all your hard work and dedication in the area of Safeguarding 
Adults.  It is an area that is rapidly growing and developing in terms of scope and scale, and you continue to 
respond with energy, wisdom and tenacity. It is a privilege to work alongside such dedicated people in our 
commitment to prevent and protect adults at risk of abuse and neglect. 
Prof Keith Brown 
Independent Chair, West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board 

 

Concerned about an adult? 
If you are concerned about yourself or another adult who may be being abused or neglected, in an 
emergency call the Police on 999.  
 
If you think there has been a crime but it is not an emergency, call the Police on 101 or contact Adult 
Social Care in the area in which the person lives:  

• Reading - call 0118 9373747 or email at CSAAdvice.Signposting@reading.gov.uk or complete 
an online form 

• West Berkshire - call 01635 519056 or email safeguardingadults@westberks.gov.uk or complete an 

•  online form 

• Wokingham call 0118 974 6371 or email Adultsafeguardinghub@wokingham.gov.uk or complete an 
online form 

For help out of normal working hours contact the Emergency Duty Team on 01344 351 999or email 
edt@bracknell-forest.gov.uk      

For more information visit the SAB’s website:  http://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/  

  
Page 134

mailto:CSAAdvice.Signposting@reading.gov.uk
https://www.reading.gov.uk/adult-care/protecting-adults/report-abuse/
mailto:safeguardingadults@westberks.gov.uk
https://www.westberks.gov.uk/safeguardingconcern
mailto:Adultsafeguardinghub@wokingham.gov.uk
https://www.wokingham.gov.uk/care-and-support-for-adults/safety-and-abuse/report-suspected-adult-abuse/
mailto:edt@bracknell-forest.gov.uk
http://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/


 

3 
 

Introduction  

What is the Safeguarding Adults Board?  

The West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) covers the Local Authority areas of Reading, West 

Berkshire and Wokingham. The SAB is made up of local organisations which work together to protect 

adults with care and support needs at risk of abuse or neglect. Mandatory partners on the SAB are the 

Local Authorities, Berkshire West Clinical Commissioning Group 1 and Thames Valley Police. Other 

organisations are represented on the SAB such as health services, fire and rescue service, ambulance 

service, HealthWatch, probation and the voluntary sector. A full list of partners is given in Appendix A 

and the SAB structure in Appendix B. 

We work together to ensure there are systems in place to keep adults at risk in the West of Berkshire 

safe. We hold partner agencies to account to ensure they are safeguarding adults at risk and promoting 

their well-being. We work to ensure local organisations focus on outcomes, performance, learning and 

engagement. 

 

Who do we support? 

Under the Care Act, safeguarding duties apply to an adult who: 
• Is experiencing, or is at risk of, abuse or neglect; and  
• As a result of their care and support needs, is unable to protect themselves. 
 

Our vision  

Adult safeguarding means protecting people in our community so they can live in safety, free from 

abuse and neglect.  

Our vision in West Berkshire is that all agencies will work together to prevent and reduce the risk of 

harm to adults at risk of abuse or neglect, whilst supporting individuals to maintain control over their 

lives and make informed choices without coercion   

What is safeguarding adults? 

Safeguarding adults means protecting others in our community who at risk of harm and unable to protect 

themselves because they have care and support needs, regardless of whether or not they are receiving 

support for these needs. There are many different forms of abuse, including but not exclusively:  

• Disability hate crime,  

• Discriminatory, 

• Domestic,  

• Female genital mutilation (FGM),  

• Financial or material,  

• Forced marriage,  

• Hate crime,  

• Honour based violence,  

• Human trafficking,  

 
1 As of the 1st July 2022, BWCCG was legally dissolved and has been replaced by a new organisation: Buckinghamshire, 
Oxfordshire and Berkshire West Integrated Care Board (BOB ICB) 

Page 135

https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1641/appendix-a-board-member-organisations-v10.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1642/appendix-b-west-of-berkshire-sab-structure-chart-july-2022-v10.pdf


 

4 
 

• Mate crime,  

• Modern slavery,  

• Neglect and acts of omission, 

• Organisational, 

• Physical, 

• Psychological, 

• Restraint, 

• Self-neglect, 

• Sexual, 

• Sexual Exploitation, 

 

Changes to our membership 
In 2021-22 we saw some significant changes in our membership, we said thankyou and goodbye to 
Patricia Pease (MBE) who has represented the Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust so effectively for 
many years and we said thankyou and goodbye to Teresa Bell, who has been the SAB’s independent 
chair for five years and welcomed Professor Keith Brown who takes on the role of independent chair 
from April 2022. We also welcomed Jane Barnett who joined as our Business Support Officer. 
 
Message from Teresa Bell: “I want to thank the partnership for being such a great group of people to 

work with over the last 5 years.  I have learned and gained so much from working with you in this role 

and I believe that together we have achieved many good things in these most difficult times.  Thank you 

for your support, commitment, and tenacity in making this large partnership work.  I know that with 

Keith as your new Independent Chair, the Board will continue to progress well in its aims to achieve the 

best safeguarding outcomes for people in the West of Berkshire.” 

About our new Independent Chair  
Professor Keith Brown was the founding Director of the National Centre for Post Qualifying Social Work 

and Professional Practice, and he is an Emeritus Professor at Bournemouth University where the social 

work department was ranked number 1 in the UK in the 2020 Guardian League Table. He is the series 

editor for the Sage /Learning matters post qualifying social work series which has sales more than 

150,000 in the past 10 years.  

In 2005 Keith was awarded the Linda Ammon memorial prize sponsored by the Department for 

education and skills awarded to the individual making the greatest contribution to education and 

training in the UK. He was awarded a Chartered Trading Standard Institute [CTSI]’ Institutional Hero’ 

award in 2017 recognising the significance of his research into financial fraud and scams. He sits on the 

DHSC safeguarding advisory board, the joint DHSC and MOJ National Mental Capacity Leadership 

forum and the Home Office Joint Financial task force. 

He has also recently published an All Party Parliamentary Report looking at financial fraud within 

families and he continues to lead research into this area. 

Keith has written over 35 textbooks in the fields of social work and leadership and is particularly known 

for his contributions in the areas of Mental Capacity and Leadership. 

Page 136



 

5 
 

Since his retirement from a full time academic post, he has been the Independent Chair of the NHS 

Safeguarding Adults National Network, the Independent Chair of the Worcestershire Safeguarding 

Adults Board and the Chair of Love Southampton a body that represents 3 food banks and 4 debt 

advice centres in Southampton. 

His recent appointment as Independent Chair of the West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Board is 

something that he is passionate about. “It’s a simply wonderful opportunity to work with highly skilled 

professionals and community representatives in order to ensure that citizens in the West of Berkshire 

have every possible opportunity to live lives free from abuse and coercion.” 

Safeguarding Adults Policy and Procedures 

Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Policy and Procedures are used in the West of Berkshire and their 

purpose is to support staff to respond appropriately to all concerns of abuse or neglect they may 

encounter: https://www.berkshiresafeguardingadults.co.uk/  

  

Page 137

https://www.berkshiresafeguardingadults.co.uk/


 

6 
 

 

Number of safeguarding adult concerns 2021-22 

We have spent a lot of time considering safeguarding adult concern numbers over the year. 

 

The chart below demonstrates, in 2021-22 the total number of safeguarding concerns for individuals 
started in period - per 100,000 population, has increased by 36% in the West of Berkshire, when 
comparing with 2020-21. This increases further to 77% when compared with 2019-20 figures.  

 

It is important to note that this indicator will only count an individual once during the reporting period 
and therefore does not account for any multiple safeguarding concerns raised for individuals over the 
year, therefore the number of safeguarding concerns received is much higher than this outturn. 

 
 

A total of 6955 safeguarding concerns were logged by the local authorities in 2021-22, a 48% increase 

when compared with 2020-21 and a 122% increase when compared with 2019-20.  

Reading Borough Council and Wokingham Borough Council log all safeguarding concerns that are 

received as safeguarding concerns. In response to capacity issues, West Berkshire Council made the 

decision in this reporting year to make changes to the process of screening and recording safeguarding 

concerns raised by emergency service partners where the concern was clearly not related to a 

safeguarding matter. Those concerns were triaged in the normal way, but where they were clearly 

unrelated to any safeguarding matter they were not logged as a formal safeguarding concern reported 

under the statutory framework; the concerns, were forwarded to appropriate teams and services for 

action as a social welfare concern.  It is acknowledged that this change in process will skew comparisons 

to the 2020/21 data and increase the percentage rate of conversion for West Berkshire Council.   

 

 

6955 Concerns 
received in 2021-22 

 

 

Page 138



 

7 
 

The table below demonstrates the increase of safeguarding concerns, safeguarding enquiries and 

conversion rate between safeguarding concern and enquiry over the last three years by local authority. 

 

Whilst it is evident that there has been a significant increase in the number of safeguarding concerns 

raised that do not meet the criteria for a safeguarding enquiry it is important to note that the number of 

safeguarding enquiries across the partnership started in 2021-22 has increased by 21% when compared 

with 2020-21.  Whilst West Berkshire Council and Wokingham Borough Council saw an increase (44% 

and 28%) Reading Borough Council have seen a 16% decrease.   

 

 

 

 

The significant increase in out of scope safeguarding concerns has been identified as a risk on our Risk 
and Mitigation Log and there is an action on our Business Plan for 2022-23 to address this issue.  Local 
authorities report that they are overwhelmed with screening the safeguarding concerns which is causing 
delays in responding to actual safeguarding concerns.  

 

In December 2021 in response to the 21/22 Business Plan action: ’review safeguarding concern 

numbers with local authority comparator groups and report findings to SAB for consideration’ we 

considered a report looking at number of safeguarding concerns and the percentage that went onto 

enquiry over the last three years (18-19 ,19-20, 20-21), and compared outturns with the local 

authorities CIPFA2 nearest neighbour comparator groups. It was identified that whilst there has been 

an increase in the number of safeguarding concerns there has been a decline in the percentage of 

safeguarding concerns that resulted in a safeguarding enquiry. This suggests that the increase in 

safeguarding concerns seen is mainly attributed to the changes in recording practices in each local 

authority and an increase in out of scope referrals.  

 
2 Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

In 2021-22 24% concerns 
went onto an enquiry 

 

 

In 2021-22 there were a total of 1693 safeguarding enquiries started 
335 by Reading Borough Council  
704 by West Berkshire Council 

664 by Wokingham Borough Council 
 

 

 
 

Reading Borough Council started  
 

 

Page 139



 

8 
 

Data on safeguarding concerns is carefully considered by the performance and quality subgroup on a 

regular basis. 

Trends across the area in 2021/22 

• 56% of enquires were in relation to women, this is consistent with previous years. 
 

• 63% of enquiries relate to people over 65 years in age, this is consistent with 2020/21. 
 

• 84% of enquires were for individuals whose ethnicity is White, this is an increase from 2020/21 where 
it was 80%.  The ethnicity of the remaining 16% of individuals is as follows: Not Known 7%, Asian 3%, 
Black 2%, Mixed 2%.  

 

• In February 2022 the Performance and Quality Subgroup spent some focused time considering our 
ethnicity data. The subgroup was of the view that based on the demographics of the West of 
Berkshire the safeguarding concerns by ethnicity were within an acceptable range and will review 
this information on an annual basis.  

 

• As in previous years neglect and acts of omission was the most frequent abuse type, equating to 

33% of enquiries. This was followed by physical, psychological or emotional abuse and financial 

abuse. Domestic abuse, self-neglect and discriminatory abuse types have all seen a 20% increase 

when comparing with 2020/21. 

 

• For the majority of enquiries (40%), the individual primary support reason was physical support. 

This was following by no support reason (26%), there is no change from 2020/21. 

 

• 63% of enquiries completed were where the alleged abuse took place in the persons own home, 

this is a slight drop from 20/21 where it was at 69%. There has been a 77% increase in enquiries 

completed where the location of abuse was in hospital, equating to a total of 94 enquiries.  Care 

Homes also saw and increase of 36%, equating to a total of 403, in 20/21 this had dropped due to 

the restrictions set in care homes during the pandemic. 

  

Page 140

https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1360/performance-and-quality-tor-august-2018-v10.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1360/performance-and-quality-tor-august-2018-v10.pdf


 

9 
 

Risks and Mitigations 

Challenges or areas of risk that have arisen during the year are recorded on our risk register, along with 
actions to mitigate the risks.  These are some of the potential risks that we have addressed:  
 

Risk Consequence/Impact Mitigation 

The SAB does not know how 
individuals experience the 
safeguarding adults process. 
Adults with care and support 
needs and their carers have no 
involvement or engagement with 
the SAB.  

Safeguarding adults procedures 
and practices are not informed by 
people’s experiences.   
 
Lack of community understanding 
to inform the work of the SAB. 

Voluntary Care and Healthwatch 
Subgroup, is in place where 
service user experience is 
considered in detail. 

People who raise safeguarding 
concerns do not receive feedback  

Impaired partnership working. KPI in place to monitor 
percentage of referrers that 
receive feedback.  
 
Reading Borough Council are 
currently unable to supply this 
information. Assurance provided 
to the Performance and Quality 
Subgroup that plans are in place 
to address this. 

There is inconsistent use of 
advocacy services to support 
adults through their safeguarding 
experience.  

The voice of the service user is 
not heard. 
 
Service user’s wishes and holistic 
wellbeing are not understood or 
prioritised 

Advocacy performance is 
monitored on SAB dashboard. 
 
Advocacy services are members 
of the SAB. 

Responsibilities under the Mental 
Capacity Act (MCA) 2005 are not 
fully understood or applied in 
practice as a safeguard for people 
who may lack capacity. 

Significant harm to adults as risk. Safeguarding Adult Reviews 
(SARs) and intelligence continue 
to evidence that the workforces 
responsibilities under the MCA is 
not fully understood. 
 
MCA continues to be embedded 
within SAB learning material. 

There are capacity issues within 
the supervisory bodies to obtain 
timely DoLS3 assessments and 
provide appropriate 
authorisation.  

Risks that vulnerable people do 
not have the opportunity to live 
within the least restrictive regime 
possible for their condition. 

Data is reported on SAB 
Dashboard. 
 
Performance around DoLs 
escalated to SAB in December 21. 
West Berkshire and Reading 
Borough Council confirmed 
backlog that will continue for 
some time due to capacity of 
DoLS assessors. 
  

 
3 Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 

Page 141

https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1446/vcs-and-healthwatch-tor-v10.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1446/vcs-and-healthwatch-tor-v10.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1360/performance-and-quality-tor-august-2018-v10.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1360/performance-and-quality-tor-august-2018-v10.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/deprivation-of-liberty-safeguards-forms-and-guidance


 

10 
 

Risk Consequence/Impact Mitigation 

Governance arrangements to 
support people who have Mental 
Health issues are not fully 
understood 

Significant harm to adults as risk. Governance report presented to 
SAB on a six monthly basis to 
offer assurance on the 
governance arrangements. 

Safeguarding People at risk of 
multiple exclusion, due to not 
meet safeguarding or care 
management pathways. 

This is not a new issue but has 
been exacerbated as a result of 
the pandemic, as people have 
been brought to the attention of 
services that wouldn’t have 
previously been before. 

Launched Supporting Individuals 

to Manage Risk and Multi-Agency 

Risk Management Framework 

(MARM).  

In July 2020. Research paper 

presented to the SAB on the 

effectiveness of the MARM  

Task and Finish Group set up to 

review and relaunch the MARM, 

due to be completed in 22/23. 

 
Lack of access to closed 
environments during the 
pandemic.  

The SAB are not assured that 
individuals within closed 
environments are safeguarded 
due to restrictions of the 
pandemic. 

Assurance sought during the 
pandemic via assurance questions 
and priority on organisational 
safeguarding has been agreed. 

Increase of inappropriate 
safeguarding concerns.  

Capacity in the local authority 
safeguarding teams will be 
impacted on capacity will be 
limited to address appropriate 
safeguarding concerns. 

Discussed in detail at SAB 
meetings, action set in 2022/23 
SAB Business Plan. 

The increase on carers stress 
because of the pandemic. 

Increased risks to carers and the 
individuals they are care for. 

A paper was discussed at SAB 
where members were required to 
consider and implement 
appropriate changes within their 
organisations. 
 
Promoted the ADASS Advice note 
'Carers and Safeguarding Adults' 
briefing.  

Staff wellbeing as a result of the 
pandemic 

Reduction in staff being able to 
identify and respond to 
safeguarding concerns. 

Partners approaches to staff 
wellbeing during the pandemic 
was referred to in SAB assurance 
questions. 

 

 

 

 

Page 142

https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/practitioners/supporting-individuals-to-manage-risk-and-multi-agency-framework-marm/
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/practitioners/supporting-individuals-to-manage-risk-and-multi-agency-framework-marm/
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/practitioners/supporting-individuals-to-manage-risk-and-multi-agency-framework-marm/
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/practitioners/supporting-individuals-to-manage-risk-and-multi-agency-framework-marm/
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1644/appendix-e-sab-business-plan-22-23-v10.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1644/appendix-e-sab-business-plan-22-23-v10.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/parliament/briefings-and-responses/carers-and-safeguarding-briefing-people-who-work-carers


 

11 
 

Risk Consequence/Impact Mitigation 

The impact the pandemic has had 
on domestic abuse 

People are more at risk of 
domestic abuse because of the 
measures put in place as a result 
of the pandemic, the partnership 
will need to consider how its 
approach will need to be 
adapted. 

Safeguarding figures suggested 
that there had not been a 
significant increase in Domestic 
Abuse during the pandemic. 
However, the partnership 
continues to promote Domestic 
Abuse and ways in which to 
identify and support. 

The SAB is not complying with its 
Quality Assurance Framework. 

That the SAB do not have 
assurance in regard to the quality 
of safeguarding in its area. 

In 2021/22 the SAB priorities 
focused on key learning topics 
from SARs and the quality 
assurance around those topics. 
 
In the 2022/23 Business Plan an 
action has been set for the 
performance and quality 
subgroup to review and relaunch 
the SAB Quality Assurance 
Framework. 

 

  

Page 143

https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1644/appendix-e-sab-business-plan-22-23-v10.pdf


 

12 
 

Achievements through working together  

Our priorities for 21/22 and outcomes to those priorities were: 

Priority 1: To consider SAB learning in regard to self-neglect; to understand what more we need to do 

to ensure that our ways of working with people who are self-neglecting are consistent and effective in 

mitigating and preventing risks.  

• A self- neglect appreciative inquiry was completed, and the findings report presented to the SAB. 

• Training offers from the partnership on self-neglect was researched and findings report presented 

to the SAB. 

• Key Performance Indicators on self-neglect were created and added to the SAB performance 

dashboard. 

• Agreed the need for guidance on self-neglect for the voluntary sector was required. 

• Research paper presented to the SAB on the effectiveness of the partnerships Supporting 

Individuals to Manage Risk and Multi-Agency Risk Management Framework (MARM). Task and 

Finish Group set up to review and relaunch the MARM, due to be completed in 22/23. 

Priority 2: To consider SAB learning in regard to pressure care management and understand what the 
partnership needs to do to ensure that our way of working with people at risk of pressure sores is 
consistently of best practice standard.  

• A presentation on a positive outcome on working with a complex case involving pressure care 
management, was delivered to the SAB. This is in the process of being turned into a video and 
practice learning note for the SAB website so the learning can be shared further. 

• Key Performance Indicators on pressure care management were considered by the performance 

and quality subgroup, where it was determined that it would not be possible to collect meaningful 

data on pressure care management as it is not identified as a type of abuse and could cross over 

several abuse types.  

• Work on a report focusing on how partners raise awareness in regard to pressure care began and 

was completed and presented to the SAB in June 2022. 

• Identified that the issues the partnership are facing in regard to pressure care fall within the SABs 

self-neglect priority and its learning around professionals’ approach to the MCA. 

• A full review of the Pressure Ulcer Safeguarding Pathway was completed and relaunched. 

• Agreed that the SAB should support national pressure awareness campaigns. 

Priority 3: To consider SAB learning in regard to organisational safeguarding and identify what the 
partnership need to do to transform our way of working with provider agencies to promote and ensure 
good quality, safe and consistent standards of care.  

• As the SAB Business Plan was designed as a 3 year business plan from 21-24, no progress was made 
on priority 3, the priority has been reworked for the business plan for 22/23. 
 

Priority 4:  The SAB will continue to carry out the following business as usual tasks in order to comply 
with its statutory obligations.  

• A SAB briefing was published on a 3-monthly basis, copies of the briefings can be found here. 

• A review of the SAB Dashboard was completed and continues to be considered in detail by the 

Performance and Quality Subgroup and presented to the SAB on a quarterly basis. 

Page 144

https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/practitioners/supporting-individuals-to-manage-risk-and-multi-agency-framework-marm/
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/practitioners/supporting-individuals-to-manage-risk-and-multi-agency-framework-marm/
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/board-members/board-meetings/
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1360/performance-and-quality-tor-august-2018-v10.pdf


 

13 
 

• Safeguarding concern numbers were reviewed with Local Authority comparator groups and the 

findings were presented to the SAB for consideration. 

• Annual report for 20/21 was published. 

• Followed the SAR process as per statutory requirements including publication of practice notes and 

development and management of SAR Action Plans. 

• Delivered bitesize learning sessions on SARs published by the SAB. 

• Continued to develop the SAB website. 

• Created and published a safeguarding escalation plan for the partnership. 

• Maintained Pan Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Policies and Procedures and hosted the meetings for 

21/22. 

• Ensured that the SAB costs remained within budget. 

More information on how we have delivered these priorities can be found in the following:   

• Additional achievements by partner agencies are presented in Appendix C. 

• The completed Business Plan 2021-22 is provided in Appendix D.  

Further information on the achievements of partners is presented in the annual reports by partner 

agencies in Appendix F at the end of this report.  

  

Page 145

https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.sabberkshirewest.co.uk%2Fmedia%2F1561%2Fwest-of-berkshire-sab-annual-report-2020-2021-v12.docx&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/practitioners/safeguarding-adults-reviews/
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1532/resolving-professional-disagreements-in-cases-that-meet-the-statutory-criteria-for-safeguarding-adults-v10.pdf
https://www.berkshiresafeguardingadults.co.uk/
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1649/appendix-c-achievements-by-partner-agencies-2021-22-v10.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1643/appendix-d-sab-business-plan-21-22-v30.pdf


 

14 
 

Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) 

The SAB has a legal duty to carry out a SAR when there is reasonable cause for concern about how 
agencies worked together to safeguard an adult who has died, and abuse or neglect is suspected to be a 
factor in their death; or when an adult has not died but suffered serious abuse or neglect. The aim is for 
all agencies to learn lessons about the way they safeguard adults at risk and prevent such tragedies 
happening in the future. The SAB has a SAR Panel that oversees this work. 
 
During the reporting year, the SAR Panel have worked on six SARs of which all were endorsed by the SAB 

and four were published alongside a practice learning note.  Practice learning notes are two-page 

documents that summarises the case, the learning and summarises best practice in key learning areas. 

The practice learning notes have been well received across the partnership and are used to highlight SAR 

learning in team meeting and training sessions.  It is now standard practice to hold virtual bitesize 

learning events to promote the learning from SARs, in this year 2 sessions have been held with 231 

delegates. The feedback from these sessions was extremely positive.  

The SAB plans to publish the other two SARs 2022/23. Valuable learning has emerged from all SARs and 

has fed into the SABs priorities and Business Plan for 2022/23. The SAB continues to recognise the large 

workload for the SAR Panel and meetings continue to be held monthly.   

The SAB continues to adapt its approach to SARs and a priority has been set for the SAB for 2022/23 to 

review its SAR process, in order to ensure that it is timely and good value for money. 

The SAR Panel continually seek feedback its processes and offer opportunities for the workforce to 

observe SAR Panels to support their understanding of the process, feedback from observers has been 

positive.  

SAR Process Feedback received: “I must admit I have been worrying about this as I have never been 

involved in one before but you have a really calming way and made it easier for me so thank you” this 

quote was used on a practice learning note to support professionals who may be involved in a SAR in the 

future. 

The case summaries and the learning from the four SARs that have been published are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 146

https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/practitioners/safeguarding-adults-reviews/
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1476/sar-panel-tor-september-2020-v10.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1644/appendix-e-sab-business-plan-22-23-v10.pdf


 

15 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Margaret  
Published April 2021 

Practice learning note 
Margaret a lady in her nineties, lives alone in sheltered accommodation which she moved into after a serious fall. 
There has been a steady decline in Margaret's physical and cognitive abilities over the last few years. Margaret 
has two sons who visit around twice a week and support with her shopping. Prior to the incident described in this 
learning summary, Margaret was in receipt of three calls a day from a care agency and visited a day centre once 
week. This was commissioned by the Local Authority.  
 
Margaret's first language is not English but she can speak it fluently. Over time communication started to become 
increasingly difficult between Margaret and professionals, as Margaret will often revert back to speaking her first 
language. In accordance with her wishes Margaret has no formal diagnosis to her cognitive impairment. Prior to 
the incident Margaret was known to all services as being a heavy smoker.  
 
Health and Social Care professionals were aware that Margaret was a heavy smoker, and of her physical and 
cognitive decline, but missed opportunities to identify and respond to the risks that this posed to Margaret and 
others living in the accommodation block.  
 
A carer visiting Margaret on a morning call reported to their office that Margaret had sustained burns to her 
arms, chest, hand and face and there was evidence of a fire in the property. Learning has been identified in regard 
to the professional response to Margaret's injuries, which contributed to there being delays in Margaret getting 
the medical attention that she required. 
Lessons  
It is not clear how or when Margaret received her injuries, as Margaret has been unable to communicate this. It is 
thought that these burns were due to smoking. This SAR concluded that the key learning for the partnership is 
around identifying and responding to fire risks.  

• Agencies held information in relation to Margaret’s smoking. There is a need to ensure that all agencies 
are aware of the requirement to identify, and respond to potential fire risks, for individuals, and members 
of the public, and to escalate when appropriate.  

• Improve working relationships between Housing Associations and Health and Social Care, in order to 
ensure that risks are identified and addressed appropriately.  

• When multiple agencies are involved in supporting an adult at risk there should be a joined up and robust 
risk assessment to deliver a coherent multi-agency response.  

• For all Health and Social Care agencies to access the training offered via the Royal Berkshire Fire and 
Rescue Service through its Adults at Risk Programme.  

• An interpreter could have been considered to support Margaret with her communication difficulties. 
 
 
 

Page 147

https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1515/margaret-practice-note-v10.pdf


 

16 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ken 
Published July 2021 

Full report 
Practice learning note 
 
Ken was a white British man in his late 70’s, who lived with his wife Ava and they had two adult daughters. Ken had 
complex health needs and was terminally ill. Ken’s wishes were to die at home or if this was not possible he asked 
to go to a hospice.  
 
The majority of the last six months of Ken’s life were spent in hospital, Ken sustained pressure damage, 
exacerbated by his refusal of appropriate equipment and care. Ken passed away in hospital.  
 
A number of professionals across the partnership worked with Ken, however this work was conducted in a 
compartmentalised way. A multi-agency approach may have better supported Ken and his family in their decision 
making during this difficult time.  
 
In response to Ken’s death, the West of Berkshire Safeguarding Adults Partnership Board commissioned a thematic 
Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR) comparing and contrasting findings and recommendations with five other SARs 
published by the SAB, which also included learning around pressure care management. 
 
Findings 

• Clear accountability and coordination Support of people with complex needs requires care management that 
demonstrates clear professional accountability and active coordination. Ken and his family would have 
benefited significantly from the appointment of a named professional to coordinate all input and proactively 
review their care arrangements. Perhaps most importantly the person might have built a relationship with 
them to understand why Ken was increasingly making what were deemed unwise decisions detrimental to his 
health. The appropriate professional could have been a social worker but other key professionals could have 
performed this role. 

• Risk assessment and management A comprehensive risk assessment should have been undertaken that took 
full account of Ken’s home situation, state of mind, prognosis and physical condition. Although there appears 
to have been no formal diagnosis, Ken’s daughter described her father as “depressed”, which would be 
understandable in his circumstances. An indication of this was his change from a very well-presented man who 
was house proud, to someone who cared little about his personal appearance. This warranted further 
investigation, particularly as it potentially contributed to his refusal of services and was therefore a factor in his 
physical decline. 

• Effective multi-disciplinary / agency teamwork A recurrent theme in all cases was the lack of coordination and 
timely communication between different professionals. Multi-disciplinary /agency meetings were the 
exception rather than the rule. The experience of Ken was not unusual in comparison with the other five SARs. 
Where MDT meetings did occur, those attending did not have all the relevant information necessary to 
underpin safe decision-making. 

• Pressure ulcer prevention and care All individuals developed pressure ulcers whilst receiving health and / or 
social care services. The prevention and treatment of pressure ulcers continues to challenge agencies across 
the partnership. Timely reporting and intervention are essential but, sadly, often lacking in the SARS reviewed. 

• Consistent application of the MCA Ken was assessed to have capacity to make decisions regarding his care, 
however recording on information supplied to Ken in order to make decisions regarding his care was lacking. 
Therefore, it could not be evidenced whether or not Ken was making informed decisions. 

• Appropriate involvement of family members Ken’s views and choices determined the care that he received in 
the period under review. However, there were opportunities to consider his wife’s needs and views that were 
missed. Closer attention to her perspective potentially would have helped her in the role of Ken’s carer but also 
perhaps shed some light on the risky decisions that he was making. These would have benefitted from further 
exploration. 

• Quality Assurance In Ken’s case the delivery of home care did not match the expectations of his care plan, 
there needed to be more scrutiny of its delivery and effectiveness. Page 148

https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1536/ken-v10.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1534/ken-practice-note-v10.pdf


 

17 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

John 
Published November 2021 

Practice learning note 
John had a formal diagnosis of dementia. He used to live with his wife before his condition deteriorated and his needs could 
no longer be met in the home environment. John had a son and a daughter Rose. Rose was John’s Lasting Power of Attorney 
(LPA) for health & welfare. John was not estranged from his wife and son. 
 
John was placed into residential care by the Local Authority (LA) in spring 2017. John did not have the capacity to make this 
decision. Rose was not in agreement with his placement and a court application was filed by the LA, in early 2018, for a 
decision to be made in John’s best interests, as to where he should live. In late 2018, a best interest’s decision was reached 
by the Court.  
 
The outcome was that John moved into a LA bungalow with Rose as his main carer with a condition for the court order to be 
reviewed within 1 year. John received 2 care calls a day, funded via direct payments (DP). This was until the provider 
withdrew as they could not meet John’s needs and because there was a breakdown in the relationship between the care 
agency and Rose. There were concerns raised by the care agency regarding Rose and John’s son-in-law’s use of restraint, 
which the LA did not respond to appropriately.  
 
In summer 2019, after a fall at home, John was admitted to hospital. When John was fit for discharge the hospital and Rose 
did not agree on the discharge plan. It was recommended by professionals that John move into a nursing home, but Rose 
disagreed and believed that John could come home with a package of care. An application for NHS Continuing Healthcare 
funding was made. Attempts were made to complete the application but due to John’s change in medical condition this 
could not be completed.  
 
During this period of disagreement, John became unfit for discharge and Rose made attempts to discharge John, against 
medical advice. John passed away in hospital. 
 
Findings from the SAR  

• John’s voice was not heard in care and support planning. By treating Rose as his representative in the care and support 
process and relying on her for assurance about the success of the care plan, a potential conflict of interest was 
introduced.  

• Agencies, apart from when John was in hospital, dealt exclusively with Rose who was his LPA and main carer. An  

• Across the health and social care system there is a strong emphasis on working closely with families, respecting 
autonomy, and self-determination, and minimising the interference and footprint of the state in a person’s private and 
family life. This emphasis on family involvement, representation and advocacy should not be achieved at the expense of 
professional curiosity.  

• That there was a lack of understanding/confidence of professionals understanding of the legal rights of an LPA and the 
routes to challenge the LPA’s actions and decision making if there were concerns about them acting in John’s best 
interest.  

• John’s support plan did not contain adequate detail on how the allocated personal budget (PB) would be used to meet 
John’s needs.  

• The LA failed to set up John’s DP correctly and therefore funds were not paid in advance of care being delivered. This led 
to Rose thinking she was not able to commission care on John’s behalf due to lack of funds.  

• The lack of expenditure of John’s PB was not identified by the LA as an indicator that John may not be getting the 
support required to manage his complex needs.  

• The underlying reasons for the withdrawal of care from the care agency were not explored, which may have identified 
that the current support plan was not meeting John’s needs and therefore there was a requirement to go back to the 
Court of Protection (CoP).  

• There are gaps in the understanding of accountability for recognising and responding to unmet need when a DP is in 
place.  

• Organisations involved in CoP hearings should ensure that formal mechanisms are in place to review the effectiveness of 
interventions for which they are responsible.  

• Allegations around unlawful restraint were not adequately responded to.  

• Lack of consideration for ‘was not brought’.  

• There was a delay in making a DoLS application. 

• Communication by professionals with Rose, in regard to John’s Health and Social Care Needs was not always clear. 

Page 149

https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1546/john-sar-learning-summary-v10.pdf


 

18 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

  

Steven 
Published March 2022 

 
Practice learning note 
 
Steven was a 78-year-old male living with dementia. Steven resided in the community with his partner who 
was his main carer. Steven had a package of care consisting of two calls daily from spring 2017 until it was 
cancelled in March 2020 by Steven’s partner due to the Covid-19 pandemic.  
 
Steven was found passed away in a public area in early 2021, after being identified by his partner as missing in 
the early hours of the morning; the evening before his death, Steven left home in a confused state and was not 
dressed appropriately for the cold weather.  
 
It appears that there was a known risk of Steven leaving the house in a confused and disorientated manner 
from 2017, but it is unclear whether this (and other) information was used across the system to enable 
effective risk management. 
 
Learning 

• Risk Assessment, Risk Management and Information Sharing  
Professionals should be trained in risk management and there should be an appropriate risk assessment 
framework to include risk management. This includes seeking historical information from involved parties and 
being professionally curious. Information sharing between agencies regarding risk requires improvement to 
ensure that the right information is shared at the right time. 
 

• Reviews 
Annual reviews need to be dynamic and offer flexibility. If it is identified that a reassessment is needed, this 
should be completed dynamically and without further delay, regardless of the organisational structure, to 
ensure that a customer is not left with an unmet need. 
 

• Carers  
Carers need to be identified and offered a carers assessment in a timely manner to address any concerns, and 
also be offered regular reviews. 
 

• Technology Enabled Care / Assistive Technology  
Professionals would benefit from having an awareness of Technology Enabled Care (TEC), how it can support 
people like Steven and how to access it. 
 

• Mental Capacity  
Professionals would benefit from being alert to indicators that a mental capacity assessment may be required 
in relation to day-to-day decision making, including but not limited to: personal care, nutritional intake, 
medication, leaving home and undertake such assessments and best interests decisions if required. A specific 
example would be to consider Steven’s capacity to consent to use a GPS tracker to reduce the possible risk if 
Steven were to leave his home in a confused and disorientated manner. 

Page 150

https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1595/steven-7-minute-learning-v10.pdf


 

19 
 

How is learning from SARS embedded within in practice? 
The SAB captures all recommendations from SARs on a Learning from SARS/Audit Implementation Plan 
where all recommendations from SARs and other SAB learning is added and tracked.   
 
Each partner agency involved in the SAR is required to submit a Learning from SAR Quality Check to the 
Business Manager within of 3 months of the SAR endorsement to demonstrate how learning from the 
SAR has been embedded within their organisations.  
 
The Learning and Development Subgroup are required to hold a bitesize learning event for all SARs 
endorsed by the SAB. 
 
From the six SARs endorsed and previously endorsed SARs the SAB has agreed that its approach will be 
to focus at any one time on three key themes that have been identified from learning from Safeguarding 
Adult Reviews (SARs).   The key themes from 2022 onwards have been agreed as: 

• Self-Neglect 

• Organisational Safeguarding 

• Review of SAR process 
 
The SAB are committed to ensuring that our priorities are current and have and will change priorities in 
order to support learning from its SARs. 
 

There is a dedicated page on the SAB’s website for case reviews: 

http://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/board-members/safeguarding-adults-reviews/ 

  

Page 151

https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1545/ld-subgroup-terms-of-reference-september-2021-v10.pdf
http://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/board-members/safeguarding-adults-reviews/


 

20 
 

Key priorities for 2022/2022 

The SAB acknowledges that there are reoccurring themes from local and national learning from SARs 

that must be addressed. As in 2021/22 we will continue to consider what the obstacles are in 

implementing recommendations and sustaining improvement and there will be a focus on good 

practice to promote learning, alongside an emphasis on good quality care principles and the role of 

effective support and supervision of the workforce to embed learning and inform future practice. 

It is possible that changes to priorities will be made throughout the duration of this year in light of 

national and local learning in order to ensure that there is capacity within the partnership to deliver on 

the most pressing priorities for the West of Berkshire.  Any change in priorities will be approved by the 

SAB.  

Through its reflective learning practice, the SAB have identified the following priorities: 

• Priority 1: To expand on learning in regard to self-neglect; to offer the partnership with resources to 
support them to achieve effective outcomes for individuals that self-neglect.  

• Priority 2: To seek assurance that quality of health and social care services delivered in the West of 
Berkshire or those commissioned out of area for West of Berkshire residents is monitored effectively 
and there is a proportionate response to concerns.  

• Priority 3: The SAB to review its Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR) process, in order to ensure that it 
is timely and good value for money. 

• Priority 4: The SAB will continue to carry out the following business as usual tasks in order to comply 
with its statutory obligations.  
 

The Business Plan for 2022-23 is attached as Appendix E. 

  

Appendices 

Appendix A -   SAB Member Organisations  

Appendix B -   SAB Structure  

Appendix C - Achievements by partner agencies 

Appendix D - Completed 2021-22 Business Plan  

Appendix E – 2022- 23 Business Plan  

Appendix F - Partners’ Safeguarding Performance Annual Reports:  

• West Berkshire Council 

• Wokingham Borough Council 

• Royal Berkshire Foundation Trust  

• Reading Borough Council 

Page 152

https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1644/appendix-e-sab-business-plan-22-23-v10.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1641/appendix-a-board-member-organisations-v10.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1642/appendix-b-west-of-berkshire-sab-structure-chart-july-2022-v10.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1649/appendix-c-achievements-by-partner-agencies-2021-22-v10.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1643/appendix-d-sab-business-plan-21-22-v30.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1644/appendix-e-sab-business-plan-22-23-v10.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1648/appendix-f-west-berkshire-council-safeguarding-adults-annual-report-202122.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1646/appendix-f-wokingham-borough-council-2021-22-safeguarding-adults-annual-report.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1647/appendix-f-final-rbft-safeguarding-mental-health-ld-annual-report-2021-2022.pdf
https://www.sabberkshirewest.co.uk/media/1645/appendix-f-reading-borough-council-safeguarding-annual-report-2021-22final.pdf

	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	1.	Minutes
	3.	Questions
	4.	urgent care centre in reading
	5.	READING COMMUNITY VACCINE CHAMPIONS PROGRAMME 2022/23 - UPDATE
	6.	 READING SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD (SAB) ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22
	7.	ADULT SOCIAL CARE COMPLAINTS REPORT
	8.	CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE COMPLAINTS REPORT

	3 Minutes of Other Bodies
	18.	MINUTES
	19.	COVID-19 AND INFLUENZA - UPDATES
	20.	READING COMMUNITY VACCINE CHAMPIONS PROGRAMME - UPDATE
	21.	READING AREA SEND STRATEGY 2022-27 – UPDATE ON PROGRESS
	22.	FIRE SERVICE WINTER PLANNING FOR VULNERABLE RESIDENTS
	23.	UPDATE ON ACCESS TO GP SERVICES IN READING
	24.	ICB AND ICP UPDATE
	25.	BERKSHIRE WEST UNIFIED EXECUTIVE UPDATE
	26.	BETTER CARE FUND PLAN 2022/23 PLAN AND NARRATIVE
	27.	INTEGRATION PROGRAMME UPDATE
	28.	HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY QUARTERLY IMPLEMENTATION PLAN NARRATIVE UPDATE REPORT
	29.	LOST FOR WORDS – HEALTHWATCH EVIDENCE ON HOW LANGUAGE BARRIERS CONTRIBUTE TO HEALTH INEQUALITIES
	30.	HEALTHWATCH Reading ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 – CHAMPIONING WHAT MATTERS TO YOU
	31. 	DATE OF NEXT MEETING

	8 School Admissions Policy
	1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY OF REPORT
	2. RECOMMENDED ACTION
	3. POLICY CONTEXT
	4.   THE PROPOSAL
	4.1 Primary and Secondary School Co-ordinated schemes 2024-25
	4.2 Admission Policy for Community Primary, Infant and Junior Schools 2024-2025
	4.3 Relevant Area

	5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS
	6 ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS
	7. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION
	8. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT
	9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	11. HR IMPLICATIONS
	12. COMMUNICATION IMPLICATIONS
	13. BACKGROUND PAPERS
	INFO-SchoolAdmissionsArrangements-AppxA.pdf
	Introduction
	Applications
	Late Applications
	Changes of preference
	Change of Address
	Processing Applications
	Exchange of information
	Resolving multiple offers
	Informing schools
	Informing Parents

	Waiting Lists
	Withdrawing a place
	Requests for admission outside the normal age group
	Disputes between Parents
	In-Year Admissions
	Timetable for the Primary & Junior School Admissions Round 2024-25

	INFO-SchoolAdmissionsArrangements-AppxB.pdf
	Introduction
	Other admitting authorities within Reading Borough Council
	Cohort
	Admission of children outside the normal age to Reading Borough Council Community Primary Schools
	Oversubscription Criteria for Community Primary and Infant Schools
	Priority within the Oversubscription Criteria

	Oversubscription Criteria for Community Junior Schools – Geoffrey Field Junior School
	Priority within the oversubscription criteria

	Notes relating to the above oversubscription criteria.
	Note 1 – Category 1 – Looked After Children and Previously Looked After Children
	Children who were previously in state care outside England
	Note 2 – Category 2 Medical/Social Reasons
	Note 3 – Category 3 – Siblings
	Note 4 – Category 3 – Siblings

	Catchment area
	Tiebreaker
	Multiple births (twins, triplets etc.)
	Parent/Carers
	Home address
	Split living arrangements
	Siblings
	Deferring a Place
	Part Time Admissions
	Waiting Lists
	Returning Crown Servants and Armed Forces Personnel
	Appeals
	Admissions Numbers – Reading Community Infant, Junior and Primary Schools.

	INFO-SchoolAdmissionArrangements-AppxC.pdf
	Central_and_East_primary_Designations
	North_Reading_Primary_Designations
	South_Reading_Primary_Designations
	West_Reading_Primary_Designations

	INFO-SchoolAdmissionsArrangements-AppxD.pdf
	Introduction
	Applications
	Late Applications
	Changes of preference
	Change of Address
	Processing Applications
	Exchange of information
	Resolving multiple offers
	Informing schools
	Informing Parents

	Waiting Lists
	Withdrawing a place
	Requests for admission outside the normal age group
	Disputes between Parents
	In-Year Admissions
	Timetable for the Secondary School Admissions Round 2023-24


	9 Autism Strategy and Action Plan
	Overview and Methodology
	Appendix 1 - All Age Autism Strategy 2022-25 Final
	OUR VISION
	Introduction
	What is Autism?
	Co-occurring conditions

	Priorities
	Delivering our future priorities

	Appendix 2 - Autism Strategy Action Plan Y1
	Appendix 3 - Autism Strategy - EIA Final 021222

	11 Berks West SAB (Safeguarding Adults Board) Annual Report 2021/22
	West of Berkshire SAB Annual Report 2021-2022 V.1.0


